

Ph.D. DEGREE IN Molecular and Translational Medicine

Cycle XXXV

TITLE OF THE Ph.D. THESIS

Proteinaceous inhibitors of α -amylase and α -glucosidase from

common bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.): biochemical characteriza-

tion and phylogenetic analysis of Sardinian cultivars

Scientific Disciplinary Sector

BIO/10

Ph.D. Student:

Stefania Peddio

Supervisor

Prof. Paolo Zucca

Final exam. Academic Year 2021/2022 Thesis defense: April 2023 Session Stefania Peddio gratefully acknowledges the Sardinian Regional Government for the financial support of her PhD scholarship (P.O.R. Sardegna F.S.E. - Operational Programme of the Autonomous Region of Sardinia, European Social Fund 2014-2020 -Axis III Education and training, Thematic goal 10, Investment Priority 10ii), Specific goal 10.5.











Author's e-mail:

s.peddio@unica.it

repeddi@hotmail.it

Author's address:

Dipartimento di Biomediche

Università di Cagliari

SP Monserrato-Sestu Km 0.900

09042 Monserrato (CA)

Italy

Tel +39 (0)706754514

Supervisor:

Prof. Paolo Zucca

Dipartimento di Biomediche

Università degli Studi di Cagliari

Italy

paolo.zucca@unica.it

Table of contents

Abstract 9
Sommario 11
1. State of the art 13
1.1 Introduction
1.2 Amylase inhibitors found in P. vulgaris
1.2.1 Amylase inhibitors genes 20
1.2.2 Structural properties28
1.2.3 Operational stability30
1.3 Clinical trials
1.3.1 <i>In vivo</i> studies on animal models 32
1.3.2 Early studies on humans 36
1.3.3 PHASE2 [®] : commercial products 38
1.3.4 Meta-analysis on clinical trials38
1.3.5 Studies on weight loss in humans39
1.3.6 Effect of α-AI1 on hyperglycemia and hyperinsulinemia in humans 42
1.4 Safety
1.5 The modulation of gut microbiota
1.6 Taxonomy and phylogenetic classification of Phaseolus vulgaris 52
1.7 Aims of the work

2. Biochemical and phylogenetic analysis of Italian Phaseolus vulgaris cultivars as sources of α -amylase and α-glucosidase inhibitors 59

2.1 Materials and methods		60
2.1.1 Chemicals 60		
2.1.2 Plant materials 61		
2.1.3 Protein extraction 61		
2.1.4 α-Amylase inhibition assays 62		
2.1.5 α-Glucosidase inhibition assays	63	
2.1.6 Hemagglutination assay 63		
2.1.7 Statistical analysis 64		
2.1.8 Biomolecular Assay: plant materials	65	
2.1.9 RNA extraction and reverse transcription	65	
2.1.10 PCR- CODEHOP Strategy 66		
2.1.11 cDNA Sequencing and Analysis.	68	
2.1.12 Amino Acid Pattern and Profile Search	69	
2.1.13 GenBank Accession Numbers	69	

3.3 Conclusions 4. Final considerations 130	
3.3 Conclusions	
3.2.7 Kinetic analysis 126	
3.2.6 Effect of pH 125	
3.2.5 Time and temperature effects on α-AI 120	
3.2.3 α-AI characterization115	
3.2.2 High resolution techniques: purification of α -AI 112	
3.2.1 Low resolution techniques for α -AI extraction. 108	
3.2 Results and discussion	
3.1.9 Statistical analysis 106	
3.1.8 LC-MS 106	
3.1.7 Inhibitor characterization 106	
3.1.6 α-Amylase from <i>Tenebrio molitor</i> 106	
3.1.5 Hemagglutination assay 105	
3.1.4 α -Amylase and α -glucosidase inhibition assays 105	
3.1.3 Purification of amylase inhibitor 103	
3.1.2 Plant materials 103	
3.1.1 Chemicals 102	
3.1 Materials and methods	
3. Purification and characterization of proteinaceous and thermostable a-am inhibitor from Sardinian common bean Nieddone cultivar (Phaseolus vulgaris)	ylase 101
2.5 Conclusions 99	
2.4 Mechanistic characterization of the binding between α-amylase enzyme and α-AI95	
2.3.3 Deduced phylogenetic analysis and secondary structure 93	
2.3.2 Amino acid pattern and profile search results. 90	
2.3.1 PCR analysis of cDNA obtained from P. vulgaris cultivars 86	
2.3 Molecular results	80
2.2.3 Hemagglutination activity 83	
2.2.2. α -Amylase and α -glucosidase inhibitory activity: a comparison among cultivars	78
2.2.1 Development of an assay to quantify α -amylase and α -glucosidase activity 76	
2.2 Results and discussion	
2.1.16 Complexity-reduction quantum mechanical calculation 71	
2.1.15 Secondary structures prediction 71	

Abstract

The common bean *Phaseolus vulgaris* is a good source of protein fiber and bioactive compounds. Among these proteinaceous α -amylase inhibitors (α -AIs) and α -glucosidase inhibitor could play an important role in weight loss and control of glycemic index above all in overweight and diabetic subjects.

In this study 10 poorly studied Italian *P. vulgaris* cultivars were screened about their content in α -amylase/glucosidase inhibitors, antinutritional factor phytohemagglutinin (PHA), and about the expression of α -AI gene and their phylogenetic relationship.

All the cultivars presented α -glucosidase inhibitor activity, while α -AI was missing in two of them. Only Nieddone cultivar (ACC177) had no hemagglutination activity and its α -AI was extracted, purified and characterized.

The purified inhibitor has a tetrameric structure with a molecular weight of about 42 kDa, a temperature optimum of about 40°C and two pH optima (5 and 6.5).

Thermal stability is remarkably important, since the inhibitory activity was maintained at 25% after 5 hours of incubation at 100°C. The purified inhibitor had the highest affinity toward insect α -amylase about 3-fold more susceptible than human salivary amylase and porcine pancreatic α -amylase.

The kinetic characterization showed a mixed-type inhibition, suggesting a multiple site protein/protein interaction between enzyme (α -amylase) and inhibitor.

Molecular studies showed that α -AI is expressed in all cultivars and a close similarity between the two cultivars Pisu Grogu and Fasolu α -AI and isoform α -AI-4 emerged from the comparison of the partially reconstructed primary structures.

Moreover, from mechanistic models emerge the interaction network that connects the α -AI with the α -amylase enzyme characterized from two interaction hotspots (Asp38, and

Tyr186), giving some insights for the analysis of α -AI primary structure from the different cultivars, particularly about structure-activity relationship.

This study can be lay the basis for increase the knowledge about this class of proteins and developing commercial preparations from Italian common beans cultivars.

Sommario

Il fagiolo comune (*Phaseolus vulgaris*) è un'ottima fonte di fibre proteiche e di composti bioattivi. Tra questi, l'inibitore dell' α -amilasi (α -AI) e l'inibitore dell' α -glucosidasi svolgono un ruolo importante nella perdita di peso e nel controllo dell'indice glicemico, soprattutto in soggetti obesi e diabetici.

In questo lavoro sono state analizzate 10 cultivar italiane di *P. vulgaris* ancora poco studiate per quanto riguarda il loro contenuto di inibitore dell' α -amilasi/glucosidasi, di fattori antinutrizionali quali la fitoemoagglutinina (PHA), per l'espressione del gene α -AI e per le relazioni filogenetiche che intercorrono tra queste varietà di fagiolo.

Tutte le cultivar analizzate inibiscono l'enzima α-glucosidasi, mentre l'α-AI è assente in due varietà.

Solo la cultivar Nieddone (ACC177) non presenta attività emoagglutinante e per questo motivo si è deciso di estrarre purificare e caratterizzare α -AI a partire da questa varietà.

L'inibitore purificato presenta una struttura tetramerica con un peso molecolare di circa 42 kDa, un optimum di temperatura di circa 40° C e due optima di pH (5 e 6,5).

Risulta essere termicamente stabile dal momento che il 25% l'attività inibitoria si è preservata dopo 5 ore di incubazione a 100°C. È stato osservato che l'inibitore purificato possiede la massima affinità verso l'α-amilasi di insetto, circa 3 volte più sensibile dell'amilasi salivare umana e dell'α-amilasi pancreatica suina.

La caratterizzazione cinetica ha mostrato un'inibizione di tipo misto dell' α -amilasi, evidenziando la probabile presenza di più siti di interazione tra enzima e inibitore. Dagli studi molecolari è emerso che l' α -AI è espressa in tutte le cultivar e che gli inibitori delle cultivar Pisu grogu e Fasolu risultano essere più simili l'isoforma α -AI-4 rispetto all'isoforma α -AI-1. Inoltre, gli studi quanto-meccanici hanno messo in evidenza i siti di interazione tra α -AI e l' α -amilasi corrispondenti alle posizioni Asp38 e Tyr186. Questa informazione può contribuire all'analisi delle sequenze aminoacidi della proteina α -AI delle varie cultivar, dando informazioni sul rapporto struttura-attività.

Questo studio può nel suo insieme costituire la base per aumentare le conoscenze su questa classe di proteine e per sviluppare integratori alimentari a partire da varietà di fagiolo italiano.

1. State of the art

1.1 Introduction

Overweight and obesity are one of the major health concerns of our times, being considered the fifth leading risk for global deaths worldwide [1]. According to WHO, more than 1.9 billion adults were overweight in 2016, and over 650 million of these were obese.

It is estimated that globally there are more people obese than underweight in every region, except for some parts of sub-Saharan Africa and Asia.

The imbalance between energy expenditure and diet calorie intake has been identified as the cause of this condition, being mainly caused by the decrease in physical activity and the shift towards diets rich in sugars and fats, and low in fibers and micronutrients (vitamins, minerals and so on) [2].

Besides, overweight and obesity are related to many common health consequences, increasing risk for cardiovascular diseases, hypertension [3], dyslipidemia, sleep apnea, knee osteoarthritis [4], and certain types of cancer [5].

Among the main comorbidities, type 2 diabetes requires special attention.

The close relationship between obesity and diabetes led to the coining of the term 'diabesity'[6,7] a concept retaken in a very recent study that shown as obesity and unhealthy lifestyle influence the onset of type 2 diabetes regardless of genetic predisposition [8].

A progressive defect in insulin secretion associated with a progressive rise in insulin resistance led to the passage from obesity to diabetes [9]. More recently, obesity has even been identified as a leading risk factor for hospitalization and poor clinical outcome of SARS-CoV2 patients during COVID-19 pandemic [10].

Several dietary strategies have been suggested to tackle these issues, affecting carbohydrate and lipid metabolism. The most straightforward solution could be to reduce

the carbohydrate portions or their absorption introducing dietary fibers [11]. However, most people distaste such dietary modifications and report gastrointestinal issues [12]. Similar results can be obtained by inserting in the diet starches that resist digestion in the small intestine, thus acting like dietary fibers [2]. These starches are naturally found in several seeds, legumes and unprocessed whole grains, with a low glycemic index (GI).

A different approach could involve the use of some phytochemicals to slow down carbohydrate absorption. This could be achieved by preventing their intestinal hydrolysis, inhibiting the necessary enzymatic activity, namely amylase and glucosidase [13,14].

α–Amylase (α–1,4–glucan–4–glucanohydrolases, E.C. 3.2.1.1) is a glycoprotein catalyzing the endohydrolysis of $(1\rightarrow 4)$ -α-D-glycosidic linkages in polysaccharides containing three or more $(1\rightarrow 4)$ -α-linked D-glucose units [15]. During the reactions catalyzed by mammalian and bacteria α -amylases, as shown in Figure 1.1, the formation of covalent β-linked carbohydrate–enzyme intermediates in which are involved two aspartate residues and one residue of glutamate occurs [16,17].



Figure 1.1 Reaction mechanism of PPA. 1) Nucleophilic attack of carboxylate group of Asp197 onto C1 of the α -(1-4) glycosidic linkage and release of the first product; 2) hydrolysis of the α -carboxylacetal covalent intermediate; 3) Release of the second product in α -anomeric configuration.

The human isoform is a single peptide chain of 512 amino acids (about 57 kDa), requiring calcium ions for structural integrity [18,19].

This is one of the major secretory enzymes of the salivary glands and pancreas, playing a central role in the digestion of starch and the absorption of deriving simple sugars.

The cleavage of α -D-(1-4) glycosidic bonds release shorter oligosaccharides retaining the α -anomeric configuration, called dextrins (a mixture of maltose, maltotriose, and branched oligosaccharides of 6–8 glucose units with both α -1,4 and α -1,6 linkages). Other intestinal brush border enzymes (namely α -glucosidase, maltase and isomaltase) in turn further hydrolyze dextrins, and the resulting sugars can then be absorbed. No terminal glucose or α -D-(1-6) glycosidic bonds are affected by amylase activity [20]. Structurally, all α -amylases are usually folded into three domains: A, B and C. Domain A consists of a (β/α)₈-barrel, which is the core structure of the enzyme. Domain B is a sheet of four anti-parallel β -strands with a pair of anti-parallel β -strands. The binding site for calcium

ion is located in this domain. Domain C consists of eight β -strands forming a Greek key motif.

Thus, α -amylase represents the crucial step in the initiation of the process of digestion and absorption of dietary polysaccharides [21]. Therefore it can be the target for specific enzyme inhibitors, allowing to reduce the rate of carbohydrate absorption, the real energetic intake after a meal, and the subsequent glycemic peak [20,22].

Several alternatives have been proposed: acarbose (commercially known as Prandase®, Glucobay®, Precose®) is the best known α -amylase inhibitor. This is a low MW synthetic tetrasaccharide analogue (Figure 2), used as prescription drug to tackle hyperglycemia in treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus [2]. Miglitol and voglibose are other drugs belonging to the same class. As shown by several clinical studies, acarbose effectively improves insulin sensitivity in subjects with impaired glucose tolerance or type-2 diabetes, reducing cardiovascular risks in subjects with metabolic syndrome (a cluster of risk factors including high triglycerides, low high-density lipoprotein cholesterol and hypertension) [2,23].



Figure 1.2 some of the described low MW α -amylase inhibitors.

Several α -amylase inhibitors are also naturally present in plants, where they act as defense chemicals from biotic stress [2,24]. Over 800 plant species have been reported to have antidiabetic activity [20]. In particular, alkaloids, polysaccharides, steroids, glycopeptides, terpenoids, and several polyphenols (including hydroxycinnamic acids, chalcones, epicatechin, flavans, and anthocyanins, as shown in Figure 1.2) have been described as possible low MW drug candidates [14,25–27].

Among natural inhibitors, however, much attention has been paid to certain proteins which interact with α -amylase, thus providing a protein-protein interaction capable of reducing hydrolyzing activity. Proteinaceous α -amylase inhibitors can derive from

microbial and plants sources [28]. The latter can be further divided into six different classes: the knottin-like type, the Kunitz type, the thaumatin-like type, the γ -thionin-like type, the cereal type, and the lectin-like type (recently well reviewed in [22]). The first three classes only affect the amylases insect and can be therefore used in agriculture as biological pest control methods.

However, some classes can interact with mammalian (and human) enzymes and thus represent a potential drug candidate for antidiabetic and overweight treatments. The greatest interest has been addressed towards legume lectin-like glycoproteins extracted from several legumes [29,30]. In particular, the commercial proprietary Phase2® is produced from the common bean *Phaseolus vulgaris*, as well as other similar "carb controller" products [2,12,31].

1.2 Amylase inhibitors found in *P. vulgaris*

Among the described α -amylase inhibitors, the proteinaceous ones from *P. vulgaris* L. (α -AIs) show a particularly high potential [32]. In fact, the common bean is a well-widespread cultivation worldwide, with several positive nutritional features. Besides, these inhibitors are generally recognized as safe (no side effects found, as for other plant inhibitors [33]).

 α -AIs are lectins (carbohydrate-binding proteins, causing agglutination or precipitation of cells, glycoconjugates, including glycoproteins). *P. vulgaris* expresses three main classes of lectins: α -AIs, phytohemoagglutinins (PHA), and arcelins (ARL), as protection agents of seeds from biotic (i.e. insect predation) and abiotic stress (i.e. drought, salinity and wounding) [34,35], all deriving from a single ancestral gene [36]. PHA is a mitogen, affecting the intestinal mucosa of mammals, whereas ARL prevent absorption of nutrients in insect larvae [37]. These components are regarded as antinutritional factors [38], but thermal denaturation (typically reached during cooking) inactivates anti-nutrient agents, adding nutritional value due to their high sulfur aminoacid content [35].

Three main α -AIs can be found in common beans: isoform 1 (α -AI1), isoform 2 (α -AI2), and α -amylase inhibitor-like (α -AIL) [38,39]. All these proteins are specifically able to inhibit animal α -amylases, not affecting plant amylases [34]. Due to their activity against insect amylases, these proteins have been proposed as insecticides against bruchid pests [40]. In fact, their genes have been also transgenically expressed in other plants (such as tobacco and peas) to confer resistance to various insect pests [41,42].

On the other hand, only α -AI1 has a specific effect on mammalian (and thus human) amylases, being therefore the target for nutraceuticals clinical studies. Heterologous expression of α -AI1 in yeasts has also been recently described to improve potential large scale production [43].

1.2.1 Amylase inhibitors genes

As aforementioned, seven types of natural protein inhibitors of α -amylases (α -AIs) have been identified, and six of these, namely the knottin-like type [44], the γ -thionin-like type [45], the cereal type, the Kunitz type, the thaumatin-like type and the lectin-like type [46], are extracted from plants. The other type has been isolated from bacteria [47]. The molecular weights of these inhibitors range from 3 kDa to 23 kDa [44]. The knottin-like type, the Kunitz-type and the thaumatin-like type are able to inhibit amylase only in insects [48]. The α -AI lectin-like glycoproteins have been isolated from legumes. They were named for their high degree of amino acid sequence homology compared to the lectin proteins abundantly expressed in these plants.

The currently known α -AI isoforms present in the different cultivars of the legume, *P*. *vulgaris*, are α -AI1 [49,50], α -AI2 [51], α -AIL [52], α -AI4 and α -AI5 [53]. All the α -AI isoforms are encoded by genes that are part of a gene cluster, which includes *dlec1* (encoding lectin phytohemagglutin PHA-E), *dlec2* (encoding leukophytoagglutinin PHA-L) and *Arc* (encoding arcelin) [54,55].

According to evolutionary studies, the gene cluster may have originated following gene duplication events [54]. The gene cluster encodes proteins that share similar characteristics in their secondary and tertiary structures, as they are basically made up of antiparallel β -sheets. ARL differ from PHA-E and PHA-L through the absence of a short amino acid sequence (gap deletion G3), which, if present, forms a short loop. α -AI1 and α -AI2 differ from ARL through the absence of two sequences (gaps deletions G1 and G2), which, if present, form two other loops.

Ultimately, the proteins α -AI1 and α -AI2 have the shortest sequences due to the deletion gaps G1, G2 and G3. The α -AIL protein (α -amylase inhibitor-like protein previously called α -AI3) differs from α -AI1 and α -AI2 mainly due to the insertion of 15 amino acids around position 115 (G2) of the primary structure [52].

The α -AIs in the bean, similar to the other proteins encoded by the gene cluster, are synthesized in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) as inactive preproproteins to become active proteins once transported to the vacuoles. The transition from inactive to active protein involves several post-translational modifications by which the precursor is *N*-glycosylated and cut (except in the case of the α -AIL isoform) at a conserved Asn residue





Figure 1.3 Different α -Als isoforms present different susceptibility to proteolytic activation.

The α -AIs of *P. vulgaris* generally show only small differences in their primary structures and in their *N*-glycosylation sites. α AI-1 was the first isoform of *P. vulgaris* to be isolated in 1945 [59], molecularly characterized [34,60] and crystallized [61]. In the ER, the preprotein undergoes cleavage of the signal peptide and *N*-glycosylated sites on residues of Asn12, Asn65 and Asn140 (the numbers refer to the positions of the residues in the mature protein). Through the secretory pathway, the protein is transported to the vacuoles, where it undergoes a second proteolytic cut. Specifically, vacuolar proteases cut at the conserved Asn77 residue (the number indicates the position of the residue after removal of the signal peptide) and also at the Asn223 to remove the C-terminal portion, which is then used to direct the peptide transport to the vacuoles. These post-translational modifications give rise to the α and β subunits, with molecular weights of 7,800 Da (77 amino acid residues) and 14,600 Da (146 amino acid residues), respectively [58,62]. As shown in Figure 1.4, in the native protein, the protein subunits are then organized in a tetrameric structure $\alpha_2\beta_2$ [53,55].



Figure 1.4 Post-translational modifications of α -Al1, α -Al2, α -Al4, and α -Al5. Proteolytic activation includes the removal of signal peptide, and the proteolytic scission of subunits α and β . Then, dimerization leads to α ? dimers, that associate in pairs to form the heterotetramer $\alpha 2\beta 2$, the active α -Al molecule (adapted from (Lee et al., 2002)).

Site-specific mutagenesis experiments have demonstrated the importance of the amino acid residue in position 77 of the mature protein for the acquisition of the native structure. In fact, the removal of the proteolytic cleavage site at Asn77 by substitution of the ATT codon with a GAT codon (Asn77 \rightarrow Asp77) in the gene α -AI1 encoding the α -AI1 isoform, leads to the expression of an inactive inhibitor [56]. In the α AI-2 isoform, the proteolytic cleavage that gives rise to the α and β chains, occurs at Asn75. This isoform has an α subunit that is shorter, by two amino acids, than the α subunit of α -AI1 (Ser56 and Tyr57 are missing). It is interesting to note that α -AIL, while retaining Asn77 in its primary structure, does not undergo proteolytic cleavage, so it is a monomeric protein [52].

By exploiting the ability of the protein isoform, α -AI1, to interact with mammalian α amylases, Bompard-Gilles and coworkers crystallized the α-AI1/PPA complex (porcine pancreatic a-amylase-a-AI1) in order to define the interaction domains that are established between the two proteins [61]. Contrary to the results obtained in previous studies [63], the analysis of the crystals showed that α -AI1 consists of two dimers, and each is able to interact with a pancreatic enzyme molecule, PPA. Its secondary structure is devoid of α -helices and contains an abundance of β -antiparallel sheet. In the inhibition process promoted by aAI-1, two hairpin loops in the inhibitor (L1 and L2) play an important role. The amino acid residues in the loop make direct and indirect hydrogen bonds via H_2O molecules with the enzyme (see below). L1 includes residues 29–46, and L2 includes residues 171–190. The inhibitor-enzyme interactions lead to conformational modifications of α -AI1 projecting the Tyr37 and Asp38 residues of L1 and the Tyr186 and Tyr190 residues of L2 into the active site of the enzyme, where three amino acid residues directly involved in acid-base catalysis events are present (Asp197, Glu233 and Asp300, as shown in Figure 1.5). Tyr37 of the inhibitor, as a result of conformational changes induced by interactions with the enzyme, forms hydrogen bonds with the Glu233 residue and part of the Asp300 residue present in the active site of the enzyme. The latter is also engaged in binding with a chloride ion. The flanking Asp38 residue of the inhibitor assumes a position favorable for the formation of a hydrogen bond with His201, which is also present in the active site of the enzyme. The formation of this hydrogen bond facilitates the interaction of Tyr186 with the enzyme, which is projected into the heart of the catalytic site, forming hydrogen bonds with the catalytic nucleophile, Asp197 [64]. The orientation of the L2 loop allows the formation of a hydrogen bond with the Asp197 residue of the enzyme, which will not be able to participate in the catalytic event as a

nucleophile [64]. Asp300 in the enzyme, the third residue of the catalytic triad involved in the acid-base catalysis with the substrate, is blocked, as it forms two hydrogen bonds with the inhibitor: the first bond is established between the carboxyl of its side chain and the hydroxyl group of Ser189 in the inhibitor, and the second bond is established between its carbonyl oxygen and Tyr190 in the inhibitor.



Figure 1.5 Three-dimensional model structure of the PPA/ α -Al1 complex. One monomer unit of α -Al1 (template 1dhk.1.B) in interaction with a molecule of PPA (template 3l2l.1.A) is shown. The two hairpin loops (L1 and L2) of α -Al1 interacting directly with the active site of PPA are highlighted. The α -Al1 tyrosine, aspartate and serine sidechains (Y37, Y186, Y190, D38, S189), important to the interaction with catalytically important residues of PPA enzyme (E233, D197, D300, H201, N298) are reported with the one-letter code. The * indicate the three amino acids of α -Al1 directly involved in the catalytic mechanism. The 3D structures were generated using SWISS-MODEL (http://swissmodel.expasy.org) server.

Additional molecular information on *P. vulgaris* α -AIs was obtained after the isolation of the genes encoding the protein isoforms α -AI2 and α -AIL [51,52,55]. The reconstruction of the primary structure of the two proteins allowed to define their hypothetical threedimensional structures using the crystal structure obtained by Bompard-Gilles and colleagues for the PPA/ α -AI1 complex as a model [61]. Despite the high degree of similarity of the three isoforms, α -AI1, α -AI2 and α -AIL, their specificities to different α -amylase enzymes vary. While α -AI-1 inhibits the activity of pig α -amylases and those of the insects *T. molitor*, *C. maculatus* and *C. chinensis*, the other two isoforms do not act on these enzymes. α -AI2 inhibits the α -amylase of the *Z. subfasciatus* beetle (ZSA), while α -AI1 does not. To explain whether these differences could be justified at the molecular level, the two isoforms, α -AI2 and α -AIL, were modeled in three dimensions using PPA/ α -AI1 and PHA-L crystals as models [65]. Although all the isoforms had very similar three-dimensional structures, both α -AI2 and α -AIL differed from α -AI1 by some more or less extensive structural changes.

The interaction between α -AI1 and amylases seems to happen in the same site of acarbose [66,67].

The three-dimensional structures of these two isoforms, based on the information obtained from the crystallographic studies of the α -AI1/PPA complex, highlight the presence of the three residues (Arg74, Trp188, Tyr190) important for the inhibition of α -amylase. In particular, it has been suggested that the active inhibitor site consists of Trp188 (β subunit), Arg74 (α subunit) and Tyr190 (β subunit), resembling the Trp-Arg-Tyr motif of bacterial α -amylase inhibitor Tendamistat [68]. In this perspective, the proteolytic activation at Asn77 may be necessary to bring these residues in close proximity. Besides, two tyrosine residues (Tyr37 and Tyr186) from the two hairpin α -AI1 loops interact with two key residues in the enzyme active Asp197 and Glu233 [67]. These two nucleophilic and acid functions act as crucial catalysts in the amylase action. Besides, further protein-protein interactions involve areas away from the active site, including the loop 303–312, the loop at position 237–240, the loop 347–357, and the loop 140–150 from domain B [67]. However, some differences in α -AI1 inhibition have been

observed between human and pig pancreatic amylases, being possibly due to the aminoacidic sequence dissimilarity in the two enzymes [69]. For instance, some additional hydrogen bonds between inhibitor and human enzyme domain B have been observed, as well as different patterns of interactions in the loop regions 303–312 and 347–357 of domain A [67].

On the whole, this complex network of protein-protein interactions mimics the substrate binding in several subsites of the enzyme structure, inducing a steric hindrance process blocking the access of starch to the active site, which prevents hydrolysis. However, this process seems to be different if compared with the action of carbohydrate inhibitor acarbose. In this case, conformational changes have been reported in the flexible loop (residues 303–309), in the loop 237–240, and in the segment at position 140–150 of the domain B [66,67]. The main residues involved are the catalytic residue Asp300 and residue His305, which undergo deep conformational changes. After substrate binding, the flexible loop moves toward the inhibitor, leading to a reduction of the cleft breadth. On the contrary, when α -AI1 binds the enzyme, a tight-binding process occurs, pushing away the same loop toward the solvent. The loop region 351–359 in domain A undergoes significant structural modifications, while Asp 300 does not modify the orientation if compared with free amylase.

However, the process of α -AI1 has not been completely elucidated, being the role of some residues still not completely and universally understood [38]. This should encourage further studies, in perspective of the development of more (semi)synthetic inhibitors (see below).

All the α -AI isoforms, despite having a high sequence homology overall, differ consistently in their upstream and downstream regions, which contain the amino acid

27

residues responsible for the formation of hydrogen bonds with the active site of α amylases [53]. It is probable that the low sequence homology in this region is responsible for each isoform's specificity for α -amylases. In fact, studies on the α -AI1 and α -AI2 isoforms have shown that the differences in these regions lead to a different orientation of the L1 and L2 hairpin loops when the inhibitor comes into contact with the active site of the enzyme. Knowing the structural details of this family of plant α -amylase inhibitors and their mechanism of action could help to understand their important roles in the control of endogenous amylases and in the protection against pathogens and parasites. Such pieces of information could also enhance the development of new inhibitors resembling the mechanism of α -AIs.

1.2.2 Structural properties

In the common bean, α -AI is a 43 kDa-residue polypeptide with three disulfide bridges that includes different isoforms (see above) [50,70]. As stated above, the active sites of amylases usually comprise three key amino acids, namely Asp197, Glu233 and Asp300 [71]. The α -amylase binding site could hold at least six monosaccharide structures and be cleaved between the third and fourth pyranose residues by a double displacement mechanism [48].

The inhibitor α -AI1 is purified from a variety of kidney bean seeds and is a 43 kDa tetrameric glycoprotein ($\alpha_2\beta_2$) with a Stokes radius of 29.0 Å, which corresponds to globular proteins. Chemical and enzymatic deglycosylation methods gave M_r calculated from SDS–PAGE experiments of about 7.8 and 14 kDa for α and β subunits, respectively [58]. All these protein fractions react with biotinylated ConA, thus indicating they are

glycosylated. The branched glycans linked to Asn65 and Asn140 of α -AI1 residues, protrude in the solvent at the back face of the dimer [37].

 α -AI1 has in turn two isoforms in *P. vulgaris* cv Tendergreen, α -AI1 and α -AI1', which differ from each other by their isoelectric points and neutral sugar contents [50,72]. Both α -AI1 and α -AI1' give a single protein band when analyzed by PAGE in native conditions, with an estimated M_r of 43.6 and 39.8 kDa, respectively [50]. The yield of neutral sugar contents of α -AI1 and α -AI1' is 16% and 14% (*w/w*) respectively as estimated according to the phenol–H₂SO₄ method [73]. According to the vapor phase chromatography, the oligosaccharide chains of both inhibitors are mainly composed of mannose associated to a trace of xylose [74]. α -AI1 is a lectin-like amylase non-competitive inhibitor that has been found both in mammalian and two kinds of insects' amylases that come from *C. maculatus* and *C. chinensis* [22].

The occurrence of two extra-loops on the front face of α -AIs prevents these proteins from entering the substrate cleft of PPA; thus, the removal of these loops appears as a structural requirement for the α -amylase inhibitory activity of α -AIs. In addition, as discussed above (Figure 4), the proteolytic processing occurring at Asn77 residue, which cleaves the polypeptide chain of α -AI1 in an α -chain (residues 1–77) and in a β -chain (residues 78– 223), is necessary to transform an inactive precursor in a fully active inhibitor [56]. Several studies confirmed that α -AI1 interacts with a large region that surrounds the substrate binding site of PPA in a slow process and forms a 1:2 stoichiometric complex which exhibited an optimum pH of 4.5 at 30°C [50,75]. The total buried area contributed by both molecules in this complex is about 3050 Å², which is reported to be one of the largest values for a protein-protein complex [61] [16]. α -AI1 was also similarly shown to interact with the *Tenebrio molitor* α -amylase [76].

1.2.3 Operational stability

Several factors affect α -AI activity, including pH, temperature and several ions.

While mammalian amylase presents the highest activity close to neutrality (6.5-7), the optimum of pH for inhibitory activity has been identified in a slightly acidic environment, in the range 4.5-5.5 [63,77–79], being almost inactive outside this range [50]. Lajolo and Finhardi Filho highlighted a specific difference between salivary (4.5) and pancreatic amylases (5.5) [79]. Other authors showed an optimum at neutrality using porcine pancreatic amylase, but no incubation was performed in this case [80]. Similar values of pH (5.25) have been also shown to positively affect inhibitor purification [81].

In fact, incubation time seems to greatly affect inhibitory activity, possibly explaining the different pH optima observed. A period of time comprised between 10' and 120' has been used to reach optimum activity [50,63,77]: shorter incubation was in fact necessary when operating at pH 4.5. These findings suggest that, to obtain *in vivo* effects, nutraceutic preparations based on α -AI should be ingested before the meals, or at least at the same time [38]. The pre-incubation pH could also enhance α -AI effects. For instance, 20' at pH 4 led to a boost of inhibition [36], even though these data were collected on insect amylases.

Incubation times and pH seem to interfere also when the temperature effect on α -AI is evaluated. In fact, when operating at pH 4.5, a maximum of activity between 22 and 37°C was observed, with no significant differences within this range [50]. Even Lajolo and coworkers showed only a slight increase in activity in the range 25-45°C, incubating inhibitor and enzymes at pH 5.4 [79]. On the contrary, a 10-fold increase in activity has been detected pre-incubating the inhibitor at amylase optimum pH (6.9) [63]. These

findings could be explained by the lower energy barrier at acidic pHs [79]. All studies agree on the complete loss of activity boiling at 100°C and refrigerating at 0°C [50,63,82]. In a study on transgenic peas, however, α -AI retained almost all the inhibitory effect when treated for 5' at 80°C (an almost complete drop in activity was observed for higher temperatures) [83].

Several ions also affect the binding between α -AI and amylase, and the consequent inhibitory effect. Particularly, calcium ion (5 mM) is important for the rate of initial binding [80]. Chloride ion is also necessary to reach optimum activity [79,80]. In fact, both these ions are usually present in the typical protocol commonly used for the determination of inhibitory activity. Potassium, magnesium and sulfate ions did not interfere with α -AI biological activity [80], whereas a positive effect of nitrate, bromide, iodide, and thiocyanate ions has been described [79].

Taken together, all these data show several discrepancies about the optimal operational conditions for inhibition activity. This suggests the need of further studies to evaluate more carefully the interactions between pH, temperature, and incubation times, and to identify more precisely the best conditions for processing and administration of possible α -AI-based preparations.

1.3 Clinical trials

According to WHO obesity is defined as abnormal or excessive fat accumulation. The body mass index (BMI), calculated by dividing a person's weight in kg by the square of height in meters (kg/m²), represents a measure of obesity: a person is considered obese with a BMI \geq 30.

The cause of excess body weight is an imbalance between energy intake and expenditure.

The WHO identifies two main factors which can cause the obesity condition: on one side the increasing intake of food rich in fat and sugar but lacking in vitamins and minerals, and on the other the decrease in physical activity due to an increase in sedentary works, urbanization and motorized transports [84].

Instead, diabetes is defined as a chronic, metabolic disease characterized by elevated levels of blood glucose leading to other health problems that mainly concern heart, blood vessels, eyes, kidneys and nerves (WHO, 2022). Type 2 diabetes is the most common form of diabetes mellitus and it is characterized by hyperglycemia, insulin resistance, and relative insulin deficiency [85].

It is considered that the aetiology of type 2 diabetes is strongly-diet related because of about 90% of diabetic patients are obese or overweight [86].

The spread of these health conditions and the necessity to implement the green economy led to the study of innovative drug, in particular from plant-based bioactive compounds, for their treatment. As mentioned above, many *in vivo* studies have shown that extracts of *P. vulgaris* have anti-obesity effects in animals and human models, presenting several advantages if compared to traditional dietary or pharmacological interventions [32,33]. On the contrary *in vitro* models have not been usually employed. In fact, the overall effect on blood glucose of α -amylase: α -AI interaction can be difficulty observed by such models. So, in this Review we focused only on *in vivo* studies.

1.3.1 In vivo studies on animal models

Many studies related to the administration of α -amylase inhibitor extracts to rats have been collected in a paper review by Carai and coworkers [87]. Unfortunately, the different ways used to express enzyme and/or inhibitor activities in units rather than in absolute weight terms, make comparisons not easy to obtain.

The inhibition of the growth rate in rats fed with raw *P. vulgaris* beans and extract, changes biochemical parameters and alteration in organ histology, as reported since the 1960s [88–90]. Only a transitory pancreatic enlargement was observed in young healthy rats consuming raw kidney beans chronically, accompanied by a significant reduction in body content of lipid and a lower body weight gain compared to control group [91].

A weight loss was also observed after the administration of purified α -AI for 10 days, but it was accompanied by intestinal blockage (cecum level) by solidified digesta in healthy Lister Hodded rats, since starch digestion was almost completely blocked [92]. This effect, recorded only when the highest inhibitor concentrations (20 and 40 mg/kg) were administered, was linked to bacterial fermentation causing the hypertrophic growth of the tissue leading in some cases to the organ rupture.

On the contrary, using a different dry *P. vulgaris* extract, the administration of various doses (0, 50, 200 and 500 mg/kg) for 10 days did not imply side effects, but a reduction in rat body weight associated with a decrease in food intake was observed [93].

This anorexigenic effect, observed by many authors [94–97], may be related to the lectin activity on the intestinal brush border, by altering the release of cholecystokinin and glucagon-like peptides that play an important role in the control of appetite. This phenomenon has been observed also when high palatable food was administrated to rats [87,93].

It has been demonstrated that *P. vulgaris* extract is also effective in reducing glycemia in healthy and diabetic rats [96,97], as well as glucose absorption.

It is interesting that the antihyperglycemic activity is more effective if the *P. vulgaris* seeds are mixed with glibenclamide, an oral hypoglycemic agent. It was demonstrated that the combination of 300 g/kg (weight of seeds per body weight) with 0.20 g/kg body weight of gilbenclamide results in a safer and potent hypoglycemic and antihyperglycemic activity in chronic diabetic conditions [98].

Different results were obtained when crude white bean flour was administrated (1 g/kg body weight) to diabetic induced Wistar rats for 21 days; no significant decrease in blood glucose was recorded in this case [99].

These different results could be linked to the different degree of purification of the extract in accordance with what observed in human model (see below) to various dosages and to the absence of a joint action with hypoglycemic agents.

Similarly, no significant weight loss, change in organ weight, food consumption and blood biochemical parameters were recorded also in healthy Sprague-Dawley rats, that received white kidney bean extract at doses 4, 2 and 1 g/kg for 90 days [100].

Qin et *al.* suggest that this difference could be related to the experimental group state of health [100]. Healthy rats are in fact probably more resistant to α -AI effect compared to obese rats. Previous studies showed that amylase activity is higher in healthy subjects than in obese subjects (both rats and humans) [101,102], and so the inhibitor could act more effectively on healthy individuals.

The studies on animal models (as summarized in Table 1.1) have shown the potential of *P. vulgaris* extract as anorexigenic and antihyperglycemic agent although these properties depend on the type of extract administered, the duration of the trial and the health state of animals.

Ref.	Administration	Subjects	Side effects	Main results
[91]	Raw beans	Healthy rats	Transitory pancreatic enlargement	Reduction in body lipid level
[92]	Partially purified extract	Healthy rats	Intestinal blockage (cecum level) by solidified digesta	Weight loss
[93]	Dry extract	Healthy rats	No side effects	Reduction in rat body weight, glycemia and a decrease in food intake
[97]	Purified extract	Healthy and diabetic rats	No side effects	Reduction in glycemia and decrease in food intake in both group
[94]	Partially purified extract	Healthy rats	Not available	Reduction in normal and palatable food intake ang glycemia
[96]	Purified extract	Healthy rats	No side effects	Anoressigenic effect, reduction in weight gain, and blood glucose level
[98]	P. vulgaris seeds +gilbenclamide	Diabetic rats	No side effects	Potent hypoglycemic and antihyperglycemic activity
[99]	Bean flour crude	Diabetic rats	No side effects	No change in physiological parameters, in biochemical marker and organ weight
[100]	Aqueous extract	Healthy rats	No side effects	No significant weight loss, change in organ weight, food consumption and blood biochemical parameters.

Table 1.1 Main studies on animal models to test the efficacy of P. vulgaris extract

These results have laid the foundations for studying the role of beans extracts on human being with particular regard to the safety of the administered product.

1.3.2 Early studies on humans

The α -amylase inhibitor from *P. vulgaris* powder has also been tested on human models. Many of the early studies carried on in 70s and 80s on the bean extract inhibitor are discussed in different reviews [2,38,103].

In the first studies crude white bean-based extracts were used. The results were disappointing; no decrease in human starch digestion was observed because of insufficient inhibitor activity and instability [104–106].

A series of subsequent and more promising studies were published by a research group from the Mayo Clinic (Rochester, Minnesota, USA) in the 1980s using a partially purified white bean product [107,108].

In vitro it was found that the partially purified inhibitor inactivated intraduodenal, intraileal and salivary amylase without being affected by exposure to gastric juice [107]. These findings were also confirmed *in vivo*, by the reduction of amylase activity in the duodenal, jejunal and ileal intralumen after the administration of partially purified amylase inhibitor accompanied by a significant reduction of gastric inhibitory polypeptide (GIP) concentration [108].

These results were later confirmed by other authors that observed as the partially purified extract significantly reduced absorption of complex carbohydrates from the terminal ileum and decreased GIP concentration [109,110].

In a series of studies several doses of partially amylase inhibitor were administered both healthy and diabetic subjects. A reduction in starch digestion and in postprandial glucose, C-peptide, insulin and GIP level was recorded [111,112]. The only side effect was
represented by a temporary diarrhea and the authors suggested that impurities in the partially purified preparation may be responsible for this side effect.

Similar results were obtained by Layer et *al.*, testing 13 subjects (8 healthy volunteers and 5 subjects with type 2 diabetes). The effect of a partially purified bean-derived amylase inhibitor was recorded on the ingestion of 50 g of a test meal made of rice, cocoa and aspartame. Also in this case, a decrease in postprandial plasma glucose and insulin concentration in both healthy and diabetics subjects was observed [113].

In 2000, the first study was conducted to investigate the effectiveness of white bean extract in weight loss [114].

An inhibitor product (Suco-Bloc®) tablet (containing 200 mg of white kidney bean extract, 200 mg of inulin and 50 mg of *Garcinia cambogia* extract) was administered to 40 overweight healthy subjects (BMI between 27.5 and 39).

In this randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial the subjects had to eat 2 inhibitor tablets after all 3 meals per day for 12 weeks. After 3 months a significative weight loss, a reduction of BMI and a decrease of body fat percentage in the tested group were recorded. No sides effects were recorded in the experiments.

These papers confirmed the preliminary results obtained in the animal models. Not only the inhibitory activity is unaffected by gastric juices, but it reduces the absorption of complex carbohydrates, lowers blood glucose concentration, C-peptide and GIP levels, with almost negligible undesirable effects.

Moreover, the extract effectiveness in weight loss laid the groundwork for the study of commercial products that could be used as dietary supplements in the fight against obesity and diabetes. Further experiments became, in fact, necessary to improve purifications techniques and to test the safety of the product.

1.3.3 PHASE2[®]: commercial products

Subsequent studies have focused on using the starch blocker IQP-PV-101, known commercially as PHASE2®, but previously named Phaseolamin 2250, because one gram of the product blocked 2,250 starch calories [115]. It is also marketed globally under the Starchlite® and PhaseLite® brands [116].

It is a dried aqueous extract from the common white bean *P. vulgaris* (Pharmachem Laboratories; Kearny, NJ, USA) produced from non-GMO whole kidney beans and certified as gluten free. It is used as a dietary supplement (odorless and tasteless) in various forms, including powders, tablets, and capsules.

Each lot of PHASE2® has at least 3000 α -amylase inhibiting units (AAIU) per g when tested at a pH 6.8 using potato starch as substrate and pancreatin as enzyme source [2]. As declared in the Evaluation of the Generally Recognized as Safe (GRAS) status of PHASE 2® white bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*) extract, a typically recommended dose is 1-2 capsule containing each 500 mg of PHASE 2®, taken 3 times a day during daily meals, or 1500-1300 mg per day [117]. Heat treatments inactivates the hemagglutinating power and trypsin activity, thus ensuring the product safety [118].

1.3.4 Meta-analysis on clinical trials

Many clinical studies about PHASE 2[®] are collected in two meta-analyses. The most recent has been proposed by Udani and coworkers, investigating the effectiveness of PHASE 2[®] in reducing body weight and fat [12].

They only included in their analyses those studies that met the main requirements collectively termed PICOS (Population, Intervention, Comparison, Outcomes and Study)

criteria: Participants had to be obese or overweight; Intervention had to be done with PHASE 2®; the Control group had to be compared with the test group; Outcome measurements had to include measurements of body or fat mass; and Study design had to be based on double-blind, placebo-controlled parallel or crossover trial, randomized or open-label studies.

Based on these characteristics they selected 11 studies for meta-analysis for weight loss with a total of 573 subjects and 3 studies for meta-analysis for fat loss with a total of 110 subjects.

They found that the intake of PHASE 2[®] resulted in a weight loss difference of 1.08 kg and in a fat reduction of 3.26 kg.

These conclusions partially contradict what was previously stated by Onakpoya et *al.* in a previous meta-analysis [119]: in fact they did not find any significant difference in weight loss between treated and control group.

As suggested by Udani et *al.*, this difference may be due to the choice to include in the Onakpoya meta-analyses all studies on *P. vulgaris*, and not only on PHASE 2® [12]. These differences could have led to the inclusion of studies based on different partially purified preparations. However, also the meta-analysis from Onakpoya et *al.* showed a significant effect on fat loss, confirming a sharper effect on this body parameter.

1.3.5 Studies on weight loss in humans

Many authors focused their attention on testing the effectiveness of PHASE 2® in the loss of body weight and body composition (as summarized in Table 1.2). In a series of papers, Udani and coworkers investigated the role of PHASE 2® in decreasing body weight, triglyceride level and reducing waist size. They did not achieve a significant statistical difference between active and placebo group in weight loss, by lowering triglyceride level and reducing waist size, but they underlined the potential of PHASE 2® in the treatment of obesity and hypertriglyceridemia [120,121].

Different conclusions were reached by Celleno et *al.* [122].Their results showed that the extract of *P. vulgaris* significantly contributes to reduction of body weight, BMI, fat mass, adipose tissue thickness, and waist, hip and thigh circumferences in overweight treated subjects. At the same time the lean body was preserved.

A similar study was carried out in 2010 on overweight men and women [123] in which a statistically significant difference was recorded in reduction of body weight and waist circumference in an active group compared to a placebo group. On the other hand, no significant change in hip circumference was recorded.

More recently PHASE 2[®] was tested for its efficacy in weight loss and weight maintenance in subjects with BMI between 25 and 35 kg/m² [116].

This research is of particular importance for the sample size of the Weight Loss (WL) trial and for the duration of Weight Maintenance (WM) study (the largest sample, 123 subjects, and the longest single clinical trial, 24 weeks, respectively) conducted on *P*. *vulgaris* extract.

It proves the efficacy of the product in WL after 12 weeks (2.91 ± 2.63 kg vs. 0.92 ± 2.00 kg, p < 0.001) and in WM after 24 weeks (the mean weight of the subjects at week 24 was $99.34\pm2.96\%$ of baseline weight).

Ref.	Duration	Subjects	Dose of Phase 2®	Main results	Trial type
[120]	8 weeks	n=39	1500 mg twice a day	No significant difference in WL and triglyceride level	Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled
[121]	4 weeks	n=25	1000 mg twice a day	No significant difference between in WL and reducing waist size	Double-blind, placebo controlled
[122]	4 weeks	n=60	445 mg	Statistically significant difference in reducing BW, BMI, fat mass, adipose tissue thickness, and waist, hip, thigh circumferences. Lean body preserved.	Randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled
[123]	8 weeks	n=101	2000 mg	Statistically significant in reduction in BW and waist circumference. No significant change in hip circumference.	Randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled
[116]	12 weeks	n=123	1000 mg three times a day	Statistically significant difference in WL, waist circumference and BMI reduction.	Randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled
[116]	24 weeks	n=49	1000 mg three times a day	73.5 % of WM	Randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled
[124]	35 days	n=120	2400 mg	Statistically significant difference in BW, BMI, fat mass, adipose tissue thickness, and waist circumferences.	Randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled

Table 1.2 main clinical trials reported on humans for PHASE2® preparations. Abbreviations: BW, body weight; BMI, body mass index; WL, weight loss; WM, weight maintenance.

The growing interest in this research field is emphasized by a very recent paper that studies WL in obese subjects after the intake of 2,400 mg of *P. vulgaris* extract before each daily meal in a short period (35 days) [124]. The differences in WL between the active and placebo group were significant (p < 0.1; 2.24 Kg vs 0.29 Kg). BMI decreased by an average of 0.79 kg/m² and the body fat decreased by 1.53% on average compared with the baseline. Other recorded parameters were thickness of subcutaneous fat, waist and hip circumference that significantly decreased after the treatment.

These studies demonstrated the effectiveness of the commercial product PHASE 2® in the treatment of obesity. Weight loss, reduction in BMI and decrease in waist circumference are the main effects of taking this food supplement.

However other important issues have been investigated to evaluate the effect of *P*. *vulgaris* extract in reducing postprandial plasma glucose, hyperglycemia and insulin response.

1.3.6 Effect of α-AI1 on hyperglycemia and hyperinsulinemia in humans

One of the obesity-related diseases is diabetes mellitus, a metabolic disorder characterized by chronic hyperglycemia. Many therapies have been proposed by the scientific community to treat type 2 diabetes; the use of α -amylase inhibitor is one of the effective therapeutic strategies to lower postprandial blood glucose levels [125]. In fact, as summarized in Table 1.3, the use of α -amylase inhibitors to reduce hyperglycemia and hyperinsulinemia had already been studied since 1973 on rats, dogs, and healthy humans [126]. As mentioned above, both Boivin and Layer groups showed that a partially purified amylase inhibitor was able to decrease postprandial plasma glucose and insulin concentration in both healthy and diabetic subjects [111,113].

More recently, a new commercial supplement produced with the intent of preventing obesity and diabetes named "Super Bows Diet Type B" has been tested in Barrious Laboratories [127].

This granular supplement contains PHASE 2®, *Coleus forskohlii* extract and mushroom chitosan.

In a double-blind crossover test including 13 men and women with a fasting bloodglucose level above 126 mg/L, the active product or the placebo (in a single dose) were administered 5 minutes before eating 300 g of polished rice.

The analysis of blood glucose levels measured before and after eating (30-120 minutes later) showed that blood sugar levels and insulin levels were significantly lower in the active group as compared to the placebo group measured respectively 30 minutes and 30-60 after meal intake. Unfortunately, these results have not been published in a peer-reviewed journal.

On the other side, in 2009 three different independent papers focused on the same topic were published.

In the first study differences in Glycemic Index (GI) were investigated after the intake of white bread and butter with and without the addition of PHASE 2® [128]. The GI is a scale that represents the rise of glucose level after food intake and is defined as 'the incremental area under the blood glucose response curve of a 50 g carbohydrate portion of a test food expressed as a percent of the response to the same amount of carbohydrate from a standard food taken by the same subject'.

PHASE 2[®] was administered to 15 randomized volunteers with BMI between 18 and 25 (only 13 were considered in the final analysis) in a capsule or powder form at the dosage of 1500 mg, 2000 mg, and 3000 mg. The GI was calculated using standard capillary glucose measurements.

The capsules with 2000 mg and 3000 mg of PHASE 2® reduced GI significantly, while the powder formulation was effective only with the highest dose administration.

The second study included two different placebo-controlled, cross-over tests [129]. In the first trial 4 slices of white bread and 42 g of margarine with or without 1500 mg of PHASE 2® were administered to 11 normoglycemic subjects. With a clinical procedure, the blood was drawn before the meal and after every 15 minutes for 2 hours. A faster return to the plasma glucose base line (62 vs 80) was found in the active group compared to the placebo group and it was suggested that only 1/3 of the carbohydrates in the bread were absorbed with PHASE 2®.

In the second trial 7 subjects consumed a frozen dinner of country fried steak with gravy, mashed potatoes, green beans, and cherry-apple pie with or without a lower PHASE 2® dose (750 mg).

Also in this case, the active group returned to the baseline faster than untreated subjects (58 vs 70 min) and only 2/3 of the carbohydrates was absorbed using PHASE 2®.

Blood was sampled every 10 minutes for 60 minutes then periodically until 2 hours.

In the third study the hypoglycemic power of bean extract was also investigated in combination with acarbose on 12 healthy volunteers. The subjects were administered 1500 mg *P. vulgaris* extract and 50 mg acarbose, or acarbose 50 mg alone, before a carbohydrate meal. However, no significant differences were found between the two groups in reducing postprandial glucose level [130].

In a more recent trial the efficacy of *P. vulgaris* extract (Beanblock; Indena S.p.A.) was investigated both on glycometabolic and appetite control [131].

In this double-blind, randomized, cross-over study, to 20 healthy fasting volunteers were asked to eat a standardized meal consisting of a sandwich of white bread, ham, oil and tomato with 100 mg of active or placebo tablet. The blood was drawn at baseline and periodically for three hours after meal to record glucose, insulin, C-peptide and ghrelin concentration.

The intake of the bean extract reduced the glucose response to the meal, accompanied by a lower insulin level and C-peptide excursions. The sense of satiety was significantly reduced in the placebo group compared to the active one (third hour after meal) as a result of the suppression of ghrelin secretion inducing a lower desire to eat in the active group. Several studies have proved the efficacy of *P. vulgaris* extract in reducing postprandial blood glucose concentration and so it is suggested as a valuable tool to prevent the onset of diabetes [132].

PHASE 2® is effective in reducing blood glucose and insulin levels in both healthy and diabetic subjects confirming what has been observed in preliminary animal studies and early human trials. As noted above, the side effects of this supplement are mostly attributable to transient or even absent episodes of diarrhea.

However, more studies are necessary to explore this topic in more depth in order to resolve some discrepancies among the findings. This research field is in any case still open and the consumption of beans has even been proposed as a possible low-cost approach to reduce some ophthalmic disease such as cataract in patients with type 2 diabetes [133].

Ref.	Administration	Subjects	Side effects	Main results
[113]	Partially purified extract	Healthy and diabetics	Abdominal discomfort and diarrhea	Decrease in postprandial plasma glucose and insulin concentration in both subjects.
[111]	Partially purified extract	Healthy	Diarrhea	Reduction in starch digestion and postprandial glucose
[127]	PHASE 2®+ <i>Coleus</i> <i>forskohlii</i> extract+mushroom chitosan.	Diabetic	No side effects	Reduction in blood sugar levels and insulin levels
[128]	PHASE 2®	Healthy	No side effects	Reduction of GI after the administration of 2 and 3 g of PHASE 2®
[129]	PHASE 2®	Healthy	No side effects	A faster return to the plasma glucose base line after a meal
[130]	PHASE 2®+ acarbose	Healthy	Not available	Reduction in postprandial glucose concentrations
[131]	Partially purified extract	Healthy	No side effects	Reduction in glucose, insulin and C-peptide levels. Reduce the desire to eat, prolonging the sense of satiety.

Table 1.3 Main clinical trials on humans for the treatment of hyperglycaemia and hyperinsulinemia with P. vulgaris extract

1.4 Safety

It should be noted that beans and their extracts also contain anti-nutritional compounds. Trypsin inhibitors, lectins such as phytohemagglutinin, polyphenols (condensed tannins and anthocyanins) and some oligosaccharides, in fact, counteract the beneficial effects deriving from their consumption [134]. The presence of these substances may interfere with digestibility and availability of nutrients [135]. Many studies have reported the occurrence of side effects and risk of adverse reactions after the ingestion of raw beans in humans and animals [136–138].

Particular attention was given to PHA that, if administrated at high concentrations, causes hyperplastic growth of the small intestine, lower fractional rate of protein synthesis in skeletal muscle and overgrowth of *Escherichia coli* in the lumen in dose-dependent manner [139,140].

With the aim of removing the activity of antinutritional compounds, different techniques have been reported and summarized by Kumar and coworkers in a recent review [141]. For example it has been observed that PHA is inactivated by cooking [142–144]. Unfortunately, this treatment also inactivates α -AIs.

Furthermore, since hemagglutination activity greatly differs among all cultivars [145,146] and the α -amylase inhibitor is more active on some than others [32,81,147,148], it is crucial to choose a cultivar with less PHA concentration and more α -amylase activity as a raw material to produce bean extract.

However, the role of PHA in body weight loss is still debated. In fact, the intake of raw bean extract mixed in the diet with PHA lower than 0.2 g/kg leads to the reduction in body fat and body weight in obese Zucker rats [149]. This group lost more fat compared with the control group without loss of skeletal muscle and body proteins.

A higher concentration (0.4 g/kg) of PHA was tolerated if accompanied by a higher lipid dose in the diet.

Based on this evidence bean lectin has been suggested as a dietary adjunct to tackle obesity in a safe and effective dose-range. However, when rats were fed with a high concentration of PHA and low in α -AIs, there was no hypoglycemic effect [150].

Therefore, the attention has turned to the preparation of *P. vulgaris* extract with a dual action: i) inhibition of α -amylase and ii) anorexigenic effect caused by PHA [93].

PHASE 2® is instead prepared using a special process to inactivate hemagglutination power and trypsin inhibiting activity and many studies tested its safety. The finished product contains less than 700 hemagglutinating activity units (HA) per g.

Acute and subacute toxicity on rats was investigated by several studies [118,151,152]. No significant side effects or mortality was recorded in these trials. The toxicity level was considered acute when it exceeded the highest dose tested in acute administration corresponding to 5 g PHASE 2®/kg BW [38].

Moreover, the absence of side effects related to the presence of PHA confirmed the product safety.

The effects of subchronic (30 days treatment) and chronic (24 weeks) of PHASE 2® administration were studied on humans too, and no side effects were recorded [116,122]. Despite most studies are focused on PHASE 2®, it is not the only α -amylase inhibitor commercially available.

In 2020 another carbo-blocker extracted from *P. vulgaris* called Max Bloc® was tested [153]. Compared with three other commercial carbo-blockers from China and the United States it has a α -amylase inhibitory activity 10-16 times higher and no hemagglutinin toxicity (0 HAU/g vs 256,000-640,000 HAU/g of the others).

Moreover *in vitro* studies have shown that the ingestion of Max Bloc® reduces starchy food digestion by 69.2% to 93.3%.

Based on this evidence this supplement has been proposed as a valid candidate in weight management and glucose control.

On the whole, α -amylase inhibitor commercial products showed different characteristics probably linked due to the different extraction procedures. These could also affect the real dose administered and the resulting effectiveness on the patient. The joint action of α amylase inhibitor and PHA may improve the effectiveness of the product in a dosedependent manner. Nevertheless, many of these studies look preliminary, thus more experiments should improve the safety and efficacy of these commercial products.

1.5 The modulation of gut microbiota

The increased awareness of the role of gut microbiota in human and animal health is leading to more investments and research on this topic [154]. It has been demonstrated that the diet plays a preponderant role in the modulation of microbiota, even more important than genetic factors [155].

It has been proved that the gut microbiota composition changes in lean and obese individuals thus revealing that obesity is associated with the reduction in the abundance of *Bacteroidetes* and with the increase in the abundance of *Firmicutes* [156].

Based on this evidence some recent studies have focused their attention on the effects that *P. vulgaris* extracts may have on microbiota composition in mice [95,157].

Shi et *al.* investigated the role of α -amylase extract in body weight, serum lipid levels, and gut microbiota composition in obese rats. During the experiment three different doses of extract (0.5%, 1%, and 1.5%) were added to the diet and administered to induced-obese

rats for 10 weeks. At the end of experiments rats fed with the two highest doses of extract showed a significantly lower BW. Under these conditions, abdominal fat accumulation, serum total cholesterol and serum LDL levels were significantly reduced.

Interesting considerations have been made about the relationship among colonic content, pH, and the concentration of Shorty Chain Fat Acid (SCFA). The administration of medium and high dose of bean extract significantly increased the colonic content compared to obese and non-obese rats and led to a decrease in pH values of the colonic content [95].

This pH reduction is closely related to the increase of SCFA in intestinal content arising from the fermentation of carbohydrate by gut microbiota [158,159]. The authors underlined the importance of SCFA in metabolic health, recalling that propionic acid (increased by medium and high doses) has an important role in the reduction of lipids level [160] thus suggesting that the lipid-lowering effects resulting from the administration of *P. vulgaris* extract may be related to this increase in propionic acid. Important changes were also recorded in gut microbiota after the administration of different diets. The high fat diet of the mice involved a reduction of diversity and richness in gut microbiota composition. However, the administration of *P. vulgaris* extract involved a reduction of the relative abundance of *Firmicutes* and *Proteobacteria*, and an increase of the relative abundance of *Bacteroidetes*, *Butyricoccus*, *Blautia* and *Eubacterium* (phylum level). The latter groups of bacteria are SCFA-producing, protecting the intestinal gut from damage preventing the onset of obesity and related

diseases.

These conclusions are in agreement with what found previously by Song et *al*. in the first study on the change in gut microbiota in diet-induced obese mice by administration of

kidney beans extract [157]. Similarly, rats have been divided into three groups (fed with low fat diet, high fat diet and high fat diet added with *P. vulgaris* extract) to monitor the body weight, serum lipid level, hepatic steatosis, and change in gut microbiota composition for 14 weeks.

Even in this case, the *P. vulgaris* extract treatment reduced body weight and food intake compared to animals fed with only high fat diet. The high fat diet involved an increase in total cholesterol (LDL, HDL), and serum triacylglycerols, while the administration of bean extract led to a reduction TG, TC, LDL but not HDL. The bean extract turned out to have an anti-hepatosteatosis effect and to cause a decrease in glucose blood levels in rats fed with a high fat diet.

In accordance with the other study, the high-fat diet induced a significance increase of *Firmicutes* and decrease in *Bacteroidetes*, *Proteobacteria* and *Verrucomicrobia*, while bean extract involved a decrease in the relative abundance of *Firmicutes*, but a significant increase in *Verrucomicrobia* and *Actinobacteria*. The increase of the relative abundance of *Bifidobacterium*, *Lactobacillus* and *Akkermansia* was also recorded at the phylogenetic genus level.

So, it is evident that the subjects receiving the extract benefit both in terms of weight body loss, reduced blood glucose level and intestinal health.

In addition, Shenil Wang et al. investigated the modulation of gut microbiota in high-fat fed C57BL/6J mice after 8 weeks of administration of *P*.*vulgaris* extract, Yogurt and a mixture of *P*. *vulgaris* extract and yogurt (YPVE) as additive feeding [161].

At phylum level the *Bacteroidetes* and *Proteobacteria* in YPVE group was declined comparing to the other groups while the abundance of *Firmicutes* in YPVE group remained higher than high-fat fed mice. The YPVE mice microbiota was characterized by richness and abundance of microbial species suggesting that the YPVE led to a healthy direction on the regulation of intestinal flora.

In summary, the intake of *P. vulgaris* extract in mice has the potential to modulate gut microbiota. The microbiota of treated animals was characterized by a greater richness in species. It was recorded an increase of the relative abundances of *Bacteroidetes* and *Akkermansia* and a reduction of *Firmicutes* and *Proteobacteria*, with the proliferation of SCFA-producing bacteria which reflects positively on the well-being of the host. These findings are in fact giving further impetus to research in this field. Many recent works are focused on the role of *P. vulgaris* intake in microbiota modulation in animal models [162–164].

The role of *P. vulgaris* extract in the modulation of gut microbiota has been tested also on human being recently. Type 2 diabetes patients were treated with white common bean extract and monitored for 4 months. It was found that the abundances of *Bifidobacterium*, *Faecalibacterium* and Anaerostipes were higher in the treated group, and the abundances of *Weissella*, *Klebsiella*, Cronobacter and *Enterobacteriaceae*_unclassified were lower than those in the control group after 2 months. The *Bifidobacterium* remained more abundant in the treated group also after 4 months [165]. The modulation of microbiota with the increase of SCFA-producing bacteria, would explain why in treated patients it was observed a decrease of diabetic complications.

Other experiments are needed to confirm these data and standardize the treatment plan.

1.6 Taxonomy and phylogenetic classification of *Phaseolus vulgaris*

The choice to use the common bean seeds as the starting material for this study stems from the fact that this is one of the most widely consumed leguminous plants worldwide. It is good source of protein fiber and bioactive compounds, including α -AI and α -glucosidase inhibitor [166].

The high content in protein, vitamins, certain minerals (Ca, Fe, Cu, Zn, P, K, and Mg) and carbohydrates makes it a fundamental element in the diet of millions of people above all in underdeveloped and developing countries [167].

It is believed that the genus *Phaseolus* originated 4 to 6 million years ago in MesoAmerica [168].

After the discovery of America, the bean spread all over the world: Europe, Mediterranean region, (mostly eastern) Africa and parts of Asia [169].

This spread has led to the coining of different names in different parts of the world such as, only in English, Common bean, bean, French bean, kidney bean, runner bean, snap bean, string bean, garden bean, green bean, haricot bean, bush bean, navy bean, pole bean, flageolet bean.

P. vulgaris is a member of *Fabaceae* family (Table 1.4), which comprises species displaying a wide variety of forms. *P. vulgaris* shares many of the features characterising the family, but two ones are unique of the genus: the keel of the flower terminates in a coil, having from one to two turns and uncinate hairs are present on both vegetative and reproductive structures of the plant [170].

It is a highly polymorphic warm-season, herbaceous annual. The leaves, borne on long green petioles, are green or purple in colour and trifoliate.

The inflorescences are axillary or terminal, 15-35 cm long racemes. The flowers are arranged in pairs or solitary along the rachis, white to purple and typically papillonaceous. After the pollination from the flower come one pod. Pods could be slender, green, yellow, black or purple in colour, sometimes striped and contain 4 to 12 seeds. The seeds length

ranges from 0.5 to 2 cm long; different varieties have highly variability in colour: white, red, green, tan, purple, grey or black.

Kingdom	Plantae	
Subkingdom	Viridiplantae-green plant	
Infrakingdom	Streptophyta- land plants	
Superdivision	Embryophyta	
Division	Tracheophyta	
Subdivision	Spermatophytina	
Class	Magnoliopsida	
Superorder	Rosanae	
Order	Fabales	
Family	Fabaceae-peas, legumes	
Genus	Phaseolus Lbean	
Species	Phaseolus vulgaris	

Table 1.4 Taxonomic classification of P. vulgaris

Phaseolus vulgaris cultivation is also widespread throughout Italy and Sardinia.

To valorize our biodiversity, it has been selected nine uncommon Sardinian cultivars and one Italian cultivar as reported in Table 1.5.

Faita Sorgonese, Granino, Fasolu pintau, Fasolu, Fazadu Nieddu were collected by the Interdepartmental Centre for the Conservation and Enhancement of Plant Biodiversity (CBV) of the Sassari University, as part of a project that involved researching in numerous centers in Sardinia the bean varieties still cultivated in family vegetable gardens by elderly farmers.

C	Diana	C	Accession
Common name	Place	Source	number
Fasolu pintau	Sardinia, Sadali	CBV	ACC. 113
Fasolu	Sardinia, Belvì	CBV	ACC. 20
Pisu Grogo	Sardinia, Austis	LAORE	ACC. 152
Faitta a Cavanedda	Sardinia, Tiana	LAORE	ACC. 147
Faitta Sorgonese	Sardinia, Tiana	CBV	ACC. 1
Granino	Sardinia, Tempio	CBV	ACC. 28
Fazadu Nieddu	Sardinia, Pattada	CBV	ACC. 121
Bianco	Sardinia, Fluminimaggiore	AGRIS	ACC. 124
Nieddone	Sardinia, Ploaghe	AGRIS	ACC. 177
Lamon	Veneto, Belluno	Commercial	BBG-PV.1

Table 1.5 Specificities of P. vulgaris cultivars included in the study

Pisu grogu and Faita Cavanedda were instead collected by the Regional Agency for the implementation of agricultural and rural development programs (Laore).

The two cultivars Bianco di Fluminimaggiore and Nieddone were collected by the Regional Agency for Agricolture (Agris) within the project RISGENSAR.

All these cultivars came from small plots of land, they are rare and not yet characterized for their alpha amylase inhibitory activity.

Meanwhile, Lamon cultivar comes from Belluno province, and it is marketed as Lamon bean cultivar from the Belluno Valley. It is recorded with the mark Protected Geographical Indication (IGP) and represents the Italian commercial standard (http://www.fagiolodilamon.it/en/).



FASOLU





FAZADU NIEDDU



GRANINO



NIEDDONE



FASOLU PINTAU



PISU GROGO



FAITTA A CAVANEDDA



Figure 1.6 Samples of P. vulgaris cultivars

Maintaining these rare varieties and their degree of purity is possible thanks to the bean's autogamy [171], but the role of organizations that safeguard biodiversity is essential.

1.7 Aim of the work

Based on this evidence and on the data reported in literature the study is divided into two chapters.

The aim of Chapter 2 deals with the comparison among 10 P. vulgaris cultivars.

Firstly, an assay to quantify the activity of α -amylase and α -glucosidase enzyme has been developed. This method is used to make a comparison of the inhibitory power of the raw extract of the examined cultivar against α -amylase and α -glucosidase enzymes. Thus, the content in α -amylase and α -glucosidase inhibitors have been quantified and compared.

Then the hemagglutination power has been investigated to identify the most promising cultivars cultivars with lower antinutritional factors content.

The gene encoding for the α -amylase inhibitor was also and sequenced in all cultivars examined. The following subjects will be boarded in this section:

- identify phylogenetic relationship among cultivars,
- check whether mutations are present, how they affect inhibitory activity,
- improve the biodiversity knowledge about these poorly studied common bean cultivars.

A recently developed complexity-reduction quantum mechanical (QM-CR) approach, based on complexity reduction of density functional theory calculations, has been also employed to characterize biologically relevant intermolecular interactions and in particular between the α -amylase enzyme and α -AI.

In Chapter 3 the extraction and the purification of α -amylase inhibitor will be performed in the most promising cultivar(s).

Several extraction techniques are going to be evaluated and a purification protocol is going to be developed. The inhibitory activity of purified will tested on different amylase enzymes and α -glucosidase. After these steps the purified inhibitor is going to be characterized from a biochemical point of view. It is going to be evaluated its stability to different pH and temperature conditions and its kinetics.

All these experiments aim to identify the cultivar most promising to produce nutraceutical supplements. The commercial value of these cultivar could be increased thanks to these discoveries.

2. Biochemical and phylogenetic analysis of Italian *Phaseolus vulgaris* cultivars as sources of α amylase and α-glucosidase
inhibitors The increasing incidence of obesity and diabetes is defined as an epidemy by the World Health Organization [172]. The obesogenic environment of the modern society led to the spread of these health conditions [173]. Many therapeutic approaches have been proposed to tackle the spread of these diseases such as the improvement of physical exercise, the reduction of the carbohydrates in the diet, and the intake of food supplements and in particular of phytochemicals that could reduce the carbohydrates absorption [174]. Among the food supplements, some based on proteinaceous α -amylase inhibitors from common bean *P. vulgaris* are already present in commerce [166].

In this respect, 9 poorly studied common bean cultivars from Sardinia (Italy) are investigated for their inhibitory power against digestive enzymes, and their biological activity has been compared to a well-known commercial bean variety from Veneto (Italy): Lamon.

Moreover, to better understand the differences in the inhibitory activity, phylogenetic studies have been carried out on the inhibitor gene to reconstruct the aminoacidic sequence of the protein inhibitor from all cultivars.

2.1 Materials and methods

2.1.1 Chemicals

2-Chloro-4-nitrophenyl- α -D-maltotrioside (93834-100MG), *p*-nitrophenyl- α -D-glucopyranoside (487506-1GM), α -amylase from porcine pancreas (Type VI-B A3176-2.5MU), α -Glucosidase from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (Type I G5003-1KU) and α -amylase from *Bacillus licheniformis* (A4551-100MG) were purchased from Sigma-

Aldrich (Milan, Italy). All other reagents used were of the highest grade available, purchased from Sigma–Aldrich (Milan, Italy) and used without further purification.

2.1.2 Plant materials

The cultivars included in this study are part of a wider germplasm collection by the Sardinian Agricultural Agency (AGRIS, Cagliari, Italy), by the Regional Agency for the implementation of agricultural and rural development programs (LAORE) and in the Centre for the Conservation and Enhancement of Plant Biodiversity (CBV; Sassari; Italy). 9 common beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L) were included collected in all the region of Sardinia, mainly deriving from local small farms and differentiated by morphologic features (different shape, dimension and color), as shown in Table 1.5 and Figure 1.6. One Venetian commercial cultivar (Lamon) was also included in the work as a comparison model. Lamon was purchased from the local Consortium for the protection of the Protected Geographical Indication (http://www.fagiolodilamon.it/en/).

As an experimental positive control, a commercial food supplement was purchased from a local market. The supplement was based on a purified common bean extract. Each tablet contained 500 mg of extract and was processed using a similar protocol of *P. vulgaris* seeds.

2.1.3 Protein extraction

Legume seeds of the different cultivars were homogenized to a fine powdery flour in a blender. The flours were then immediately extracted and used for the extraction. Briefly, aliquots of 2 grams of flour were suspended in 10 mL Bis-Tris buffer pH 6.5 mM, NaCl 0.1 M; then stirred for 1 hour and centrifuged at 12000 rpm for 10 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was used to record biological activities.

Total proteins were measured by the method of Bradford, using bovine serum albumin as standard [175].

2.1.4 α–Amylase inhibition assays

Two α -amylase inhibitory activity assays were performed.

The first one was based on the determination of reducing sugars produced by α -amylase action using 3,5-dinitrosalicylic acid (DNS) [29]. A typical amylase assay mixture consists of 5 EU amylase enzyme and an adequate amount of sample in phosphate buffer (pH 6.9) in a final volume of 375 µL. After 10' at 37°C, the reaction was initiated by the addition of 125 µL of 1% soluble starch at 37°C. The reaction was stopped after 10 min by the addition of 250 µL 3,5-dinitrosalisylic acid (DNS) reagent [176]. After incubation in boiling water bath for 5 min, the contents of the test tubes were cooled and diluted 1:10 with distilled water. Absorbance of the mixture was measured at 540 nm using UV-vis spectrophotometer (UltroSpec 2100 pro, Amersham Bioscience, Milan, Italy), using proper controls in the absence of enzyme, sample, or substrate. The amylase inhibitory unit (IAU) was defined as the number of amylase units inhibited under the assay conditions.

The inhibition of α -amylase activity was also determined using 2-chloro-*p*-nitrophenyl- α -D-maltotrioside (CNP-G3), as previously described with minor modifications [177]. A reaction mix containing 250 mM sodium phosphate buffer at pH 6.5, NaCl 60 mM, CaCl₂ 5 mM, KSCN 500 mM, and 5 EU α -amylase from porcine pancreas (unless otherwise stated) was used. The solution was mixed and incubated in absence or presence of samples at 37°C for 10 min, in a final volume of 150 μ L. After incubation, 50 uL of a 9 mM CNP-G3 solution was added and the amount of 2-chloro-*p*-nitrophenol released by the enzymatic hydrolysis was monitored at 405 nm in microplate spectrophotometer UV/VIS MultiskanGo (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Monza, Italy). Proper negative controls were performed in the absence of enzyme, sample, or substrate. As a positive control, a commercial food supplement extract (based on *P. vulgaris*) was added in each analysis. One amylase E.U. was defined as the amount of enzyme capable of hydrolyze 1 μ mol of CNP-G3 per minute at pH 6.5 and 37°C (monitoring CNP formation, ϵ_{405} =14,580 M⁻¹ cm⁻¹).

The amylase inhibitory unit (IAU) was defined as the number of amylase units inhibited under the assay conditions.

2.1.5 α–Glucosidase inhibition assays

α-Glucosidase inhibition assay used the same experimental conditions of CNP-G3 protocol. The substrate used was 2.25 mM *p*-nitrophenyl-α-D-glucopyranoside (pNPG). One glucosidase E.U. was defined as the amount of enzyme capable of hydrolyze 1 µmol of pNPG per minute at pH 6.5 and 37°C (monitoring CNP formation, ε_{405} =14,580 M⁻¹ cm⁻¹).

The glucosidase inhibitory unit (IGU) was defined as the number of glucosidase units inhibited under the assay conditions. Proper negative controls were performed in the absence of enzyme, sample, or substrate. As a positive control, a commercial food supplement extract (based on *P. vulgaris*) was added in each analysis.

2.1.6 Hemagglutination assay

Human blood 2 mL was centrifuged at 2000 g for 3.5 minutes, supernatant was discarded, and the cell pellet was washed three times with PBS buffer (137 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 8 mM Na₂HPO₄, 1.5 mM KH₂PO₄, pH 7.4). Red blood cells (RBC) pellet was suspended

to 50% (v/v) with PBS buffer, stabilized with 0.01% sodium azide and stored at 4°C. The life span of RBC was up to three weeks.

One aliquot of RBC 10% was prepared, and each raw extract was used at different serial dilutions (pure, $\frac{1}{2}$, $\frac{1}{4}$, $\frac{1}{8}$, $\frac{1}{16}$...as far as $\frac{1}{512}$.)

For each combination of RBC 10% and protein concentration, the RBC sample was pipetted onto a glass microscopy slide and mixed in a 10 μ L:10 μ L ratio with the protein solution. The mixture was incubated for 5 minutes and observed by light microscopy (Digital Microscope Olympus BX81 (Olympus, Segrate, Italy). Images were captured with a charge-coupled device camera (Cohu, San Diego, CA, USA). Control samples were used by mixing 10 μ Lof the erythrocyte suspension with 10 μ L of the PBS buffer was incubated with RBC. The degree of the agglutination was recorded in terms: no agglutination, negative reactions appeared as unchanged cloudy suspension; several large aggregates, visible aggregation of particles was seen in case of positive reaction.

In case of negative agglutination after 5 minutes, the incubation was extended up to one hour.

Results are expressed as the Minimum protein Concentration able to Agglutinate sample (MAC, mg/mL).

2.1.7 Statistical analysis

GraFit 7 (Erithacus Software, London, United Kingdom), R 2.5.1 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) and GraphPad INSTAT (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA) were used for data analysis. One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and the Bonferroni multiple comparison test were used to assess the statistical significance of the differences. All the analyses were performed at least in triplicate (unless otherwise stated), and the data are reported as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM).

2.1.8 Biomolecular Assay: plant materials

Phaseolus vulgaris leaves obtained from the seeds described above were the starting material for biomolecular experiments on RNA. The tissue was treated with liquid nitrogen to obtain a thin powder and subsequently frozen and stored at -80 °C until use.

2.1.9 RNA extraction and reverse transcription

All the chemicals used in this study were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Merck Group, Milan, Italy) and were used without further purification. For the purification of total RNAs and PCR products, specific commercial kits were used as described below.

P. vulgaris leaves were the starting material for biomolecular experiments on RNA. The tissue was treated with liquid nitrogen to obtain a thin powder and subsequently frozen and stored at -80 °C until use.

As previously described [178] isolation of RNA from *P. vulgaris* and RT-PCR Total RNA was extracted from the leaves previously treated with liquid nitrogen using TRI Reagent (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA), following the manufacturer's suggested protocol. The quality of purified RNA was verified by gel electrophoresis using a 1% denaturing agarose gel stained with SYBR Green II (Sigma-Aldrich), and the concentrations were measured using a NanoDrop 2000c UV-VIS Spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) at 260 nm. To obtain cDNAs, RNAs were reverse transcribed with

an oligo dT primer using an enhanced avian myeloblastosis virus reverse transcriptase enzyme (Sigma-Aldrich), following the manufacturer's recommendations.

Genomic DNA was isolated from freeze-dried plant samples using the Plant & Fungi DNA Purification Kit (EURx, Poland) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The quality and quantity of the DNA were determined spectrophotometrically using a NanoDrop instrument.

2.1.10 PCR-CODEHOP Strategy

The CODEHOP (Consensus Degenerate Hybrid Oligonucleotide Primer) strategy consists of a method aimed at designing primers for PCR amplification of unknown gene sequences coding for proteins which have conserved important functional domains during evolution [179]. This is a strategy which, despite being developed for molecular phylogeny studies, is successfully used for the identification of unknown genes, coding for proteins with a sufficiently conserved structure. In accordance with the meaning of the acronym CODEHOP, the primers used in this methodology partially hybrids consisting of a non-degenerate 5' portion called clamp of about 18-25 nucleotides, and a 3'-OH degenerate portion called core of about 10-12 nucleotides. The primers are designed starting from the alignment of proteins of interest, expressed in different organisms, even if not phylogenetically related. The amino acid sequences are aligned with the Clustal Omega program (http://www.ebi.ac.uk/clustalo) which shows the degree of homology existing among the species considered.

CAD28835.1 CAH60260.1 CAH60259.1	MASSKLLSLALFLALLSHANSATETSFIIDAFNKTNLILQGDATVSSNGNLQLSYNSYDS 60 MASSKLLSLALFLVLLTLANSATETSFNIDGFNKTNLILQGDAIVSSNGNLQLSYNSYDS 60 MASSKLLSLALFLVLLTLANSATETSFNIDGFNKTNLILQGDAIVSSNGNLQLSYNSYDS 60 ************************************)))
	$F1 \rightarrow F2 \rightarrow$	
CAD28835.1	MSRAFYSAPIRIRDSTTGNVASFDTNFTMNIRTHRQANSAVGLDFVLVPVQPESKGDTVT12	20
CAH60260.1	MSRAFYSAPIQIRDST TGNVASFDTNFTM NIRTHRQANSAVGLDFVLVPVQPKSKGDTVT	20
CAH60259.1	MSRAFYSAPIQIRDST TGNVATFDTNFTM NIRTHRQANSAVGLDFVLVPVQPKF KGDTVT 12	20

	\rightarrow	
CAD28835.1	VEFDTFLSRISIDVNNNDIESVPWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGKSN 18	30
CAH60260.1	VEFDTFLSRISIDV <u>NNNDIKSVPWDVH</u> DYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFAVSLSNPSTGKSN18	30
CAH60259.1	VEFDT LSRISIDVNNNDIKSVPWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVLAVSLLNPSTGKSN 18	30

	$\leftarrow R1 \qquad \leftarrow R2$	
CAD28835.1	NVSTTVELEKEVYDWVSVGFSATSGAYQWSYETHDVLSWSFSSKFINLKDQKSERSNIVL24	10
CAH60260.1	NVSTTVELEKEVYDWVSVGFSATSGAYQWSYETHDVLSWSFSSKFINLKDQKSERSNIVL24	10
CAH60259.1	NVSTTVELEKE VYDWVSVGFSATS GAYQWSYETHDVLSWSFSSKFINLKDQKSERSNIVL24	10

CAROLOGE 1		
CAD28835.1	NKLL Z44	
CAH60260.1	NKIL 244	
CAH60259.1	NKIL 244	
	* * * *	

Figure 2.1. Multiple alignment of α -Al amino acids sequences from three different Phaseolus sources. The sequences were chosen from the GenBank SwissProt database and aligned using Clustal Omega (https://www.ebi.ac.uk/Tools/msa/clustalo/). The figure shows the alignments on which the CODEHOP primers have been designed. An asterisk (*) denotes identical residues; double dots (:) represent a conserved residue substitution; a single dot (.) shows partial conservation of the residue. The arrow above the amino acid sequences indicates the position of the sense (F \rightarrow) and antisense (\leftarrow R) primers chosen from a group of candidate primers obtained from the CODEHOP program. The amino acid sequences chosen by the CODEHOP program for the design of the primers are in bold inside the boxes.

alignment (Figure 2.1), the sequences were pasted into a block of the motif finders using the EMBL-EBI search and sequence analysis tools [180]. The primers were designed using the default parameters of the j-CODEHOP server (https://4virology.net/virologyca-tools/j-codehop/). The primers for the amplification of *P. vulgaris* cultivars α -AI cDNAs were chosen from a group of primer candidates provided by the j-CODEHOP programme (Table 2.1). Briefly, the first fragment of partial α-AI cDNA was obtained using the sense primer F2 (5'-GCTGGTGCCCGTGCAGCCCAAGTCCaarggngayac-3') association R2 (5'in with the antisense primer TCAGCACGATGTTGGACCGCTCGGAyttytgrtcytt-3') (Figure 2.1).

CODEHOP Sequences	Comments

5'-CGGCAACGTGGCCACCTTCGACACCaayttyacnat-3'	F1 sense primer designed on the conserved peptide TGNVASFDTNFTM
5'-GCTGGTGCCCGTGCAGCCCAAGTCCaarggngayac-3'	F2 sense primer designed on the conserved peptide KGDTVTVEFDT
5'-AGGTGGCGGAGAAGCCCACGGACACccartertanae-3'	R1 antisense primer designed on the conserved peptide VYDWVSVGFSATS

Table 2.1 CODEHOP oligonucleotides used in PCR experiments and peptides chosen by the CODEHOP programme for the design of the primers

Each primer presents the consensus clamp given in upper case whereas the degenerate core is in lower case: y = [C,T]; r = [A,G], and n = [A,G,C,T]. PCR was performed in a solution containing 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 100 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.3, 50 mM KCl, 200mM dNTP mix, 1 mM sense primer, 1mM antisense primer, 1µg of cDNA, and 1-3 units of Jump Start AccuTaq LA DNA polymerase mix (Sigma-Aldrich). Thermal cycles of amplification were carried out in a Personal Eppendorf Mastercycler (Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany) using slightly different programs. The CODEHOP cDNA PCR products with the expected sizes were purified with a Charge Switch PCR Clean-Up kit (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) and then sequenced.

2.1.11 cDNA Sequencing and Analysis.

cDNA sequencing was performed by Bio-Fab Research (Rome, Italy). Nucleotide and deduced amino acid sequence analyses were performed by means of freeware programs. Translation of nucleotide sequences was performed using the ExPASy translate routine software (http://ca.expasy.org/). Similarities were analysed with the advanced BLAST algorithm, available at the National Center for Biotechnology Information website (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/), and with the FASTA algorithm version 3.0 from the

European Bioinformatics Institute website (http://www.ebi.ac.uk/fasta33/index). Sequences were aligned with Clustal Omega.

2.1.12 Amino Acid Pattern and Profile Search

Potential N-glycosylation sites

For the detection of potential N-glycosylation sites, we used the tool *NetNGlyc* (https://services.healthtech.dtu.dk/service.php?NetNGlyc-1.0). The tool considers that *N*-glycosylation is known to occur on asparagines which are localized in the Asn-Xaa-Ser/Thr stretch (where Xaa is any amino acid except proline). While this consensus tripeptide (also called *N*-glycosylation sequon) may be a requirement, it is not always sufficient for the asparagine to be glycosylated [181]. *NetNGlyc* attempts to distinguish glycosylated sequons from *N*- non-glycosylated ones. By default, predictions are only shown on Asn-Xaa-Ser/Thr sequons. The tool gives threshold and confidence values important for interpreting the results. Any potential crossing the default threshold of 0.5, represents a predicted glycosylated site. The potential score obtained is the averaged output of nine neural networks.

Potential Protein Kinase Phosphorylation Sites

For the detection of potential kinase phosphorylation sites, we used the tool *NetPhas-3.1* (<u>https://services.healthtech.dtu.dk/service.php?NetPhos-3.1</u>). The tool predicts serine, threonine or tyrosine phosphorylation sites in eukaryotic proteins using ensembles of neural networks by default the server predicts phosphorylation sites for all serine, threonine, and tyrosine residues in the input sequences, displays all the predictions made for each such residue and generates graphical output illustrating the results [182].

2.1.13 GenBank Accession Numbers

The *P. vulgaris* cultivars α -AI gene sequences obtained in this study have been deposited in NCBI GenBank. as shown in Table 2.2.

2.1.14 Phylogenetic tree construction

The α -AIs partial cDNA sequences were submitted to phylogenetic analysis. The phylogenetic tree was constructed using the Mega 11 tool [183]. The evolutionary history was inferred using the Neighbor-Joining method [184]. The bootstrap consensus tree inferred from 500 replicates is taken to represent the evolutionary history of the taxa analysed [185]. Branches corresponding to partitions reproduced in less than 50% bootstrap replicates are collapsed. The percentage of replicate trees in which the associated taxa clustered together in the bootstrap test (500 replicates) are shown next to the branches. The consistency of the inferred phylogenetic tree was evaluated with bootstrap analysis of 500 replications.

Cultivar name and accession code	GenBank accession number	Gene name	Protein name
Faitta Sorgonese (ACC1)	OP779318	pv1-α-AI	ΡV1-α-ΑΙ
Fasolu (ACC20)	OP441067	pv20-α-AI	PV20-α-AI
Granino (ACC28)	OP329712	pv28-α-AI	PV28-α-AI
Fasolu Pintau (ACC113)	OP441066	pv113-α-AI	PV113-α-AI
Fazzadu Nieddu (ACC121)	OP441070	pv121-α-AI	PV121-α-AI
Bianco di Flumini (ACC124)	OP441071	pv124-α-AI	PV124-α-AI
Faitta a Cavanedda (ACC147)	OP441069	pv147-α-AI	PV147-α-AI

Pisu Grogu (ACC152)	OP441068	pv152-α-AI	PV152-α-AI
Nieddone (ACC177)	OP530245	pv177-α-AI	PV177-α-AI
Lamon	OP441072	Pv-lam-α-AI	PV-LAM-α- AI

Table 2.2: Cultivar names (with accession code), Genebank accession numbers, genes, and protein names.

2.1.15 Secondary structures prediction

The partial amino acid sequences coding for α -AI of each cultivar was subjected to secondary protein structure prediction by using Chou-Fasman method [186]. The tool used was available at http://cib.cf.ocha.ac.jp/bitool/MIX/.

2.1.16 Complexity-reduction quantum mechanical calculation

It was applied a recently developed approach for large-scale electronic structure calculations: complexity reduction in density functional theory (DFT) calculations [187,188], hereafter called complexity-reduction quantum mechanical QM-CR. This approach could allow to study and define protein/protein interactions, thus highlighting α -AI hotspots necessary for its inhibitory activity.

QM-CR differs from previous approaches in requiring no targeted parameterization or prior knowledge about the nature or sites of interactions, and it is based on full QM calculations on the entire system.

QM-CR leverages recent progress in computational chemistry [189] to handle tens of thousands of atoms in a single simulation. This enables us to capture and investigate biological processes involving several hundreds of amino acids.

Importantly, QM-CR can reveal the mechanisms behind intermolecular binding by decomposing interactions into chemical/short-ranged (which imply a shared electron) versus electrostatic/long-ranged (which do not involve shared electrons). We define as "hotspots" amino acids with a significant chemical contribution to the intermolecular interactions.

It was employed the BigDFT computer program [190] based on an ab initio DFT approach on a set of fully atomistic 3D structural models, to simulate intermolecular interactions of interest with a computational cost manageable on modern supercomputers. The approach employs the formalism of Daubechies wavelets to express the electronic structure of the assemblies in the framework of the Kohn–Sham (KS) formalism of DFT [190]. The electronic structure is expressed, by both the density matrix and the Hamiltonian operator, in an underlying basis set of support functions—a set of localized functions adapted to the chemical environment of the system.

The code provides efficient and accurate QM results for full systems of large sizes, delivering excellent performance on massively parallel supercomputers.

In the present study, it was employed the PBE approximation corrected by dispersion D3 correction terms [191] and Hartwigsen-Goedecker-Hutter (HGH) pseudopotentials [192]. Crystallographic structures are obtained from the RCSB database (RCSB PDB. [accessed 2021 Oct 23]. https://www.rcsb.org/) using PDB entries 1bvn, 1dhk and 1b2y.

The CheSS library [193] has been employed to calculate the system's density matrix. The calculations were performed at the gas phase showing the interaction energies at interface residues.

Starting from a representative 3D model of the molecules as our input, we calculate the system's electronic structure, from which we extract various quantities. We draw a contact
network to identify relevant chemical interactions among the spike RBD and the various interactors considered in this study. The strength of the inter-residue interaction is quantified by the "Fragment Bond Order" (FBO), a quasi-observable computed directly from the density matrix. More detailed description of this quantity can be found in literature. [194] The interaction is calculated using the electronic structure of the system in proximity of a given residue.

Protonation of histidines and other titratable residues is assigned a pH of 7, based on the PDBFixer tool in OpenMM (OpenMM. [accessed 2021 Oct 23]. https://openmm.org/ - GitHub—openmm/pdbfixer: PDBFixer fixes problems in PDB files. [accessed 2021 Nov 27]. https://github.com/openmm/pdbfixer).

This approach has been previously described in detail [187] and the main concepts and quantities constituting the model can be summarized as follows:

- Electron density: The distribution of electrons in a given molecular system. The electron density determines the nature and strength of the chemical bonds between interacting molecules. Such an "electron cloud" is the main emerging property of the underlying atomic structure in defining the chemical characteristics of a molecule.
- **Fragment:** The modular elements into which the electron cloud can be partitioned, for example, an amino acid. The model partitions the electron cloud into physically consistent regions and/or verifies the consistency of a pre-defined partitioning; every such region is defined as a fragment.

- **FBO:** The descriptor of the inter-fragment interactions. FBO is the main quantity used in the model to represent the connection pattern of the fragments of interacting molecules.
- **Fragment interactions:** From the results of the model and the features of the fragments it is then possible to calculate the interaction strength between any two fragments. Such interaction has both a chemical/short-range term that is always attractive, and an electrostatic/long-range term that can be attractive or repulsive.
- Final output: At the end of the simulation, BigDFT provides a simple representation of the strength of interaction between fragments of the two molecules. The model can describe the energy and nature of the acting chemical bonds. This enables a mechanistic explanation and/or prediction of how a specific amino acid impacts the interactions with Alpha-amylase and vice-versa.
- Hardware requirements: The model requires massively parallel calculations via high performance computing. On a modern supercomputer, hundreds of simulations can be performed in a time frame of one hour.

2.2 Results and discussion

Based on the growing need to find new plant-based bioactive compound useful in the treatment of obesity and diabetes, 10 *P. vulgaris* cultivars have been tested for their inhibitory activities against digestive enzymes and for the presence of anti-nutritional factors.

Many enzymes are involved in the carbohydrate digestion. Before to be absorbed in the last intestinal tract, starch is hydrolyzed by a combination of salivary and pancreatic α -amylase and α -glucosidase [195]. Their role in the increasing of post prandial glucose can be reduced by a series of molecules including the protein α -AI. Various studies indicate the positive role of α -AI extract from *P. vulgaris* in antidiabetic and anti-obesity treatments [166].

In order to assess the inhibitory activity of the cultivar's extracts, it is first necessary to identify a method that allows to record the activity of these enzymes and then quantify the inhibitory activity.

Instead, the presence of antinutritional factors, such as lectins, is an undesirable condition. It is therefore necessary to carry out a screening of all cultivars to choose the starting materials to produce new nutraceutical ingredients for the treatment of obesity and diabetes.

Moreover, since the sequences and structural features of α -AI proteins are important to better understand the details of the inhibition process, our research objective was to construct partial structural models for ten cultivars of *P. vulgaris* α -AI.

Using sequence and structure information available in gene databases, the aminoacidic sequences are partially reconstructed. Such models, together with mechanistic

75

characterization could help to gain insight into these inhibitors and their interactions with α -amylase enzyme.

2.2.1 Development of an assay to quantify α -amylase and α -glucosidase activity

Several methods employing different techniques have been used to assess α -amylase activity. In most of studies reviewed it was measured by quantifying the reducing sugar in accordance with Bernfeld assay [29,30,50,63,80,196]. Usually, an appropriate blank was prepared without α -amylase.

An extra control with α -amylase without the substrate starch has unfortunately evidenced an important background signal (Figure 2.2).



Figure 2.2: Graphical representation of α -amylase activity recorded with DNS assay.

This phenomenon is correlated to the contamination of commercial preparation of porcine pancreatic α -amylase (Type VI-B A3176-2.5MU-SIGMA) with lactose added as preservative. This finding suggests the need to perform a further blank control with amylase before proceeding to quantify its activity or to pay particular attention to the

composition of the used enzyme. However, this blank presents a too high absorbance, affecting precision and sensibility of the measurements.

The commercial α -amylase was even dialyzed (data not shown), but this procedure was not effective, greatly affecting the stability of the enzyme.

Thus, the presence of lactose led to discard this assay even though this is one of the most widely used assay in literature.

Therefore the method chosen for the quantification of α -amylase activity was 2-chloro-4-nitrophenyl- α -D-maltotrioside (CNP-G3) assay in accordance with literature [197,198].

In this synthetic substrate a maltotriose (G3) is substituted at the reducing end with a 2chloro-4-nitrophenol. The enzyme hydrolyzes CNP-G3 to release 2-chloro-4-nitrophenol (CNP), maltotriose (G3), 2-chloro-4-nitrophenyl- α -D-maltoside (CNP-G2), and glucose (Figure 2.3). This suggests a multi-splitting site attack. The hydrolytic cleavage can occur at the bond both between G3 and aglycone CNP, and between CNP-G2 and G.

The formation of CNP can be monitored at 405 nm reflecting amylase activity. As previously suggested, potassium thiocyanate (KSCN) was added to increases the rates of CNP-release [177].



Figure 2.3 Reaction scheme of the hydrolysis of CNP-G3 by α -amylase enzyme

This spectrophotometric method is quite more expensive than DNS one, but it allows a negligible background interference (data not shown). To ensure stability and durability,

the amylase enzyme was suspended in 50% glycerol. As shown in Figure 2.4, this assay gave a great reproducibility and a large linear range up to 30'. To validate the assay, an extract from a food supplement based on common bead seeds was analysed as a positive control, resulting in 882 ± 43 IAU/g of dry extract.



Figure 2.4: Time-dependent increase in absorbance at 405 nm during CNP hydrolysis by different amount of α -amylase.

To quantify α -glucosidase activity a similar synthetic substrate was used: *p*-nitrophenyl- α -D-glucopyranoside (pNPG). In this case, no incubation time was required before the substrate was added.

2.2.2 α –Amylase and α -glucosidase inhibitory activity: a comparison among cultivars

Considering the role of α -amylase and α -glucosidase enzymes in sugar absorption, the presence of α - amylase and α -glucosidase inhibitory activities is a desirable condition in a vegetable extract.

The comparison of raw extract of the examined cultivars indicated that eight out of ten inhibit α -amylase porcine pancreatic enzyme, as shown in Figure 2.5 a). Three varieties, Fazadu Nieddu, Nieddone and Bianco have the highest inhibitory activity (respectively 351 ± 19 , 356 ± 26 , 376 ± 12 IAU/g) while two cultivars Fasolu Piantau and Faitta a Cavanedda have not α -AI inhibitor activity (Table 2.3). These last ones have not inhibitory activity also on human salivary α -amylase, as shown in Figure 2.5 b). Instead, the highest inhibitory power against human salivary were recorded in Fasolu, Faitta Sorgonese and Fazadu Nieddu (respectively 196 ± 5 , 185 ± 30 , $170 \pm 3IAU/g$) (Table 2.3).

The lack of inhibitory activity in Faitta a Cavanedda and Fasolu Piantau resulting in not suitable starting material to produce commercial supplements.

The α -glucosidase inhibitor activity was recorded in all cultivars. (Figure 2.6). Fasolu, Fazadu Nieddu and Bianco have the highest amount of inhibitory activity (respectively 182 ± 21 , 118 ± 19 , 108 ± 18 IGU/g) with significant differences reported.



Figure 2.5: α -amylase inhibitory activity of the 10 cultivars raw extract on porcine amylase (2.4a) and on human amylase (2.4b).



Figure 2.6: α -glucosidase inhibitory activity of the 10 cultivars raw extract on S. cerevisiae glucosidase.

No significant correlation has been observed between the inhibitory activity of porcine α amylase and α -glucosidase (p>0.05; r=0.31). This aspect is confirmed by the presence of α -glucosidase inhibitory activity in the two cultivars without α -AI. As previously suggested different classes of compounds could be involved in the inactivation of α -AI/ α glucosidase inhibitors [32].

The red colour prevails in cultivars with the low inhibitory activity against porcine and human α -amylase (Lamon and Pisu Grogu) and in the cultivars without inhibitory activity (Fasolu Pintau and Faitta a Cavanedda), but the lowest values were recorded in lightcoloured cultivar (Fasolu against porcine pancreatic α -amylase and Bianco against human α -amylase) in accordance with what previously observed [32].

Otherwise, in our work no evident correlation with the seed colour and the inhibitory activity can be observed: in fact, for instance the light-coloured cultivar Bianco showed low inhibitory activity against human α -amylase but high activity against porcine pancreatic α -amylase.

On the contrary Fasolu, that had the lowest inhibitory activity against porcine α -amylase shows the highest activity against human α -amylase. The other cultivar with high inhibitory activity against porcine α -amylase (Nieddone) is black coloured.

Cultivar	Porcine amylase	Human amylase	S. <i>cerevisiae</i> glucosidase	Total proteins
	IAU/g		IGU/g	(mg/g)
Fazadu Nieddu	351 ± 19^{a}	170 ± 3^{a}	$118 \pm 19^{a,b}$	25.8 ± 1.6^{a}
Bianco	376 ± 12^{a}	79 ± 6^c	$108 \pm 18^{a,b}$	35.4 ± 1.7^{a}
Nieddone	356 ± 26^a	$156\pm 6^{a,b}$	66 ± 11^{b}	33.3 ± 3.8^a
Granino	339 ± 33^a	$146\pm31^{a,b}$	76 ± 8^{b}	24.2 ± 2.4^{a}
Lamon	317 ± 17^a	$106\pm 6^{b,c}$	$97\pm12^{a,b}$	26.7 ± 1.0^{a}
Fasolu	287 ± 27^a	196 ± 5^a	182 ± 21^a	22.5 ± 3.0^{a}
Fasolu Pintau	n.d.	n.d.	$76\pm10^{a,b}$	21.9 ± 2.6^{a}
Pisu Grogu	320 ± 40^a	$115\pm12^{b,c}$	$83\pm13^{a,b}$	23.2 ± 2.9^{a}
Faitta Sorgonese	335 ± 30^a	185 ± 30^{a}	$71\pm22^{a,b}$	24.6 ± 2.9^{a}
Faitta a	n.d.	n.d.	55 ± 5^{b}	31.0 ± 5.4^{a}
Cavanedda				

Table 2.3: Inhibitory activity of examined extract on α -amylase, α -glucosidase, and the total protein content of raw extracts. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM (n =5). Mean values for the same analysis having different letters are significantly different (p<0.05; One–way ANOVA followed by the Bonferroni Multiple Comparisons Test). n.d. not detectable.

On the other hand, the other cultivars with great inhibitory activity against human α amylase (Faitta Sorgonese and Fazadu Nieddu) are white and spot white/black coloured. More investigation are anyway needed to verify if the colour of the outer seed tegument influenced the inhibitory activity, but an earlier study seems to confirm the absence of correlation [148]

The content of total proteins ranges from 21.9 ± 2.6 mg/g in Fasolu Pintau to 35.4 ± 1.7 mg/g in Bianco (Table 2.3). This variability could be related to genetic diversity or different agro-tecniques and different *P. vulgaris* growing conditions.

No correlation was found between the total content of protein and the inhibition of α amylases and α -glucosidase (p > 0.05, 0.04 < r < 0.16) in accordance with what observed with other bean cultivars [32]. But it is interesting that without Faitta a Cavanedda and Fasolu Pintau zero values, a correlation between total protein and porcine α -amylase inhibition occurs (p < 0.05, r = 0.79, Figure 2.7). The other p values remained greatly above 0.05.



Figure 2.7 Correlation between total protein content and α -AI activity without zero values (p < 0.05, r = 0.79)

The presence of α -amylase inhibition activity has been reported in different common bean varieties: Pinto cv [199], white bean [200], and red kidney bean [201], but up to now no

studies had been yet conducted on the inhibitory power of extracts of theses Sardinian varieties. Other Mediterranean and southern Italian common bean cultivars have been studied for their action on digestive enzymes and for the role of polyphenol content in the inhibition of α -amylase and α -glucosidase [32,202].

The content of polyphenols and their inhibitory power on α -amylase and α -glucosidase was investigated also on Mexican and Brazilian cultivar, on cranberry beans, and on black turtle beans.[45,203,204].

On the contrary the leaves extract from Chilean bean landraces has only α -glucosidase inhibitory [205]. High variability in α -AI activity was recorded also for Indian common bean cultivar [206], in a sort of agreement with our data.

In this respect, the study of polyphenol content in Sardinian beans will be useful for a better characterisation of Sardinian cultivars (even if the focus of the present study has been limited to activity from protein inhibitors).

2.2.3 Hemagglutination activity

Hemagglutinins belong to the lectin family, a heterogeneous group of glycoproteins resistant to the intestinal proteolysis that agglutinated blood cells [207]. These proteins are contained in raw beans but their activity can be eliminated by heat temperature [141]. Since common beans are usually consumed after cooking no side effects occur after their ingestion.

However, it is necessary to pay particular attention on the residual lectins activity present in food supplements [208]. In this respect, there is a clear interest to identify cultivars with low hemagglutination power. With this aim, human red blood cells agglutination has been performed with serial dilutions of our extracts, identifying the minimum dilution able to still agglutinate cells (MAC).

Previous studies have shown that lectins from the family *Fabaceae* usually cause agglutination. Three plant species, *Pisum sativum*, *Phaseolus vulgaris*, and *Glycine max*, caused agglutination of erythrocytes from all blood groups [206].

All screened cultivars tested in this study had hemagglutinin activity even with significant dilution (average value 12.5 mg/mL). Only Nieddone showed no activity even at the highest concentration tested, 200 mg/mL (Table 2.4) and Figure 2.8.

Cultivar	MAC (mg/mL)	
Fazadu Nieddu	12.5	
Bianco	6.25	
Nieddone	>200	
Granino	12.5	
Lamon	12.5	
Fasolu	25	
Fasolu Pintau	6.25	
Pisu Grogu	12.5	
Faitta Sorgonese	12.5	
Faitta a Cavanedda	12.5	

Table 2.4: Hemagglutination activity recorded in 10 common bean cultivars Results are expressed as the Minimum protein Concentration able to Agglutinate sample (MAC, mg/mL).



Fig. 2.8: a) Different agglutination degree; b) Negative control (no agglutination); c) several large aggregates (Lamon cv).

This desirable condition is reported also for other *P. vulgaris* cultivars: Great Northern [32] Tapiramo and Mottled bean [209].

Other seeds from members of *Fabaceae* family have no hemagglutination activity such as *Arachis hypogea* [210]. Particular attention must be paid to the case of *Glycine max*. In fact, the hemagglutination activity was recorded in soybean by some authors [209,210], but not by others [32]. This discrepancy could be related to the different soybean cultivar investigated.

Typically only white common beans extract are used for commercial supplements [38,211] and previous study have found that the coloured common beans had the highest hemagglutination power [81]. However, the data here reported show that also black coloured beans may have not this antinutritional factors.

The absence of hemagglutination power, the presence of α -AI/ α -glucosidase inhibitors makes Nieddone the most interesting cultivar as starting material to produce food

85

supplements or commercial product (snack or cream) lectin-free in accordance with what suggested by other studies [212].

2.3 Molecular results

The molecular results obtained, as well as contributing to the enlargement of the genetic information of this plant, put a new piece in the puzzle of the knowledge of the primary structure of α -AI protein, through the isolation, in all ten cultivars analysed, of the transcript coding for the β -subunit of the protein.

2.3.1 PCR analysis of cDNA obtained from *P. vulgaris* cultivars

Exploiting the high amino acid sequence homology among α -AIs proteins of the genus *Phaseolus*, we designed partially degenerate primer pairs using the CODEHOP bioinformatics program. Using the pairs of primers available on cDNAs, we obtained sequenceable fragment which allowed us to reconstruct part of the nucleotide sequence of α -AI gene of each cultivar. We have reconstructed about 70% of the entire nucleotide sequence of the pv28- α -AI cultivar and about 30% of the other 9 cultivars. The nucleotide sequences obtained, compared with those deposited in the NCBI GenBank and in the EMBL-EBI database (https://www.ebi.ac.uk/), showed a high degree of similarity with several plant α -AIs sequences. The greatest degree of similarity emerged from the alignment with *P. vulgaris* α -AI-1 (accession No. CAD28835) and *P. vulgaris* α -AI-4 (accession No U84390.1) isoforms. Once in silico translation of the nucleotide sequence into amino acid, the primary structure obtained for each cultivar was aligned with the proteins deposited in the UniProt database (https://www.uniprot.org/uniprotkb/) obtaining, as result, a homology with the β -subunit of α -AI-1(accession No P02873.1)

and α-AI-4 (accession No AAB42070.1) of *P. vulgaris* (Figure 2.9).

As shown in Figure 2.9, PV28- α -AI was the protein from which we deduced most of the information on the primary structure having obtained 152 amino acids. Its sequence aligns from amino acid 91 to amino acid 243 of P02873 α -AI-1 and from amino acid 89 to amino acid 241 of AAB42070.1 α -AI-4 isoform (the numbering refers to the preprotein). As regards the other nine proteins we obtained 77 amino acids of the whole sequence of α -AI. Eight of the ten sequences (i.e. all with the exception of PV20- α -AI and PV152- α -AI), align from amino acid 129 to amino acid 205 of P02873 α -AI-1 protein and from amino acid 127 to amino acid 203 of AAB42070.1 α -AI-4 isoform. Specifically, for the proteins PV177- α -AI, PV147- α -AI, PV124- α -AI, PV121- α -AI, PV113- α -AI, PV1- α -AI and PV-LAM- α -AI we obtained primary structures that showed very high sequence identity compared with β subunit of α -AI-1 (94%) and α -AI-4 (89%) of *P. vulgaris* isoforms (Figures 2.10 A and B), while for PV152- α -AI and PV20- α -AI the highest homology value was less than 50%.

	[signal peptidelv[& subunit
P02873.1-alpha-AI-1 AAB42070.1-alpha-AI-4 Granino-ACC28-(0P329712)	MIMASSKLISLALFLALLSHANSATETSFIIDAFNKTNLILQGDATVSSNGNLQLSYNSY MASSNLISLALFLVLITHANSATETSFIIDAFNKTNLILQGDATVSSNGNLQLSHNSY MASSNLISLALFLVLITHANSATETSFIIDAFNKTNLILQGDATVSSNGNLQLSHNSY
Pisu-Grogu-ACC152-(OP441068)	
Fasolu-ACC20-(OP441067)	
Bianco-ACC124-(0P441071)	
Lamon-(OP441072)	
Fazzadu-a-Nieddu-Accizi-(0P441070)	
Fasolu-Pintau-ACC113-(0P441066)	
Faitta-Sorgonese-ACC1-(OP779318)	
Faitta-a-Cavanedda-ACC147-(OP441069)	
	β subunit
P02873.1-alpha-AI-1	↓ DSMSRAFYSAPIOIRDSTTGNVASFDTNFTMNIRTHROANSAVGLDFVLVPVQPESKGDT
AAB42070.1-alpha-AI-4	DSMSRAFYSAPIQIRDSTTGNVASFDSNFTMNIRTHRQANSAVGLDFVLVPVQPESKGDT
Granino-ACC28-(OP329712)	LIFRTHRQANSAVGLDFVLVPVQPESKGDT
Pisu-Grogu-ACC152-(OP441068)	
Fasolu-ACC20-(0P441067)	
Bianco-ACC124-(0P441071)	
Earzadu-a-Nieddu-ACC121-(OP441070)	
Nieddone-ACC177- (0P530245)	
Fasolu-Pintau-ACC113-(0P441066)	
Faitta-Sorgonese-ACC1-(OP779318)	
Faitta-a-Cavanedda-ACC147-(OP441069)	
P02873.1-alpha-AI-1	VTVEFDTFLSRISIDVNNNDIKSVPWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGK
AAB42070.1-alpha-A1-4	VIVEFDIFLSRVSIDVNNNDIRSVPWDVHDIDGQNAEVRIIINSSIRVFSVSLSNPSIER
Pisu-Grogu-ACC152-(0P441068)	LSRISIDVNNNDIKSVPWDVHDIDGQNAEVKIIINSSIKVFSVSLSNFSIGK
Fasolu-ACC20-(0P441067)	LSRISIDVNNNDIKSVPWEYTTTTDKTPRFGSPITPPRRSSRFLCQTLLRER
Bianco-ACC124-(OP441071)	LSRISIDVNNNDIKSVPWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFAVSLLNPSTGK
Lamon-(OP441072)	LSRISIDVNNNDIKSVPWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGK
Fazzadu-a-Nieddu-ACC121-(OP441070)	LSRISIDVNNNDIKSVPWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGK
Nieddone-ACC177-(OP530245)	LSRISIDVNNNDIKSVPWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFAVSLLNPSTGK
Fasolu-Pintau-ACCII3-(0P441066)	
Faitta-a-Cavanedda-ACC147-(0P441069)	ISRISIDVNNNDIKSKAWDVNDIDGQNAEVRIIINSSIKVFSVSISNPSIGK
	:********************************
D00070 1 -1-b- at 1	
PU20/3.1-alpha-AI-1	NMAALLAFAAN IDMARAALESALSGAIÖMS IFLHDATSMELSELIUTVOKEESELIUTVOKEESEUU Nuudi ekenninnin konkeesenni
AAB42070.1 - alpha - Al - 4 Granino-ACC28- (OP329712)	CNNUCTTURE REVIDENCE OF SAISGAIQUS IE IND VLSWSFSSAFINLKDOKSERSNV
Pisu-Grogu-ACC152-(0P441068)	ATTSLPOWSWRKKCMT
Fasolu-ACC20-(0P441067)	ATTSLPOWSWRKKYMTGCPWASPPP
Bianco-ACC124-(OP441071)	SNDVSTTVELEKEVYDWVSVGFSAT
Lamon-(OP441072)	SNNVSTTVELEKEVYDWVSVGFSAT
Fazzadu-a-Nieddu-ACC121-(OP441070)	SNNVSTTVELEKEVYDWVSVGFSAT
Nieddone-ACC177-(OP530245)	SNDVSTTVELEKEVYDWVSVGFSAT
Fasolu-Pintau-ACC113-(0P441066)	SNNVSTTVELEKEVYDWVSVGFSAT
Faitta-Sorgonese-ACCI-(OP//9318) Faitta-a-Cavanedda-ACC147-(OP441069)	SNNVSTTVELEKEVYDWVSVGFSATSNNVSTTVELEKEVYDWVSVGFSAT
raitta a cavaneada neerii (oriii000)	· · · · ·
P02873.1-alpha-AI-1	VLNKIL 246
AAB42070.1-alpha-AI-4	VLNQIL 244
Granino-ACC28-(OP329712)	VL 152
Pisu-Grogu-ACC152-(UP441068)	11
Faboru-ACC20-(0P441007) Bianco-ACC124-(0P441071)	77
Lamon = (OP441072)	77
Fazzadu-a-Nieddu-ACC121-(OP441070)	77
Nieddone-ACC177-(OP530245)	77
Fasolu-Pintau-ACC113-(OP441066)	77
Faitta-Sorgonese-ACC1-(OP779318)	77
Faitta-a-Cavanedda-ACC147-(OP441069)	77

Figure 2.9: Alignment of α -Als cultivars amino acid sequences with homologous α -Als sequences from GenBank. Numbers on the left indicate the position of the amino acids in each protein. An asterisk (*) denotes identical residues; double dots (:) represent a conserved residue substitution; a single dot (.) shows partial conservation of the residue. The figure shows the proteolytic cuts (symbol \gg) that the preprotein undergoes to give rise to the α and β subunits

A

P02873.1-alpha-AI-1 Granino-ACC28-(OP329712) Bianco-ACC124-(OP441071) Lamon-(OP441072) Fazzadu-a-Nieddu-ACC121-(OP441070) Nieddone-ACC177-(OP530245) Fasolu-Pintau-ACC13-(OP441066) Faitta-Sorgonese-ACC1-(OP779318) Faitta-a-Cavanedda-ACC147-(OP441069)	VTVEFDTFLSRISIDVNNNDIKSVPWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVESVSLSNPSTGK LSRISIDVNNNDIKSVPWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVESVSLSNPSTGK LSRISIDVNNNDIKSVPWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVESVSLSNPSTGK LSRISIDVNNNDIKSVPWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVESVSLSNPSTGK LSRISIDVNNNDIKSVPWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVESVSLSNPSTGK LSRISIDVNNNDIKSVPWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVESVSLSNPSTGK LSRISIDVNNNDIKSVPWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVESVSLSNPSTGK LSRISIDVNNNDIKSVPWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVESVSLSNPSTGK LSRISIDVNNNDIKSVPWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVESVSLSNPSTGK LSRISIDVNNNDIKSVPWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVESVSLSNPSTGK	180 90 52 52 52 52 52 52 52 52
P02873.1-alpha-AI-1 Granino-ACC28 (0P329712) Bianco-ACC124 (0P441071)	SNNVSTTVELEKEVYDWVSVGFSATSGAYQWSYETHDVLSWSFSSKFINLKDQKSERSNI SNNVSTTVELEKEVYDWVSVGFSATSGAYQWSYETHDVLSWSFSSKFINLKDQKSERSNI SNDVSTTVELEKEVYDWVSVGFSAT	240 150 77
Lamon-(OP441072) Fazzadu-a-Nieddu-ACC121-(OP441070) Nieddone-ACC177-(OP530245) Fasolu-Pintau-ACC113-(OP441066)	SNNVSTTVELEKEVYDWVSVGFSAT SNNVSTTVELEKEVYDWVSVGFSAT SNDVSTTVELEKEVYDWVSVGFSAT SNNVSTTVELEKEVYDWVSVGFSAT	77 77 77 77 77
Faitta-Sorgonese-ACC1-(OP779318) Faitta-a-Cavanedda-ACC147-(OP441069)	SNNVSTTVELEKEVYDWVSVGFSAT SNNVSTTVELEKEVYDWVSVGFSAT **:**********************************	77 78
В		
AAB42070.1-alpha-AI-4 Granino-ACC28-(OP329712) Bianco-ACC124-(OP441071) Lamon-(OP441072) Fazzadu-a-Nieddu-ACC121-(OP441070) Nieddone-ACC177-(OP530245) Fasolu-Pintau-ACC113-(OP441066) Faitta-a-Cavanedda-ACC147-(OP441069)	VEFDTFLSRVSIDVNNNDIKSVFWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTERAT LSRISIDVNNNDIKSVFWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGKSN LSRISIDVNNNDIKSVFWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGKSN LSRISIDVNNNDIKSVFWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGKSN LSRISIDVNNNDIKSVFWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGKSN LSRISIDVNNNDIKSVFWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGKSN LSRISIDVNNNDIKSVFWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGKSN LSRISIDVNNNDIKSVFWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGKSN LSRISIDVNNNDIKSVFWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGKSN LSRISIDVNNNDIKSVFWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGKSN LSRISIDVNNNDIKSVFWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGKSN LSRISIDVNNNDIKSVFWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGKSN LSRISIDVNNNDIKSVFWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGKSN LSRISIDVNNNDIKSVFWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGKSN LSRISIDVNNNDIKSVFWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGKSN LSRISIDVNNNDIKSVFWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGKSN LSRISIDVNNDIKSVFWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGKSN LSRISIDVNNDIKSVFWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGKSN LSRISIDVNNDIKSVFWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGKSN LSRISIDVNNDIKSVFWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGKSN	180 92 54 54 54 54 54 54 54 55
AAB42070.1-alpha-AI-4 Granino-ACC28-(0P329712) Bianco-ACC124-(0P441071) Lamon-(0P441072) Fazzadu-a-Nieddu-ACC121-(0P441070) Nieddone-ACC177-(0P530245) Fasolu-Pintau-ACC113-(0P441066) Faitta-Sorgonese-ACC1-(0P779318) Faitta-Sorgonese-ACC1-(0P779318)	TSLPQWHLEKEVYDWVSVGFSATSGAYQWSYETHDVLSWSFSSKFINLKDQKSERSNVVL NVSTTVELEKEVYDWVSVGFSATGGAYQWSYETHDVLSWSFSSKFINLKDQKSERSNIVL DVSTTVELEKEVYDWVSVGFSAT NVSTTVELEKEVYDWVSVGFSAT DVSTTVELEKEVYDWVSVGFSAT DVSTTVELEKEVYDWSVGFSAT NVSTTVELEKEVYDWSVGFSAT NVSTTVELEKEVYDWSVGFSAT NVSTTVELEKEVYDWSVGFSAT	240 152 77 77 77 77 77 77 77

Figure 2.10: (A) Alignment of eight α -Als cultivars amino acid sequences with -Al-1 sequence (accession No P022873.1) of P. vulgaris. Numbers on the left indicate the position of the amino acids in each protein. An asterisk (*) denotes identical residues (94%); double dots (:) represent a conserved residue substitution; a single dot (.) shows partial conservation of the residue. (B) Alignment of the same sequences with α -Al-4 (accession No AAB42070.1) of P. vulgaris. The identical residues value is 89%. Alignments (A) and (B) show the last 77 of 152 amino acids obtained for the PV28- α -Al the sequence.

To better highlight the variations existing in the primary structure of PV152- α -AI and PV20- α -AI, we performed the alignment of their amino acid sequences with the primary structure of α -AI-1 and α -AI-4 isoforms. The alignment with the α -AI-1 isoform showed the presence of two gaps of 11 amino acids each extending from amino acid 161-172 and 189-200, and a percentage of identity of about 33% and (Figure 2.11A). Moreover, we observed that PV152- α -AI and PV20- α -AI primary structures share more similarity with the isoform α -AI-4. In fact, aligning their amino acids it is possible to observe a

percentage of homology of about 40% with the isoform α -AI-4 and the presence of only one gap along the sequence (Figure 2.11 B)



Figure 2.11. (A) Alignment of amino acid sequences of PV152- α -AI and PV20- α -AI with α -AI-1 isoform of P. vulgaris. Numbers on the left indicate the position of the amino acids in each protein. An asterisk (*) denotes identical residues (33%); double dots (:) represent a conserved residue substitution; a single dot (.) shows partial conservation of the residue. The gaps respect the alignment with α -AI-1 isoform are shown with arrow \uparrow). (B) Alignment of the same sequences with α -AI-4 of P. vulgaris. The identical residues value is 40%.

2.3.2 Amino acid pattern and profile search results.

The α -AIs of *P. vulgaris* generally show small differences in their primary structures and in their *N*-glycosylation sites. α -AI-1 was the first isoform of *P. vulgaris* to be isolated and molecularly characterized [34,59]. In the endoplasmic reticulum, the preprotein undergoes cleavage of the signal peptide and *N*-glycosylated sites on residues of Asn35, Asn88, and Asn163 (the numbers refer to the positions of the residues in the preprotein). The prediction of glycosylation sites was also obtained for other *P. vulgaris* inhibitor isoforms, confirming what was previously obtained for α -AI-1 [53]. In this study, the search for potential glycosylation features was conducted using *NetNGlyc* tool. Considering the partial sequences obtained for all cultivars, our results are consistent with the finding that at least one potential *N*-glycosylation site occur, at the same amino acid position of α -AI-1, in eight of the deduced cultivars sequences. Instead, no potential site was found in PV152- α -AI and PV20- α -AI sequences (Figure 2.12). In addition to the potential *N*-glycosylation sites, the protein kinase C phosphorylation sites, were found in eight of the deduced sequences with NetPhos-3.1 tool. In PV152- α -AI and PV20- α -AI, in which no potential site for protein kinase C was found, a potential phosphorylation site (PRRSS) for the PKA is instead present (Figure 2.12).

We also investigated for the amino acid residues important for the inhibitor activity, obtaining evidence only for the PV28- α -AI protein of which we almost completely determined the sequence of the β subunit. The amino acid residues Y209, S212 and Y213 of β subunit (the numbering of the amino acids refers to the preprotein), important for the interaction with the α -amylase enzyme are conserved in PV28- α -AI protein (Figure 2.12).

P02873.1-alpha-AI-1 AAB42070.1-alpha-AI-4 Granino-ACC28-(OP329712) Pisu-Grogu-ACC152-(OP441068) Fasolu-ACC20-(OP441067) Bianco-ACC124-(OP441071) Lamon-(OP441072) Fazzadu-a-Nieddu-ACC121-(OP441070) Nieddone-ACC177-(OP530245) Fasolu-Pintau-ACC113-(OP441066) Faitta-Sorgonese-ACC1-(OP779318) Faitta-a-Cavanedda-ACC147-(OP441069)	MIMASSKLLSLALFLALLSHANSATETSFIIDAFNKTNLILQGDATVSSNGNLQLSYNSY 60 MASSNLLSLALFLVLLTHANSATETSFIIDAFNKTNLILQGDATVSSNGNLQLSHNSY 0 0 0
P02873.1-alpha-AI-1 AAB42070.1-alpha-AI-4 Granino-ACC28-(DP329712) Pisu-Grogu-ACC152-(DP441068) Fasolu-ACC20-(DP441067) Bianco-ACC124-(OP441071) Lamon-(DP441072) Fazzadu-a-Nieddu-ACC121-(OP441070) Nieddone-ACC177-(OP530245) Fasolu-Pintau-ACC113-(OP441066) Faitta-Sorgonese-ACC1-(OP779318) Faitta-a-Cavanedda-ACC147-(OP441069)	DSMSRAFYSAPIQIRDSTTGNVASFDTNFTMNIRFHRDANSAVGLDFVLVPVQPESKGDT 120 DSMSRAFYSAPIQIRDSTTGNVASFDSNFTMNIRFHRDANSAVGLDFVLVPVQPESKGDT 118
P02873.1-alpha-AI-1 AAB42070.1-alpha-AI-4 Granino-ACC28-(0P329712) Pisu-Grogu-ACC152-(0P441068) Fasolu-ACC20-(0P441067) Bianco-ACC124-(0P441071) Lamon-(0P441072) Fazzadu-a-Nieddu-ACC121-(0P441070) Nieddone-ACC177-(0P530245) Fasolu-Pintau-ACC113-(0P441066) Faitta-Sorgonese-ACC1-(0P779318) Faitta-a-Cavanedda-ACC147-(0P441069)	VTVEFDTFLSRISIDVNNNDIKSVPWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGK 180 VTVEFDTFLSRVSIDVNNDIKSVPWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGR 178 VTVEFDTFLSRISIDVNNDIKSVPWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGK 90 LSRISIDVNNDIKSVPWDTTTTDKTPRFGSPTTFPRRSSFLCQTLLRER 52 LSRISIDVNNDIKSVPWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGK 52 LSRISIDVNNDIKSVPWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGK 52 LSRISIDVNNDIKSVPWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGK 52 LSRISIDVNNDIKSVPWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGK 52 LSRISIDVNNNDIKSVPWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGK 52 LSRISIDVNNDIKSVPWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGK 52 LSRISIDVNNDIKSVPWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGK 52 LSRISIDVNNDIKSVPWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGK 52 LSRISIDVNNDIKSVPWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGK 52 LSRISIDVNNDIKSVPWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGK 52 LSRISIDVNNDIKSVPWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGK 52 LSRISIDVNNDIKSVFWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGK 52 LSRISIDVNNDIKSVFWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGK 52 LSRISIDVNNDIKSVFWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGK 52 LSRISIDVNNNDIKSVFWDVHDYDGQNAEVRITYNSSTKVFSVSLSNPSTGK 52
P02873.1-alpha-AI-1 AAB42070.1-alpha-AI-4 Granino-ACC28-(DP329712) Pisu-Groyu-ACC152-(OP441068) Fasolu-ACC20-(OP441067) Bianco-ACC124-(OP441071) Lamon-(OP441072) Fazzadu-a-Nieddu-ACC121-(OP441070) Nieddone-ACC177-(OP530245) Fasolu-Pintau-ACC113-(OP441066) Faitta-Sorgonese-ACC1-(OP779318) Faitta-a-Cavanedda-ACC147-(OP441069)	SNNVSTTVELEKEVYDWVSVGFSATSGAYQWSYETHDVLSWSFSSHFINLKDQKSERSNI 240 ATTSLPQWRLEKEVYDWVSVGFSATSGAYQWSYETHDVLSWSFSSHFINLKDQKSERSNV 238 SNNVSTTVELEKEVYDWVSVGFSATSGAYQWSYETHDVLSWSFSSHFINLKDQKSERSNV 238 ATTSLPQWSWRKKCMT
P02873.1-alpha-AI-1 AAB42070.1-alpha-AI-4 AAB42071.1-alpha-AI-5 Granino-ACC28-(0P329712) Pisu-Grogu-ACC152-(0P441068) Fasolu-ACC20-(0P441067) Bianco-ACC124-(0P441071) Lamon-(0P441072) Fazzadu-a-Nieddu-ACC121-(0P441070) Nieddone-ACC177-(0P530245) Fasolu-Pintau-ACC113-(0P441066) Faitta-Sorgonese-ACC1-(0P779318) Faitta-a-Cavanedda-ACC147-(0P441069)	VLNKIL 246 VLNQIL 244 VLNQIL 244 VL 152 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77

Figure 2.12. Alignment α -Als sequences. Red boxes indicate N-glycosylation consensus sequences, black boxes indicate the protein kinase C phosphorylation sites. A potential PKA phosphorylation site was found in PV152- α -Al and PV20- α -Al sequences (blue box). The amino acid residues Y209, S212 and Y213 of β subunit, important for the interaction with the α -amylase enzyme are conserved in PV28- α -Al protein (highlighted in grey).

2.3.3 Deduced phylogenetic analysis and secondary structure

 α -AI-1 (P02873.1) and α -AI-4 (AAB42070.1) sequences from *P. vulgaris* were used as out-group. Phylogenetic analysis confirmed a greater similarity of the sequences in PV152- α -AI and PV20- α -AI with isoform α -AI-4 respect to isoform α -AI-1 which is more closely related to the other 8 cultivars (Figure 2.13).









The *in-silico* reconstruction of the secondary structure showed differences in the distribution of the α -helices, β -sheets and coils of the PV152- α -AI and PV20- α -AI proteins if compared to the proteins deduced from the other cultivars (Figure 2.14).

Several factors could on the other explain the absence of inhibition towards α -amylase observed in the ACC 113 and ACC 147 cultivars. Since the entire primary structure of both proteins is not available, it is not possible to establish whether the amino acid residues important for protein maturation and activity are conserved [213]. Another explanation could be due to the presence in their cells of microRNAs (miRNAs) able to inhibit translation of α -AI. Usually, plant miRNAs are associated with Argonaute protein1 to promote RNA posttranscriptional gene silencing by coupling target sequences and determining RNA slicing and/or translation inhibition [214-216]. In the last few years, many miRNAs have been identified in *P. vulgaris* [217,218]. Within this second hypothesis, the presence of α -glucosidase inhibitory activity observed in the cultivars without α -AI could be linked to the presence of flavonol glycosides and caffeic acid derivatives in the homogenates. Recently, it has been demonstrated that a variety of P. *vulgaris* (chilean bean) extracts presented strong activity against α -glucosidase but were inactive towards α -amylase [205]. These hypotheses will be investigated by deepening the knowledge on the primary structure of α -AIs and investigating the possible presence of antisense miRNAs and phenolic substances active against α -glucosidase.

2.4 Mechanistic characterization of the interaction between $\alpha\text{-amylase}$ and $\alpha\text{-AI}$

To understand if these structural differences highlighted by molecular analysis, could have influence on the protein/protein interaction between α -amylase and α -AI, we have also performed an *in silico* analysis. The contribution of each residue to the overall binding performance have been calculated, highlighting which amino acids facilitate or hinder binding, and how, using 1DHK PDB porcine pancreatic α -amylase enzyme and α -AI (P02873) aminoacidic sequence.

We used the FBO to identify the interface residues and chemical hotspot interactions.

Once the chemical connection among amino acids is identified, we assigned to each residue its contribution to the binding interaction between the two subsystems. We calculate these interaction terms from the output of the DFT code and interpret them as two parts. First, a long-range electrostatic attraction/repulsion term, defined from the electron distributions of each of the fragments (even when far apart, two fragments may still interact). The remaining term, which can only be attractive, is provided by the chemical binding between the fragments, and is nonzero only if the electronic clouds of the fragments superimpose (short-range). This term is correlated with the FBO strength, and we identified it as the chemical interaction.

By including long-range electrostatic terms, the decomposition enables us to single out relevant residues not necessarily residing at the interface. In this way, the model provides an *ab initio* representation of the RBD-ligand interactions as the final output.

Mechanistic characterization of the binding between α -amylase and its inhibitor from the bean *P. vulgaris* is shown in Figure 2.15. The data are plotted on the sequence of the bean. Letters represent single amino acid residues. "Å" is the distance of a residue to the nearest

atom of its ligand. "Tot" is the chemical/electrostatic force shown as attractive (blue) or repulsive (red), with darker colours indicating stronger effects.

The 'Tot' interaction is the sum of 'vdW', 'H', 'El' quantities, which corresponds respectively to the Van der Waals forces, chemical(steric) and electrostatic interactions and they are shown in separated lines above the 'Tot' line.

As we can notice, we can identify main two hotspots corresponding to aspartic acid D38 and to tyrosine Y186 (the numbering of the amino acids refers to the mature protein). The interaction is mainly governed by the chemical contribution by the closer amino acids. The values of the interaction are shown in the bottom panel of Figure 2.15.

Figure 2.16 shows the emerging interaction network that connects the relevant residues of the α -AI sequence from *P. vulgaris* (J01261) with the corresponding interface residues of the amylase. The network is drawn by following the FBO between amino acids of the respective sequence. Thicker lines indicate stronger chemical bonds. Nodes are coloured following the total interaction values, and their border is based on the FBO at the interface as per Figure 2.16.

In Figure 2.17 it is represented a highlight of the relevant part of the general interaction graph of Figure 2.16.

Unfortunately, the two hotspots (D38 and Y186) have not yet been sequenced by CODEHOP strategy in our cultivars. Only in the case of cultivar Granino (PV28- α -AI) it has been reconstructed an aminoacidic fragment corresponding to almost all β subunit, including Y186 position. This showed no differences from the aminoacidic reference sequence used for our analyses (PO28731).

Bean



Figure 2.15: Mechanistic characterization of the binding between Alpha-amylase and his inhibitor from the bean Phaseolus vulgaris



0.06 0.04 0.05 0.07 0.02 0.03 0.08

Figure 2.16: emerging interaction network that connects the relevant residues of α -AI from common bean with α -amylase



Figure 2.17: enlargement of relevant part of the general interaction graph

For the other cultivars, on the contrary, it is not yet possible to gain information about these hotspots. However, this can be an important incentive to complete the sequences from our samples, and thus get complete information about sequence/structure/activity relationships. Such pieces of knowledge can be in fact crucial to effectively screen unknown varieties or to develop new recombinant α -AI sequences with improved and modulated features.

2.5 Conclusions

The screening of 9 rare Sardinian common bean varieties and of one commercial cultivar from Veneto allows to discover and highlight some features useful to produce food supplements recommended in the treatment of obesity and diabetes.

This study showed that only two of the tested cultivars (Fasolu Pintau and Faitta a Cavanedda) are not suitable as starting material to produce food supplements due to the absence of inhibitory activity against porcine, and above all, against human amylases, while all cultivars have α -glucosidase inhibitory activity.

The cultivar Nieddone, results to be the most interesting variety, due the presence in its extract of inhibitory activity against both α -amylase and α -glucosidase enzyme, but most importantly, for the lack of haemagglutinin activity, an antinutritional factor that prevents the consumption of raw beans.

Molecular studies conducted on the reverse transcribed RNA in cDNA showed the expression of α -AIs in all the cultivars analysed. Having deduced part of the primary structure of the proteins, we speculate that the proteins PV152- α -AI and PV20- α -AI, share more molecular characteristics with isoform α -AI-4 rather than with isoform α -AI-

1. A future goal will be to complete cDNA sequencing to increase understanding of the primary structure of these proteins. In fact, the mechanistic characterization suggests that the α -AI had two main hotspots in the interaction with α -amylase enzyme but only for the cultivar Granino (ACC.28) it has been reconstructed an aminoacidic fragment that includes one of these sites. The PV28- α -AI does not differ from the aminoacidic reference sequence used for the analyses (PO28731) in the Y186 position.

However, aminoacidic differences could be present at the level of the first hotspot site (D38) not yet identified in this work. These differences could explain for example why the cultivar Fasolu Pintau and Cavanedda have not inhibitory activity although the α -AI is expressed in both of them.

The achievement of this objective could be important both for increasing the biomolecular knowledge of these proteins and for the development of further studies in the biotechnological field aimed at the expression of more promising peptides or proteins from a biochemical point of view. 3. Purification and
characterization of
proteinaceous thermostable αamylase inhibitor from
Sardinian common bean
Nieddone cultivar (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.)

The increasing need to find new solution for the treatment of obesity and diabetes led to the development of new drugs and food supplements that could reduce the carbohydrates absorption. Many starch blockers, based on common bean proteinaceous inhibitors against digestive enzymes such as α -amylase, are already present in the commerce [2]. The importance in the clinical setting and the possible economic implication were decisive in the choice to extract and purify α -amylase inhibitor from the most promising common bean cultivar identified during the first phase of study.

Nieddone cultivar appeared to be the most promising cultivar for its inhibitory activity against digestive enzymes but above all for the lack of hemagglutination power (see above).

Different techniques were then used for the extraction and the purification of the inhibitor. Moreover, a biochemical characterization of the inhibitor has been performed. This aspect is important to better understand the inhibitor properties and above all the usefulness in the production process of new food supplements enriched with the purified inhibitor.

3.1 Materials and methods

3.1.1 Chemicals

2-Chloro-4-nitrophenyl-α-D-maltotrioside (93834-100MG), *p*-nitrophenyl-α-D-glucopyranoside (487506-1GM), α-amylase from porcine pancreas (Type VI-B A3176-2.5MU), PNGase F from *Elizabethkingia miricola* (P7367) and α-Glucosidase from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (Type I G5003-1KU) were purchased from Sigma–Aldrich (Milan, Italy). All other reagents used were of the highest grade available, purchased from Sigma–Aldrich (Milan, Italy) and used without further purification.

3.1.2 Plant materials

As described in Chapter 2 the Sardinian cultivar used to purify and characterize the inhibitor is called Nieddone, coming from Ploaghe, a little Sardinian village. It is part of a wider germplasm collection by the Sardinian Agricultural Agency (AGRIS, Cagliari, Italy) collected with the accession number ACC.177.

As reported in Chapter 2 the α -AI gene sequence has been deposited in NCBI GenBank with the code OP530245.

3.1.3 Purification of amylase inhibitor

Protein extraction

Legume seeds were homogenized to a fine powdery flour in a blender. The flour was then immediately extracted and used for the extraction. Briefly, aliquots of 2 grams were suspended in 10 mL Bis-Tris buffer pH 6.5 mM, NaCl 0.1 M buffer; then stirred for 1 hour and centrifuged at 12000 rpm for 10 minutes at 4°C. The extraction has been also performed in the presence of 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF) as a protease inhibitor.

Low-resolution purification techniques

The supernatant after extraction was collected and heated to denature heat-labile proteins for 10 minutes at difference temperatures and then centrifuged at 12000 rpm for 30 minutes at 4°C.

Alternatively, it was brought to 45–80% saturation with ammonium sulphate and centrifuged at 12000 rpm for 30 minutes at 4°C.

Solvent precipitation was also used adding, dropwise, the raw extract to stirring iced solvent (ethanol or acetone) in a 1:50 volume ratio. The solution was then centrifuged at 12000 rpm for 20 minutes at 4°C and the supernatant discarded. After 24 hours (during

which the residual solvent evaporated) the pellet was resuspended in 10 mL of starting buffer.

Ion Exchange Chromatography

The sample was applied to fast protein liquid chromatography (FPLC) in Akta Start (Cytiva, Milan, Italy) using anion exchange chromatography with HiTrap Q HP 5mL column Start (Cytiva).

Column was equilibrated with 5 column volumes (CVs) of Bis-Tris pH 6.5 10 mM, NaCl 0.1 M buffer at 4 mL/min flow rate. Sample (8 mL) was injected, and unbound proteins were washed with 4 CVs buffer. Elution was then performed with a 20% step gradient in B buffer (Bis-Tris pH 6.5 10 mM, NaCl 1M), and 1 mL fractions being collected automatically. After 4 CVs, a linear gradient 100% B in 2 CVs was then used to wash the column.

Size Exclusion Chromatography

HiLoad 16/60 Superdex 200 pg (Cytiva) column was used (120 mL CV). This was equilibrated with 4 CVs Bis-Tris pH 6.5 10 mM, NaCl 0.1 M, CaCl2 5 mM buffer at 1 mL/min flow rate. Sample (4 mL) was injected, and 1 mL fractions were collected automatically in isocratic elution.

MW of the purified protein was determined by comparison with MW standards (Gel Filtration Standards, cat. n. 1511901, Bio-Rad, Milan, Italy) under the same operational SEC conditions.

Purity of the sample was verified by SDS–PAGE using 12% polyacrylamide gels using Laemnli protocol [219], and by total protein determination using Coomassie Brilliant Blue G-250 method [175].

3.1.4 α -Amylase and α -glucosidase inhibition assays

As described in Chapter 2, the inhibition of α -amylase activity was determined using 2chloro-*p*-nitrophenyl- α -D-maltotrioside (CNP-G3) as substrate. α -Glucosidase inhibition assay used the same experimental conditions of CNP-G3 protocol. The substrate used was *p*-nitrophenyl- α -D-glucopyranoside (pNPG) 2.25 mM.

3.1.5 Hemagglutination assay

Human blood 2 mL was centrifuged at 2000 g for 3.5 minutes, supernatant was discarded, and the cell pellet was washed three times with PBS buffer (137 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 8 mM Na₂HPO₄, 1.5 mM KH₂PO₄, pH 7.4). Red blood cells (RBC) pellet was suspended to 50% (v/v) with PBS buffer, stabilized with 0.01% natrium azide and stored at 4°C. The life span of RBC was up to three weeks.

One aliquot of RBC 10% was prepared, and each raw extract was used at different serial dilutions (pure, ¹/₂, ¹/₄, 1/8, 1/16....as far as 1/512.)

For each combination of RBC and protein concentration, the RBC sample was pipetted onto a glass microscopy slide and mixed in a 10 μ L:10 μ L ratio with the protein solution. The mixture was incubated for 5 minutes and observed using an inverted fluorescence microscope BX81 (Olympus, Segrate, Italy). Images were captured with a charge-coupled device camera (Cohu, San Diego, CA, USA). In the control experiment, 10 μ L of the PBS buffer was incubated with RBC.

Results are expressed as the Minimum protein Concentration able to Agglutinate sample (MAC, mg/mL).

3.1.6 α-Amylase from *Tenebrio molitor*

Insect α -amylase was obtained from *Tenebrio molitor* larvae. This insect feeds on stored grains and food in general, being usually considered a pest. Aliquots of 1 g larvae were grinded with 6 mL Bis-Tris buffer pH 6.5 mM, NaCl 0.1 M, as already described [220]. This homogenate was then centrifuged at 8,000 g for 30'. The supernatant was used as crude insect α -amylase preparation for activity assays as described above.

3.1.7 Inhibitor characterization

The activity at different pH values was determined repeating the catalytic assay in the presence of different 0.5 M McIlvaine buffers ranging from pH 3 to 9 at 37°C. Thermostability was assayed by incubating the enzyme at the indicated temperature for the indicated time. Then the samples were rapidly brought to 4°C and the remaining catalytic activity was assayed as previously described.

Michaelis–Menten kinetic parameters were calculated using CNP-G3 ranging 0.1-5 mM and using GraFit 7 (Erithacus Software, London, United Kingdom).

3.1.8 LC-MS

Deglycosylation was performed according to manufacture instructions. Aliquot of 50 µg protein was denatured with 0.2% SDS and 100 mM 2-mercaptoethanol at 100°C for 10'. Then 5 EU of PNGase F was added. After 3h incubation.at 37°C, the reaction was stopped by heating at 100°C for 5'.

3.1.9 Statistical analysis

GraFit 7 (Erithacus Software, London, United Kingdom), R 2.5.1 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) and GraphPad INSTAT (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA) were used for data analysis. One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and the Bonferroni multiple comparison test were used to assess the statistical significance of the differences. All the analyses were performed at least in triplicate (unless otherwise stated), and the data are reported as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM).

3.2 Results and discussion

In the previous Chapter a screening of different common bean cultivars has been carried out to identify the most promising variety to produce food commercial supplement. Our analyses showed that Nieddone is the most interesting variety for its quite high inhibitory power against digestive enzymes and for the lack of hemagglutination activity. Considering such evidence, in the present Chapter extraction, purification, and characterization of α -AI isolated from Nieddone cultivar is described.

3.2.1 Low resolution techniques for α-AI extraction.

In a first step low resolution techniques were used for the inhibitor extraction in order to keep production costs as low as possible, obtaining a final inexpensive food supplement [221]. This is a crucial requirement for a potential nutraceutical marketable product.

Firstly, the common bean seeds were ground and suspended in Bis-Tris buffer pH 6.5 10 mM, NaCl 0.1 M. Different extraction conditions were tested. The influence of protease inhibitor, extraction time and temperature on the α -AI activity have been evaluated as the crucial parameters of the process.

As described in Chapter 1, α -AI is translated as a pre-protein, proteolytically activated at Asn77. So, the addition of a well-known protease inhibitor (phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride, PMSF) was tested at 4°C and 25°C to assess the presence of an eventual proteolytic activation during the first phases of purification (Figure 3.1).

Only slight proteolytic activation occurs during the extraction, but no statistical differences were found even after 24 h between the inhibitory activity in the sample extracted with or without PMSF, suggesting that no proteolytic activation occurs in the first phases of purification.


Figure 3.1 α -AI activity recorded after different extraction conditions.

α-AI activity appears in any case to be higher after 24 hours than after 1 hour, but no significant increase was recorded for longer times of incubation (24 hours or 48 hours). Thus, the stirring was performed for 1 hour in all experiments.

Similarly, no significant differences were observed between 4°C and 25°C. So, to avoid microbial contamination all the extraction procedures were performed at 0°C-4°C in accordance with what previously reported in literature [29,196].

The suspension obtained was then centrifugated, as reported above, and the supernatant collected.

In accordance with Bharadwaj, Gupta and Le Berre-Anton [29,50,196] the sample was then subjected to several precipitation techniques, including 45-80% saturation with ammonium sulfate and cold organic solvents (ethanol and acetone) to improve purification fold.



Figure 3.2 Comparison of recovery % α -AI extraction after ammonium sulfate saturation and organic solvent precipitation.

Different ammonium percentage were tested, but as shown in Figure 3.2 the better recovery extraction (the retained enzymatic activity in the purified sample) was obtained with the ethanol precipitation.

Considering that α -AI is a thermostable protein, the supernatant was also heated for 10 minutes at 60 and 70°C, as previously suggested [50,63], to reduce the total proteins maintaining a high percentage of α -AI.

Two different set of experiments were done. The heat treatment was performed at 60°C and 70°C and the resulting inhibitory activity compared with the activity recorded after ethanol precipitation. As shown for instance in Figure 3.3, the thermal denaturation was tested at 60°C both after and before ethanol treatment.



Fiure 3.3: Graphical rapresentation of α -Al activity (IAU) and specific activity(IAU/mg): (a;b) the termal denaturation precedes the ethanol precipitation; (c;d) the ethanol precipitation precedes the thermal denaturation.

In Figure 3.3a the thermal denaturation precedes the ethanol precipitation. The thermal treatment allowed to recover almost all the inhibitory activity, whereas the ethanol treatment led to a loss of about 50%. However, the thermal treatment did not allow to increase the specific activity (Figure 3.3b).

When the ethanol precipitation preceded the thermal denaturation, a similar behaviour was observed, since only the organic solvent significantly increased the specific activity (Figure 3.3d).

The same experiment was carried out at 70°C. Also, in this case the heat treatment did not improve the specificity activity (data not reported). For these reasons, it has been established to use only ethanol precipitation as low-cost purification technique. Such choice allowed to increase purity of sample quickly, without requiring any complex instrumentation of operator expertise. Besides, the procedure was also quite inexpensive since the ethanol used could be efficiently distilled and recovered for more purification cycles.

The precipitation was re-dissolved in the starting buffer and centrifugated before proceeding further the purification.

3.2.2 High resolution techniques: purification of α-AI

The α-AI from Nieddone has been purified by two purification steps performed with fast protein liquid chromatography (FPLC) using an Akta Start system (Cytiva, Milan, Italy). This instrument is preparative chromatography system, allowing to automatize protein purification, reducing time process and leading to a more precise and reliable analyses. In the first step the ethanolic extract was loaded in an anion exchange chromatography Q-Sepharose column previously equilibrated with Bis-Tris pH 6.5 10 mM, NaCl 0.1 M, and then washed with buffer B (Bis-Tris pH 6.5 10 mM, NaCl 1 M). Bound proteins were eluted firstly with a 20% step gradient in B buffer, and then with a 20-100% linear gradient with the same B buffer.

The elution pattern showed only one peak with α -AI activity, eluting with a low ionic strength (20% B), as shown in Figure 3.4. CaCl₂ 5 mM was then added in the active fractions to improve inhibitor stability [79,80].

Finally, the active fractions were collected and subjected to a Size Exclusion Cromatography (SEC) using a cross linked agarose resin column. Binding proteins were eluted with an isocratic gradient using bis-Tris pH 6.5 10 mM, NaCl 0.1 M, CaCl₂ 5 mM buffer. A main peak showing biological activity was eluted around 80 mL V_e (Figure 3.5).

Traces of inhibitory activity were also detected in other eluted peaks, but this was quite unstable. Such evidence could be possibly due to some form of protein degradation or aggregations.



Figure 3.4 Elution profile of α -Al from P. vulgaris Nieddone cv on IEC Q-Sepharose column chromatography.



Figure 3.5 Purification profile of α -AI from P. vulgaris Nieddone cv on a SEC cross linked agarose resin column.

All the results of the extraction and purification procedure are summarized in Table 3.1.

Medie	Amylase inhibiting activity (IAU)	Total protein (mg)	Reco- very	Specific activity (IAU/mg)	Purifica- tion fold	Aggluti- nation
Raw extract	242	60.22	100%	4	1.0	Neg.
Solvent precipi- tation	147	15.68	61%	9	2.3	Neg.
IEC	59	3.24	24%	18	4.5	Neg.
SEC	80	0.24	33%	328	81.8	Neg.

Table 3.1 Purification table of P. vulgaris Nieddone cv α -AI

Each purification steps led to a considerable increase in specific activity and purification fold (Figure 3.6). After the final purification step, the enzyme was purified over 80-fold

with a recovery of 33%. The specific activity of the purified α -AI (328 IAU/mg) was significantly higher than that of α -amylase from raw extract (4 IAU/mg). The absence of agglutination power was confirmed after each purification passages.



Figure 3.6 Graphic rapresentation of purification steps of α -Al from P. vulgaris Nieddone cv.

3.2.3 α-AI characterization

All the purification steps were analysed by denaturing PAGE to evaluate the increase in purification degree. As shown in Figure 3.7, the purified inhibitor gave two bands close to 15 kDa molecular standard, confirming the existence of two subunits (theoretical MWs for α and β chains are respectively 8 and 15 kDa [58]).



Figure 3.7 SDS-PAGE of α -AI from P. vulgaris Nieddone cv.during purification steps. Molecular weight standard is reported in line 1; α -AI raw extract is reported in Line 2; after the ethanolic precipitation in Line 3, after Q-sepharose ion exchange cromatography in Line 4, after the size exclusion cromatography in Line 5. SDS-PAGE was performed following Laemnli protocol

Besides the bands belonging to α and β subunits, SDS-PAGE showed also that some proteins were not able to enter into the gel, resulting in an unresolved and undefined band in the proximity of the well (Figure 3.6). Such evidence could confirm the tendency of α -AI to form aggregates, as already described in literature [34], and as also suggested by SEC (see below).

The previously described tetrameric association of these 2 subunits [50] was confirmed by size exclusion chromatography. The elution volume of the purified protein (Figure 3.5) in fact has been compared with a mixture of molecular weight standards (Figure 3.8a) estimating a molecular weight of 42 kDa (Figure 3.8b), in accordance with the tetrameric $\alpha_2\beta_2$ structure [222].



Figure 3.8. Calibration of SEC with MW standards to determine α -AI MW.

In literature a great variability in *P. vulgaris* α-AI molecular weight was recorded. Only one subunit of 36 kDa was identified in *P. vulgaris* in 2008 [223]. Quite in accordance with monomeric structure described in *Mucuna pruriens* (25.6 kDa) [29] and *Secale cereale* (13.7 kDa) [224].

Three subunits were described by different authors in *P*.*vulgaris* (α subunit ranged from 7.8 kDa to 15.5 kDa, β ranged from 14 kDa to 18.6 kDa and γ ranged from 22 kDa to 26.3 kDa) [196,225], and four subunits ranging from 14 to 20 kDa were described in a study on *P*. *vulgaris* inhibitor in 2011 [226].

Instead, two α -amylase inhibitors were identified in the tepary bean (*Phaseolus acutifolius* A. Gray) [30]. One of these (α AI-Pa2) was very similar to α -AI being composed of α and β subunits but neither had inhibitory activity against α -amylases of mammalian, bacterial or fungal origin, but only against insect α -amylase.

Moreover, two prominent amylase inhibitor activity bands (AI1 and AI2) were detected in the seeds of *Achyranthes aspera* identified [220]. The molecular weight of the purified inhibitor was about 6 kDa ad it is active against insect α -amylase.

However, Literature agrees on the tetrameric $\alpha_2\beta_2$ structure for α -AI from *P. vulgaris* with a total 44/45 kDa MW [53,55,213].

This variability could be linked to the different technique used for the determination of molecular weight or to the different cultivar and species analysed.

The purified α -AI was the tested to evaluate the trend of its activity during prolonged storage. It has been tested for 36 days. As shown in Figure 3.9 the inhibitory activity looks quite stable over time. After 36 days only about 25/30% of its initial activity was lost. This stability is a desirable feature because it would allow to exploit the inhibitory power during the producing process of possible food supplements, even without expensive and time-consuming procedure of solvent removal (i.e. freeze-drying).

For what in our knowledge no similar storage stability has been studied up to now for α -AI. The long-lasting α -amylase and α -glucosidase inhibitory activity was studied for instance in white tea stored for 1, 3 and 5 years.[227]. However, in this case the inhibitory activity decreased with the decreasing of total polyphenolic content pointing out that these are probably not proteinaceous inhibitors.

Further investigations are needed to understand if this stability is confirmed also for α -AI extracted from other cultivars.



Figure 3.9: Trend over time of α -AI from Nieddone cv activity. The time course was observed at regular intervals for 36 days.

3.2.4 Activity of α -AI from Nieddone cv against mammalian, bacterial, and insect α -Amylases

Purified α -AI was then tested to study several operational characteristics, such inhibitory activity against α -amylase enzyme from different organisms and effect of pH and temperature conditions.

The purified inhibitor activity was tested against four α -amylase enzymes from different sources (porcine pancreas, human saliva, *Bacillus subtilis* and *Tenebrio molitor*).



Figure 3.10: Inhibitory power of α -AI purified from Nieddone cv against pig, human, bacterial and insect α -amylase enzyme.

As shown in Figure 3.10 α -AI from Nieddone cv has the highest affinity against the insect α -amylase *Tenebrio molitor*, about 3-fold more susceptible than human salivary amylase and porcine pancreatic α -amylase. The purified sample showed inhibiting activity also against α -glucosidase enzyme (3.8 ± 0.8 IGU/mL).

This result is in contrast with what observed for the *Moringa oleifera* α -AI extract, which had more inhibitory activity against human α -amylase than *Callosobruchus maculatus* insect larvae [228].

In any case the presence of inhibitory activity against human and insect α -amylase confirmed that the purified inhibitor corresponds to α -AI1 isoform [40].

The highest affinity of α -AI from *P. vulgaris* for insect α -amylase had already been observed also for other species (*Tribolium castaneum*, *T. confusum* and *Sitophilus oryzae*) [229].

Recently, many authors have confirmed the role of α -amylase inhibitor from different plant species against α -amylase enzyme of insects [230,231], pointing out that the administration of α -amylase inhibitors could also represent a valuable approach for biological pest control.

Therefore, α -AI from Nieddone cultivar could also have a crucial role for fighting harmful pests that infect legume of significant socioeconomic and nutritional importance.

3.2.5 Time and temperature effects on α-AI

As above mentioned, the inhibitory activity was recorded for 12 mins with the CNP-G3 assay that involved 10 mins of α -amylase enzyme/ α -AI preincubation before the substrate addition.

In Literature different preincubation values for common bean α -AI have been reported, since the maximum inhibition was achieved after 10 mins preincubation time [50], or after 40 minutes [63] and 120 minutes [77]. These differences could be dependent on the cultivar analysed or on the different assay used for recording α -amylase activity. In fact, unlike the method employed here, in the previous studies the DNS assay was used.

We observed that the inhibitory activity of our purified inhibitor increases if pre-incubation is prolonged over time (Figure 3.11). Reaching a complete inhibition with 120 mins preincubation, in accordance with Power and Whitaker [77].



Figure 3.11: Trend of inihibition of α amylase enzyme by α -Al with different preincubation times.

The preincubation time is important if the possible use of the inhibitor for commercial purposes is considered. These data suggest that a food supplement based on this inhibitor should be taken two hours before the meal to achieve the maximum inhibitory activity.

The effect of temperature on the α -AI optimum was studied by incubating the purified inhibitor at different temperature ranging from 26°C to 45°C (Figure 3.12). It is well known that an increase in temperature exerts a double effect of proteins, speeding up the reaction in accordance with Arrhenius equation, but at the same time inactivating proteins destabilizing native state.

As shown in the graph the α -AI activity showed an optimum temperature obtained at 40 °C.



Figure3.12: Effect of temperature on the purified Nieddone inhibitor: the optimum temperature was observed at 40°C.

Similar optimum values were also found for α -amylase inhibitor extracted from *Mucuna pruriens* [29] and in kidney bean where the optimum was reached at 37 °C [50,63]. This is a desirable condition for the use of inhibitor to produce dietary supplements because it reaches optimum at physiological body temperature.

For what concerns the α -AI heat stability, interesting data emerged from this study. It is known from Literature that plant proteinaceous inhibitors showed quite remarkable temperature stability.

For example, the α -AI purified from *P. vulgaris* (Purola cultivar) was stable at 90°C preserving about 90% of its activity [206].

The α -amylase inhibitor purified from *Mucuna pruriens* (*Fabaceae* family) was found to be heat-stable, retaining about 80% of its activity after 30 minutes at 65°C [29].

The thermal stability of α -amylase inhibitor was also observed in different varieties of *Triticum durum* [232]. In this case, both varieties were stable below 80°C with a

maximum inhibitory activity ranging from 40 to 50 degrees. When brought to the boil, the purified α -AI lost about 75%-55% of its activity.

Another purified proteinaceous α -amylase inhibitor extract from *Moringa oleifera* shows heat temperature stability, preserving about 50% of activity for one hour at 70°C [228]. Our data seems to confirm this trend. In fact, we tested our purified sample to different temperatures ranging from 50°C to 100 °C and the inhibitory activity was recorded at different time intervals as shown in Figure 3.13b.



Figure 3.13: Effect of temperature on inhibitor stability. α -AI activity was assay to different temperatures and the residual activity recorded at varius time intervals. a)the stability of inhibitor from raw extract; b) the stability of puridied extract from Nieddone cv.

We also compared purified α -AI temperature stability with the Nieddone bean raw extract (Figure 3.13a).

The two samples showed very different behaviour. Both were stable at 50°C in a time interval between up to 24 hours (more than 90% activity retained). But the inhibitory activity rapidly decreased at 70°C after one hour in the raw extract (about 75% activity retained). Its inhibitory activity was completely destroyed after 10 minutes at 90 and 100°C in accordance with what previously observed [50,63,82].

On the other hand, the purified α -AI was incredibly more stable under the same conditions (Figure 3.13b), maintaining for instance about 25% of its activity, even at 100 °C for 5 hours. The inhibitory activity not completely disappeared even after 24 hours, showing even better performance than other proteinaceous plant inhibitors [29,228].

It is possible for a purified protein to be more stable at a given temperature than a crude extract of the same protein. Crude extracts are made up of a mixture of different proteins and other biomolecules, which can lead to instability due to interactions between these molecules. In contrast, a purified protein is isolated from these other molecules, which can make it more stable. This desirable property has been also described in the Purola cultivar (*P. vulgaris*). Also in this case the activity of the purified inhibitor was significantly more stable than the raw extract [206].

Our data shows that also Nieddone purified α -AI is much more thermostable than the same protein present in the raw extract. Such evince could suggest that the costs of purification could be justified by this increased stability. In fact, the resistance to high temperatures is crucial parameter for producing inhibitor-enriched foods that need to be cooked before being consumed such as crackers, biscuits, or pasta. This specificity would

allow to produce palatable dietary food. However more investigations are needed to identify a procedure to further stabilize the inhibitory activity at the higher temperatures.

3.2.6 Effect of pH

As shown in Figure 3.14, porcine pancreatic α -amylase enzyme showed a pH optimum at pH 5. When the catalysis was instead performed in the presence of α -AI, by incubation using different 0.5 M McIlvaine buffers, two optima for inhibition were observed at 5 and 6.5 (Figure 3.14).

Two optima (5 and 6.9) were previously found for local Himalayan bean [196] while only one pH optimum (ranging from 4.5 to 6.9) was found in Japan and kidney beans [63,80,222,233].

These differences could be related to the different experimental conditions or to the different α -amylase activity assay used (all the mentioned authors used DNS assay).

In fact a shift in the pH optimum was observed in presence of different substrates [234]. Porcine pancreatic α -amylase hydrolyse starch with a pH optimum of 6.9, but the optimum shifts to 5.9 when low molecular weight substrate as CNP-G3 is used, as in this study. However, we chose to perform the CNP-G3 assay at pH 6.5 in accordance to Literature [198]. This choice is related to the *in vivo* conditions of α -amylase enzyme. In fact, *in vivo* it works with starch as the substrate under conditions closer to neutrality than to acidic environment.



Figure 3.14: Effect of pH on the activity of α -amylase enzyme and on the activity of the purified inhibitor form Nieddone cv.

3.2.7 Kinetic analysis

The kinetic analysis of the enzyme in the presence of the CNP-G3 substrate showed a behaviour typical of a kinetics according to the Henri-Michaelis-Menten (H-M & M) equation. The K_M value was 0.85 mM and the V_{max} was 30.9 μ M / min (Table 3.2). When the activity of the enzyme was carried out in the presence of inhibitor concentrations ranging between 0.25 and 0.50 μ M an increase in the value of K_M and a decrease in V_{max} were observed. In particular, at the concentration of 0.50 μ M α -AI a value of the K_M^{app} = 1.10 and a V_{max}^{app} = 21.8 were measured. These values agreed with a mixed-type inhibition measured according to the plot of reciprocal doubles in the absence of the inhibitor and in the presence of partially inhibited catalysis (Figure 3.15). Previously, a mixed non-competitive inhibition was described for α -AI from kidney bean, using porcine pancreatic amylase [222]. It should be noted that in these experiments, starch was used as the substrate.



Figure 3.15:a)Kinetics of inhibition of α -amylase by the purified inhibitor from Nieddone cv without α -AI (\bigcirc), with 0.25 μ M α -AI (\bigcirc) with 0.50 μ M (\bigcirc), with 0.50 μ M (\bigcirc).

	α -AI = 0	α -AI = 0.25 μ M	α -AI = 0.50 μ M
V _{max} (µM/min)	30.9	28.8	21.8
К _М (m M)	0.85	1.01	1.10

Table 3.2: Determination of kinetics parameters for α -AI purified from Nieddone cv.CNP-G3 was used as substrate.

Our results are not in full agreement with those previously reported by other authors who described a non-competitive inhibition for α -AI of *P. vulgaris* var. Great Northern using starch as the substrate [63]. A non-competitive mixed inhibition of a digestive amylase in the presence of a proteinaceous inhibitor from *Moringa oleifera* was also recently confirmed [228].

Compared to the data reported in the literature, there is no general agreement on the type of amylase inhibition shown by protein inhibitors of plant origin. This should not seem strange considering the complex mechanism that leads to the release of different peptides with amylase inhibitory activity. Furthermore, it is likely that the different type of reversible inhibition we found may be due to the different substrate we used in our enzymatic assay. In fact, a mixed non-competitive inhibition suggests that the substrate interact with the enzyme in more than one site. So, it would be not surprising if different substrates could lead to different kinetic results.

3.3 Conclusions

A combination of low-resolution techniques and chromatographic steps was used to purify the α -amylase inhibitor from the common bean seeds (*Phaseolus vulgaris*) of the Sardinian cultivar Nieddone. This procedure could be also apt for scaling-up of commercial preparations, since it is quite inexpensive, there is no need for high operator expertise and it could be in great part automated.

The purified inhibitor has a tetrameric structure with a molecular weight of about 42 kDa, confirm the $\alpha_2\beta_2$ association already reported in Literature.

The α -AI maintained its activity over time, remaining stable for at least 30 days at 4°C. α -AI was effective against pig, human and insect α -amylase enzyme. This aspect could play an important role not only in the management of nutritional and diabetes-related disorders, but it could also open new paths in the fight against pests.

A mixed-type inhibition of α -amylase was observed, thus suggesting that the inhibitor can bind to the enzyme at more than one site and inhibits its activity through more than one mechanism.

The temperature optimum of the inhibitor is about 40°C and it has two pH optima (5 and 6.5).

It is very interesting its resistance to thermal denaturation (about 25% of activity retained, even at 100 °C for 5 hours). The purification allowed to significantly enhance this feature, since the raw extract lost completely its activity after 10 minutes at 90 and 100 °C, high-lighting the importance and the usefulness of the purification procedure.

This high temperature tolerance, the duration of inhibitory activity over time, the broad pH stability and the fact that no agglutination activity is present in the purified protein, indicate the purified α -AI effectiveness in the production of food supplement resistant to different gut conditions or the possibility to produce cooked foodstuffs enriched with α -AI.

On the whole, these data pave the way not only to the production of new food supplements enriched with purified α -AI useful in the management of obesity and diabetes treatment, but they also suggest that the purified α -AI could be a good potential candidate for insect pest management.

Final considerations

Phaseolus vulgaris α -amylase inhibitor (α -AI) is a protein that recently gained commercial interest. This protein inhibits mammalian α -amylase activity, reducing carbohydrates absorption. Numerous studies reported the efficacy of preparations based on this protein on the control of glycaemic peaks in type-2 diabetes patients and in overweight subjects. A positive influence in microbiota regulation has been also described. Besides, it can be also employed to control pest infestation since it is also able to inhibit insect amylase. In this context, the development of novel inhibitors from commercial legumes is an important task to preserve local biodiversity and rediscover partially forgotten species and cultivars.

In accordance, a screening was performed on 9 rare Sardinian common bean varieties and on one commercial cultivar from Veneto, identifying some features useful for producing dietary supplements effective in obesity and diabetes management.

Even though two cultivars have not α -AI inhibitory activity (Fasolu Pintau and Faitta a Cavanedda), molecular studies showed that the α -AI gene is expressed in all cultivars. Besides, the partial nucleotide sequence of α -AI gene was identified with the degenerate hybrid oligonucleotide primer (CODEHOP) strategy, in order to identify genetic variability, possibly linked to the functional α -AI differences. The cultivars Pisu Grogu and Fasolu α -AI share more molecular characteristics with isoform α -AI-4 rather than with isoform α -AI-1.

This study revealed that the Sardinian cultivar called Nieddone is of particular interest for its inhibitory activity on digestive enzymes and for the absence of hemagglutination power on human red cells. Its purified inhibitor has a tetrameric structure with a molecular weight of about 42 kDa, an interesting stability to high temperatures, and a relevant durability of inhibitory activity over the time.

The effectiveness of the purified α -AI against pig, human and insect α -amylase enzyme highlights the potential of this protein in the obesity and diabetes treatment and in the management of insect pests.

A future goal will be to complete cDNA sequencing of all these cultivars to increase understanding of the primary structure of these proteins, improving the mechanistic characterization of this protein-protein interaction, in order to valorise the Sardinian biodiversity and increase the commercial value of some cultivar such as Nieddone.

A possible strategy could be the nano-formulation of the most promising species to improve their bio-pharmaceutical properties, such as resistance to proteolytic degradation in both mammalian and insect gastrointestinal tract.

However, before developing commercial application of a cultivar, a crucial point to be investigated concerns the feasibility of extensive cultivation, especially in the case of the Nieddone cultivar. In fact, it must take into consideration that these cultivars currently are only cultivated in very small plot of lands, present in very limited spatial regions.

Therefore, it will be necessary to deepen the agronomic aspects related to the plant needs in terms of water supply, sun exposure and light, soil type, nutrient and fertilizer. These pieces of information will be useful in understanding whether these cultivars can be cultivated on a large scale, in greenhouses or on open ground in Sardinia or other regions. Even though the common bean is mainly self-pollinated, natural hybridization in both and wild cultivated populations is reported [235]. Therefore, it is necessary to take precautions for maintain genetic integrity. At this regard, it will be necessary to involve not only botanists, but also farmers and entrepreneurs interested in cultivating these cultivars for use in the production of food supplements and for the commercialisation. In addition, resistance to local pathogens and insects will have to be studied and possible treatments against these agents evaluated. On the whole, this study has broadened the knowledge about this class of proteins and these 9 poorly studied common bean cultivars, fuelling the valorisation of Sardinian

biodiversity.

References

- The European Association for the Study of Obesity https://easo.org/mediaportal/statistics/#:~:text=Overweight%20and%20obesity%20are%20the,attributable%20to%20overweight% 20and%20obesity.
- Barrett, M. L.; Udani, J. K. A proprietary alpha-amylase inhibitor from white bean (Phaseolus vulgaris): A review of clinical studies on weight loss and glycemic control. *Nutr. J.* 2011, *10*, 1–10, doi:10.1186/1475-2891-10-24.
- Meigs, J. B.; Wilson, P. W. F.; Fox, C. S.; Vasan, R. S.; Nathan, D. M.; Sullivan, L. M.; D'Agostino, R. B. Body mass index, metabolic syndrome, and risk of type 2 diabetes or cardiovascular disease. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 2006, *91*, 2906–2912, doi:10.1210/jc.2006-0594.
- Raud, B.; Gay, C.; Guiguet-Auclair, C.; Bonnin, A.; Gerbaud, L.; Pereira, B.; Duclos, M.; Boirie, Y.;
 Coudeyre, E. Level of obesity is directly associated with the clinical and functional consequences of knee osteoarthritis. *Sci. Rep.* 2020, *10*, 3601, doi:10.1038/s41598-020-60587-1.
- Taroeno-Hariadi, K. W.; Hardianti, M. S.; Sinorita, H.; Aryandono, T. Obesity, leptin, and deregulation of microRNA in lipid metabolisms: their contribution to breast cancer prognosis. *Diabetol. Metab. Syndr.* 2021, 13, doi:10.1186/s13098-020-00621-4.
- Lois, K.; Kumar, S. Obesity and diabetes. *Endocrinol. y Nutr. organo la Soc. Esp. Endocrinol. y Nutr.* 2009, 56 Suppl 4, 38–42.
- Verma, S.; Hussain, M. E. Obesity and diabetes: An update. *Diabetes Metab. Syndr. Clin. Res. Rev.* 2017, 11, 73–79, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsx.2016.06.017.
- Schnurr, T. M.; Jakupović, H.; Carrasquilla, G. D.; Ängquist, L.; Grarup, N.; Sørensen, T. I. A.; Tjønneland, A.; Overvad, K.; Pedersen, O.; Hansen, T.; Kilpeläinen, T. O. Obesity, unfavourable lifestyle and genetic risk of type 2 diabetes: a case-cohort study. *Diabetologia* 2020, *63*, 1324–1332, doi:10.1007/s00125-020-05140-5.
- Golay, A.; Ybarra, J. Link between obesity and type 2 diabetes. *Best Pract. Res. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 2005, 19, 649–663, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beem.2005.07.010.
- Mohammad, S.; Aziz, R.; Al Mahri, S.; Malik, S. S.; Haji, E.; Khan, A. H.; Khatlani, T. S.; Bouchama, A. Obesity and COVID-19: what makes obese host so vulnerable? *Immun. Ageing* 2021, *18*, doi:10.1186/s12979-020-00212-x.
- Bell, S. J.; Sears, B. Low-glycemic-load diets: impact on obesity and chronic diseases. *Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr.* 2003, *43*, 357–377, doi:10.1080/10408690390826554.
- Udani, J.; Tan, O.; Molina, J. Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of a Proprietary Alpha-Amylase Inhibitor from White Bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.) on Weight and Fat Loss in Humans. *Foods* 2018, *7*, 63, doi:10.3390/foods7040063.
- Fukagawa, N. K.; Anderson, J. W.; Hageman, G.; Young, V. R.; Minaker, K. L. High-carbohydrate, high-fiber diets increase peripheral insulin sensitivity in healthy young and old adults. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 1990, 52, 524–528, doi:10.1093/ajcn/52.3.524.
- Kaur, N.; Kumar, V.; Nayak, S. K.; Wadhwa, P.; Kaur, P.; Sahu, S. K. Alpha-Amylase as Molecular Target for Treatment of Diabetes Mellitus: A Comprehensive Review. *Chem. Biol. Drug Des.* 2021, doi:10.1111/cbdd.13909.
- Kandra, L. α-Amylases of medical and industrial importance. J. Mol. Struct. THEOCHEM 2003, 666–667, 487–498, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.theochem.2003.08.073.

- Hasegawa, K.; Kubota, M.; Matsuura, Y. Roles of catalytic residues in α-amylases as evidenced by the structures of the product-complexed mutants of a maltotetraose-forming amylase. *Protein Eng.* 1999, *12*, 819–824, doi:10.1093/protein/12.10.819.
- Yoon, S. H.; Bruce Fulton, D.; Robyt, J. F. Formation of covalent β-linked carbohydrate-enzyme intermediates during the reactions catalyzed by α-amylases. *Carbohydr. Res.* 2007, *342*, 55–64, doi:10.1016/j.carres.2006.10.028.
- Whitcomb, D. C.; Lowe, M. E. Human pancreatic digestive enzymes. *Dig. Dis. Sci.* 2007, *52*, 1–17, doi:10.1007/s10620-006-9589-z.
- Saboury, A. A.; Karbassi, F. Thermodynamic studies on the interaction of calcium ions with alpha-amylase. *Thermochim. Acta* 2000, *362*, 121–129, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-6031(00)00579-7.
- de Sales, P. M.; de Souza, P. M.; Simeoni, L. A.; Magalhães, P. de O.; Silveira, D. α-amylase inhibitors: A review of raw material and isolated compounds from plant source. *J. Pharm. Pharm. Sci.* 2012, *15*, 141–183, doi:10.18433/J35S3K.
- Tangphatsornruang, S.; Naconsie, M.; Thammarongtham, C.; Narangajavana, J. Isolation and characterization of an alpha-amylase gene in cassava (Manihot esculenta). *Plant Physiol. Biochem. PPB* 2005, 43, 821–827, doi:10.1016/j.plaphy.2005.07.014.
- Li, H.; Zhou, H.; Zhang, J.; Fu, X.; Ying, Z.; Liu, X. Proteinaceous α-amylase inhibitors: purification, detection methods, types and mechanisms. *Int. J. Food Prop.* 2021, 24, 277–290, doi:10.1080/10942912.2021.1876087.
- Yamagishi, S.; Matsui, T.; Ueda, S.; Fukami, K.; Okuda, S. Clinical utility of acarbose, an alpha-glucosidase inhibitor in cardiometabolic disorders. *Curr. Drug Metab.* 2009, *10*, 159–163, doi:10.2174/138920009787522133.
- 24. Sun, L.; Warren, F. J.; Gidley, M. J. Natural products for glycaemic control: Polyphenols as inhibitors of alpha-amylase. *Trends Food Sci. Technol.* **2019**, *91*, 262–273, doi:10.1016/j.tifs.2019.07.009.
- Kaeswurm, J. A. H.; Claasen, B.; Fischer, M.-P.; Buchweitz, M. Interaction of Structurally Diverse Phenolic Compounds with Porcine Pancreatic α-Amylase. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2019, 67, 11108–11118, doi:10.1021/acs.jafc.9b04798.
- Papoutsis, K.; Zhang, J.; Bowyer, M. C.; Brunton, N.; Gibney, E. R.; Lyng, J. Fruit, vegetables, and mushrooms for the preparation of extracts with α-amylase and α-glucosidase inhibition properties: A review. *Food Chem.* 2021, *338*, 128119, doi:10.1016/j.foodchem.2020.128119.
- Li, X.; Bai, Y.; Jin, Z.; Svensson, B. Food-derived non-phenolic α-amylase and α-glucosidase inhibitors for controlling starch digestion rate and guiding diabetes-friendly recipes. *Lwt* 2022, *153*, 112455, doi:10.1016/j.lwt.2021.112455.
- Li, L.; Fan, Q.; Zhao, W. High effective proteinaceous α-amylase inhibitors from grains and control release. *Lwt* 2022, *157*, 113098, doi:10.1016/j.lwt.2022.113098.
- Bharadwaj, R. P.; Raju, N. G.; Chandrashekharaiah, K. S. Purification and characterization of alpha-amylase inhibitor from the seeds of underutilized legume, *Mucuna pruriens*. J. Food Biochem. 2018, e12686, doi:10.1111/jfbc.12686.
- Yamada, T.; Hattori, K.; Ishimoto, M. Purification and characterization of two α-amylase inhibitors from seeds of tepary bean (Phaseolus acutifolius A. Gray). *Phytochemistry* 2001, *58*, 59–66, doi:10.1016/S0031-9422(01)00178-9.
- 31. Ramírez-jiménez, A. K.; Reynoso-camacho, R.; Tejero, M. E.; León-galván, F.; Loarca-piña, G. Potential role of bioactive compounds of *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. on lipid-lowering mechanisms. *Food Res. Int.* **2015**,

76, 92-104, doi:10.1016/j.foodres.2015.01.002.

- Bosi, S.; Bregola, V.; Dinelli, G.; Trebbi, G.; Truzzi, F.; Marotti, I. The nutraceutical value of grain legumes: characterisation of bioactives and antinutritionals related to diabesity management. *Int. J. Food Sci. Technol.* 2019, 1–9, doi:10.1111/ijfs.14204.
- 33. Kusaba-Nakayama, M.; Ki, M.; Iwamoto, M.; Shibata, R.; Sato, M.; Imaizumi, K. CM3, one of the wheat alpha-amylase inhibitor subunits, and binding of IgE in sera from Japanese with atopic dermatitis related to wheat. *Food Chem. Toxicol.* 2000, *38*, 179–185, doi:10.1016/s0278-6915(99)00143-x.
- Moreno, J.; Altabella, T.; Chrispeels, M. J. Characterization of α-amylase-inhibitor, a lectin-like protein in the seeds of Phaseolus vulgaris. *Plant Physiol.* **1990**, *92*, 703–709, doi:10.1104/pp.92.3.703.
- Mojica, L.; de Mejía, E. G. Characterization and Comparison of Protein and Peptide Profiles and their Biological Activities of Improved Common Bean Cultivars (Phaseolus vulgaris L.) from Mexico and Brazil. *Plant Foods Hum. Nutr.* 2015, *70*, 105–112, doi:10.1007/s11130-015-0477-6.
- Kluh, I.; Horn, M.; Hýblová, J.; Hubert, J.; Dolečková-Marešová, L.; Voburka, Z.; Kudlíková, I.; Kocourek,
 F.; Mareš, M. Inhibitory specificity and insecticidal selectivity of α-amylase inhibitor from Phaseolus
 vulgaris. *Phytochemistry* 2005, 66, 31–39, doi:10.1016/j.phytochem.2004.11.001.
- 37. Santimone, M.; Koukiekolo, R.; Moreau, Y.; Le Berre, V.; Rougé, P.; Marchis-Mouren, G.; Desseaux, V. Porcine pancreatic α-amylase inhibition by the kidney bean (Phaseolus vulgaris) inhibitor (α-AI1) and structural changes in the α-amylase inhibitor complex. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Proteins Proteomics* 2004, *1696*, 181–190, doi:10.1016/j.bbapap.2003.11.001.
- Obiro, W. C.; Zhang, T.; Jiang, B. The nutraceutical role of the Phaseolus vulgaris α-amylase inhibitor. *Br. J. Nutr.* 2008, *100*, 1–12, doi:10.1017/S0007114508879135.
- Ishimoto, M.; Suzuki, K.; Iwanaga, M.; Kikuchi, F.; Kitamura, K. Variation of seed α-amylase inhibitors in the common bean. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 1995, *90*, 425–429, doi:10.1007/BF00221985.
- 40. Le Berre-Anton, V.; Nahoum, V.; Payan, F.; Rougé, P. Molecular basis for the specific binding of different α-amylase inhibitors from Phaseolus vulgaris seeds to the active site of α-amylase. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.* 2000, *38*, 657–665, doi:10.1016/S0981-9428(00)01171-2.
- Altabella, T.; Chrispeels, M. J. Tobacco Plants Transformed with the Bean alphaai Gene Express an Inhibitor of Insect alpha-Amylase in Their Seeds. *Plant Physiol.* **1990**, *93*, 805–810, doi:10.1104/pp.93.2.805.
- Schroeder, H. E.; Gollasch, S.; Moore, A.; Tabe, L. M.; Craig, S.; Hardie, D. C.; Chrispeels, M. J.; Spencer, D.; Higgins, T. J. V Bean [alpha]-Amylase Inhibitor Confers Resistance to the Pea Weevil (Bruchus pisorum) in Transgenic Peas (Pisum sativum L.). *Plant Physiol.* 1995, *107*, 1233–1239, doi:10.1104/pp.107.4.1233.
- Brain-Isasi, S.; Álvarez-Lueje, A.; Higgins, T. J. V. Heterologous expression of an α-amylase inhibitor from common bean (Phaseolus vulgaris) in *Kluyveromyces lactis* and *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Microb. Cell Fact.* 2017, *16*, 110, doi:10.1186/s12934-017-0719-4.
- Bhide, A. J.; Channale, S. M.; Yadav, Y.; Bhattacharjee, K.; Pawar, P. K.; Maheshwari, V. L.; Gupta, V. S.;
 Ramasamy, S.; Giri, A. P. Genomic and functional characterization of coleopteran insect-specific α-amylase inhibitor gene from Amaranthus species. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 2017, *94*, 319–332.
- 45. Mojica, L.; de Mejia, E. G.; Granados-Silvestre, M. Á.; Menjivar, M. Evaluation of the hypoglycemic potential of a black bean hydrolyzed protein isolate and its pure peptides using in silico, in vitro and in vivo approaches. *J. Funct. Foods* **2017**, *31*, 274–286.
- 46. Richardson, M. Seed storage proteins: the enzyme inhibitors. Amin. acids, proteins nucleic acids 1991.

- 47. Sumitani, J.-I.; Tsujimoto, Y.; Kawaguchi, T.; Arai, M. Cloning and secretive expression of the gene encoding the proteinaceous α-amylase inhibitor paim from Streptomyces corchorusii. *J. Biosci. Bioeng.* 2000, *90*, 214–216.
- 48. Pereira, P. J. B.; Lozanov, V.; Patthy, A.; Huber, R.; Bode, W.; Pongor, S.; Strobl, S. Specific inhibition of insect α-amylases: yellow meal worm α-amylase in complex with the Amaranth α-amylase inhibitor at 2.0 Å resolution. *Structure* **1999**, *7*, 1079–1088.
- 49. Hoffman, L. M.; Donaldson, D. D. Characterization of two Phaseolus vulgaris phytohemagglutinin genes closely linked on the chromosome. *EMBO J.* **1985**, *4*, 883–889.
- Berre-anton, L.; Bompard-gilles, C.; Rouge, P. Characterization and functional properties of the alphaamylase inhibitor (alpha-AI) from kidney bean (Phaseolus vulgaris) seeds. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Gen. Subj.* 1997, 1343, 31–40.
- Suzuki, K.; Ishimoto, M.; Kitamura, K. cDNA sequence and deduced primary structure of an α-amylase inhibitor from a bruchid-resistant wild common bean. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta (BBA)-Protein Struct. Mol. Enzymol.* 1994, 1206, 289–291.
- 52. Finardi-Filho, F.; Mirkov, T. E.; Chrispeels, M. J. A putative precursor protein in the evolution of the bean α-amylase inhibitor. *Phytochemistry* **1996**, *43*, 57–62.
- 53. Lee, S.-C.; Gepts, P. L.; Whitaker, J. R. Protein structures of common bean (Phaseolus vulgaris) alphaamylase inhibitors. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **2002**, *50*, 6618–6627, doi:10.1021/jf020189t.
- 54. Nodari, R. O.; Tsail, S. M.; Gilbertson, R. L.; Gepts, P. Towards an integrated linkage map of common bean
 2. Development of an RFLP-based linkage map. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 1993, *85*, 513–520.
- 55. Mirkov, T. E.; Wahlstrom, J. M.; Hagiwara, K.; Finardi-Filho, F.; Kjemtrup, S.; Chrispeels, M. J. Evolutionary relationships among proteins in the phytohemagglutinin-arcelin-α-amylase inhibitor family of the common bean and its relatives. *Plant Mol. Biol.* **1994**, *26*, 1103–1113.
- 56. Pueyo, J. .; Hunt, D. C.; Chrispeels, M. J. Activation of bean (Phaseolus vulgaris) α-amylase inhibitor requires proteolytic processing of the proprotein. *Plant Physiol.* **1993**, *101*, 1341–1348.
- 57. Campbell, P. M.; Reiner, D.; Moore, A. E.; Lee, R.-Y.; Epstein, M. M.; Higgins, T. J. V Comparison of the α-Amylase Inhibitor-1 from Common Bean (Phaseolus vulgaris) Varieties and Transgenic Expression in Other Legumes Post-Translational Modifications and Immunogenicity. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2011, 59, 6047–6054.
- Yamaguchi, H. Isolation and characterization of the subunits of Phaseolus vulgaris α-amylase inhibitor. J. Biochem. 1991, 110, 785–789.
- 59. Bowman, D. E. Amylase inhibitor of navy beans. *Science (80-.).* **1945**, *102*, 358–359.
- Hoffman, L. M.; Ma, Y.; Barker, R. F. Molecular cloning of Phaseolus vulgaris lectin mRNA and use of cDNA as a probe to estimate lectin transcript levels in various tissues. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 1982, 10, 7819– 7828.
- Bompard-Gilles, C.; Rousseau, P.; Rougé, P.; Payan, F. Substrate mimicry in the active center of a mammalian α amylase: structural analysis of an enzyme–inhibitor complex. *Structure* 1996, *4*, 1441–1452.
- Moreno, J.; Chrispeels, M. J. A lectin gene encodes the alpha-amylase inhibitor of the common bean. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 1989, 86, 7885–7889.
- Marshall, J. J.; Lauda, C. M.; Marshall; Lauda; Marshall, J. J.; Lauda, C. M.; Marshall; Lauda Purification and properties of phaseolamin, an inhibitor of alpha-amylase, from the kidney bean, Phaseolus vulgaris. *J. Biol. Chem.* 1975, 250, 8030–8037.
- 64. McCarter, J. D.; Withers, S. G. Unequivocal identification of Asp-214 as the catalytic nucleophile of

Saccharomyces cerevisiae α -glucosidase using 5-fluoro glycosyl fluorides. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1996**, 271, 6889–6894.

- 65. Hamelryck, T. W.; Dao-Thi, M.-H.; Poortmans, F.; Chrispeels, M. J.; Wyns, L.; Loris, R. The crystallographic structure of phytohemagglutinin-L. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1996**, *271*, 20479–20485.
- Qian, M.; Haser, R.; Buisson, G.; Duee, E.; Payan, F. The Active Center of a Mammalian .alpha.-Amylase.
 Structure of the Complex of a Pancreatic .alpha.-Amylase with a Carbohydrate Inhibitor Refined to 2.2-.
 ANG. Resolution. *Biochemistry* 1994, *33*, 6284–6294, doi:10.1021/bi00186a031.
- Payan, F. Structural basis for the inhibition of mammalian and insect α-amylases by plant protein inhibitors.
 Biochim. Biophys. Acta Proteins Proteomics 2004, *1696*, 171–180, doi:10.1016/j.bbapap.2003.10.012.
- 68. Mirkov, T. E.; Evans, S. V.; Washlstrom, J.; Gomez, L.; Young, N. M.; Chrispeels, M. J. Location of the active site of the bean α-amylase inhibitor and involvement of a trp, arg, tyr triad. *Glycobiology* **1995**, *5*, 45–50, doi:10.1093/glycob/5.1.45.
- Nahoum, V.; Roux, G.; Anton, V.; Rougé, P.; Puigserver, A.; Bischoff, H.; Henrissat, B.; Payan, F. Crystal structures of human pancreatic alpha-amylase in complex with carbohydrate and proteinaceous inhibitors. *Biochem. J.* 2000, 346 Pt 1, 201–208.
- Pallaghy, P. K.; Norton, R. S.; Nielsen, K. J.; Craik, D. J. A common structural motif incorporating a cystine knot and a triple-stranded β-sheet in toxic and inhibitory polypeptides. *Protein Sci.* 1994, *3*, 1833–1839.
- Brayer, G. D.; Luo, Y.; Withers, S. G. The structure of human pancreatic α-amylase at 1.8 Å resolution and comparisons with related enzymes. *Protein Sci.* 1995, *4*, 1730–1742.
- 72. Kasahara, K.; Hayashi, K.; Arakawa, T.; Philo, J. S.; Wen, J.; Hara, S.; Yamaguchi, H. Complete sequence, subunit structure, and complexes with pancreatic α-amylase of an α-amylase inhibitor from Phaseolus vulgaris white kidney beans. *J. Biochem.* **1996**, *120*, 177–183.
- 73. Dubois, M.; Gilles, K. A.; Hamilton, J. K.; Rebers, P. A.; Smith, F. Colorimetric method for determination of sugars and related substances. *Anal. Chem. (Washington, DC, United States)* **1956**, *28*, 350–356.
- 74. Yamaguchi, H.; Funaoka, H.; Iwamoto, H. Structures of sugar chains of the subunits of an α-amylase inhibitor from Phaseolus vulgaris white kidney beans. *J. Biochem.* **1992**, *111*, 388–395.
- Franco, O. L.; Rigden, D. J.; Melo, F. R.; Grossi-de-Sá, M. F. Plant α-amylase inhibitors and their interaction with insect α-amylases: Structure, function and potential for crop protection. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 2002, 269, 397–412.
- 76. Nahoum, V.; Farisei, F.; Le-Berre-Anton, V.; Egloff, M. P.; Rougé, P.; Poerio, E.; Payan, F. A plant-seed inhibitor of two classes of α-amylases: X-ray analysis of Tenebrio molitor larvae α-amylase in complex with the bean Phaseolus vulgaris inhibitor. *Acta Crystallogr. Sect. D Biol. Crystallogr.* **1999**, *55*, 360–362.
- Powers, J. R.; Whitaker, J. R. Effect of Several Experimental Parameters on Combination of Red Kidney Bean (Phaseolus Vulgaris) A-Amylase Inhibitor With Porcine Pancreatic A-Amylase. *J. Food Biochem.* 1978, *1*, 239–260, doi:10.1111/j.1745-4514.1978.tb00184.x.
- 78. Kotaru, M.; Yoshikawa, H.; Ikeuchi, T.; Saito, K.; Iwami, K.; Ibuki, F. An alpha-amylase inhibitor from cranberry bean (Phaseolus vulgaris): its specificity in inhibition of mammalian pancreatic alpha-amylases and formation of a complex with the porcine enzyme. *J. Nutr. Sci. Vitaminol. (Tokyo).* **1987**, *33*, 359–367, doi:10.3177/jnsv.33.359.
- Lajolo, F. M.; Filho, F. F. Partial Characterization of the Amylase Inhibitor of Black Beans (Phaseolus vulgaris), Variety Rico 23. J. Agric. Food Chem. 1985, 33, 132–138, doi:10.1021/jf00061a038.
- Gibbs, B. F.; Alli, I. Characterization of a purified α-amylase inhibitor from white kidney beans (Phaseolus vulgaris). *Food Res. Int.* **1998**, *31*, 217–225, doi:10.1016/S0963-9969(98)00074-X.

- Wang, H. H.; Chen, C. L.; Jeng, T. L.; Sung, J. M. Comparisons of α-amylase inhibitors from seeds of common bean mutants extracted through three phase partitioning. *Food Chem.* 2011, *128*, 1066–1071, doi:10.1016/j.foodchem.2011.04.015.
- Valencia, A.; Bustillo, A. E.; Ossa, G. E.; Chrispeels, M. J. α-amylases of the coffee berry borer (Hypothenemus hampei) and their inhibition by two plant amylase inhibitors. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 2000, *30*, 207–213, doi:10.1016/S0965-1748(99)00115-0.
- Collins, C. L.; Eason, P. J.; Dunshea, F. R.; Higgins, T. J. V; King, R. H. Starch but not protein digestibility is altered in pigs fed transgenic peas containing α-amylase inhibitor. *J. Sci. Food Agric.* 2006, 86, 1894–1899, doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.2551.
- 84. WHO https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/obesity-and-overweight, 2021.
- Olokoba, A. B.; Obateru, O. A.; Olokoba, L. B. Type 2 diabetes mellitus: A review of current trends. *Oman Med. J.* 2012, 27, 269–273, doi:10.5001/omj.2012.68.
- Reed, J.; Bain, S.; Kanamarlapudi, V. A review of current trends with type 2 diabetes epidemiology, aetiology, pathogenesis, treatments and future perspectives. *Diabetes, Metab. Syndr. Obes. Targets Ther.*2021, 14, 3567–3602, doi:10.2147/DMSO.S319895.
- Carai, M. A. M.; Fantini, N.; Loi, B.; Colombo, G.; Riva, A.; Morazzoni, P. Potential efficacy of preparations derived from Phaseolus vulgaris in the control of appetite, energy intake, and carbohydrate metabolism. *Diabetes, Metab. Syndr. Obes. Targets Ther.* 2009, 2, 145–153, doi:10.2147/dmsott.s4236.
- Kakade, M. L.; Evans, R. J. Growth Inhibition of Rats Fed Raw Navy Beans (Phaseolus vulgaris). J. Nutr. 1966, 90, 191–198, doi:10.1093/jn/90.2.191.
- Maranesi, M.; Carenini, G.; Gentili, P. Nutritional studies on anti alpha-amylase: I) Influence on the growth rate, blood picture and biochemistry and histological parameters in rats. *Acta Vitaminol. Enzymol.* 1984, 6, 259–269.
- 90. Maranesi, M.; Barzanti, V.; Biagi, P. L.; Carenini, G.; Gentili, P. Nutritional studies on anti-alpha-amylase:
 II) Lipid metabolism investigation: fatty acid composition of organs and tissues. *Acta Vitaminol. Enzymol.* 1984, *6*, 347–353.
- 91. Grant, G.; Dorward, P. M.; Buchan, W. C.; Armour, J. C.; Pusztai, A. Consumption of diets containing raw soya beans (Glycine max), kidney beans (Phaseolus vulgaris), cowpeas (Vigna unguiculata) or lupin seeds (Lupinus angustifolius) by rats for up to 700 days: effects on body composition and organ weights. *Br. J. Nutr.* 1995, 73, 17–29.
- 92. Pusztai, A.; Grant, G.; TJ, D.; Brown, D.; Peumans, W.; Damme, E.; Bardocz, S. Inhibition of starch digestion by α-amylase inhibitor reduces the efficiency of utilization of dietary proteins and lipids and retards the growth of rats. *J. Nutr.* **1995**, *125*, 1554–1562, doi:10.1093/jn/125.6.1554.
- 93. Fantini, N.; Cabras, C.; Lobina, C.; Colombo, G.; Gessa, G. L.; Riva, A.; Donzelli, F.; Morazzoni, P.;
 Bombardelli, E.; Carai, M. A. M. Reducing effect of a Phaseolus vulgaris dry extract on food intake, body weight, and glycemia in rats. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 2009, *57*, 9316–9323, doi:10.1021/jf900711z.
- 94. Loi, B.; Fantini, N.; Colombo, G.; Gessa, G. L.; Riva, A.; Bombardelli, E.; Morazzoni, P.; Carai, M. A. M. Reducing effect of a combination of Phaseolus vulgaris and Cynara scolymus extracts on food intake and glycemia in rats. *Phytother. Res.* 2013, *27*, 258–263, doi:10.1002/ptr.4704.
- 95. Shi, Z.; Zhu, Y.; Teng, C.; Yao, Y.; Ren, G.; Richel, A. Anti-obesity effects of α-amylase inhibitor enrichedextract from white common beans (: Phaseolus vulgaris L.) associated with the modulation of gut microbiota composition in high-fat diet-induced obese rats. *Food Funct.* **2020**, *11*, 1624–1634, doi:10.1039/c9fo01813a.
- 96. Tormo, M. A.; Gil-Exojo, I.; de Tejada, A. R.; Campillo, J. E. Hypoglycaemic and anorexigenic activities of

an α -amylase inhibitor from white kidney beans (Phaseolus vulgaris) in Wistar rats. *Br. J. Nutr.* **2004**, *92*, 785–790, doi:10.1079/bjn20041260.

- 97. Tormo, M. A.; Gil-Exojo, I.; De Tejada, A. R.; Campillo, J. E. White bean amylase inhibitor administered orally reduces glycaemia in type 2 diabetic rats. *Br. J. Nutr.* **2006**, *96*, 539–544, doi:10.1079/BJN20061836.
- Ocho-Anin atchibri, A. L.; Brou, K. D.; Kouakou, T. H.; Kouadio, Y. J.; Gnakri, D. Screening for antidiabetic activity and phytochemical constituents of common bean (phaseolus vulgaris L.) seeds. *J. Med. Plants Res.* 2010, *4*, 1757–1761, doi:10.5897/JMPR10.280.
- Pereira, L. L. S.; Pereira, C. A.; de Sousa, R. V.; dos Santos, C. D.; de Moraes, C. F.; Sátiro, L. C. White bean flour (Phaseolus vulgaris): Therapeutic and toxicological research in Wistar rats. *J. Appl. Pharm. Sci.* 2012, 2, 1–7, doi:10.7324/JAPS.2012.2301.
- Qin, G.; Wang, F.; Liang, H.; Tang, S.; Shekh, K.; Wang, Y.; Li, B.; Dong, B.; Wen, P. Subchronic Study of a White Kidney Bean (Phaseolus vulgaris) Extract with α -Amylase Inhibitory Activity. *Biomed Res. Int.* 2019, 2019, doi:10.1155/2019/9272345.
- 101. Kondo, T.; Hayakawa, T.; Shibata, T.; Sato, Y.; Toda, Y. Serum levels of pancreatic enzymes in lean and obese subjects. *Int. J. Pancreatol.* **1988**, *3*, 241–248, doi:10.1007/BF02788453.
- 102. Schneeman, B. O.; Inman, M. D.; Stern, J. S. Pancreatic enzyme activity in obese and lean Zucker rats: a developmental study. *J. Nutr.* **1983**, *113*, 921–925, doi:10.1093/jn/113.4.921.
- 103. Udani, J.; Hardy, M.; Kavoussi, B. Dietary Supplement Carbohydrate Digestion Inhibitors: A Review of the Literature. In *Obesity: Epidemiology, Pathophysiology, and Prevention*; 2007; pp. 279–297 ISBN 978-0-8493-3802-1.
- 104. Bo-Linn, G. W.; Ana, C. A. S.; Morawski, S. G.; Fordtran, J. S. Starch Blockers Their Effect on Calorie Absorption from a High-Starch Meal. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **1982**, *307*, 1413–1416, doi:10.1056/NEJM198212023072301.
- 105. Carlson, G. L.; Li, B. U.; Bass, P.; Olsen, W. A. A bean alpha-amylase inhibitor formulation (starch blocker) is ineffective in man. *Science* **1983**, *219*, 393–395, doi:10.1126/science.6184780.
- Hollenbeck, C. B.; Coulston, A. M.; Quan, R.; Becker, T. R.; Vreman, H. J.; Stevenson, D. K.; Reaven, G. M. Effects of a commercial starch blocker preparation on carbohydrate digestion and absorption: in vivo and in vitro studies. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **1983**, *38*, 498–503, doi:10.1093/ajcn/38.4.498.
- 107. Layer, P.; Carlson, G. L.; Dimagno, E. P. Partially purified white bean amylase inhibitor reduces starch digestion in vitro and inactivates intraduodenal amylase in humans. *Gastroenterology* **1985**, 88, 1895–1902, doi:10.1016/0016-5085(85)90016-2.
- 108. Layer, P.; Zinsmeister, A. R.; DiMagno, E. P. Effects of decreasing intraluminal amylase activity on starch digestion and postprandial gastrointestinal function in humans. *Gastroenterology* **1986**, *91*, 41–48, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-5085(86)90436-1.
- 109. Jain, N. K.; Boivin, M.; Zinsmeister, A. R.; Brown, M. L.; Malagelada, J. R.; DiMagno, E. P. Effect of ileal perfusion of carbohydrates and amylase inhibitor on gastrointestinal hormones and emptying. *Gastroenterology* **1989**, *96*, 377–387, doi:10.1016/0016-5085(89)91561-8.
- Brugge, W. R.; Rosenfeld, M. S. Impairment of starch absorption by a potent amylase inhibitor. *Am. J. Gastroenterol.* 1987, 82, 718–722.
- 111. Boivin, M.; Zinsmeister, A. R.; Go, V. L.; DiMagno, E. P. Effect of a purified amylase inhibitor on carbohydrate metabolism after a mixed meal in healthy humans. *Mayo Clin. Proc.* 1987, 62, 249–255, doi:10.1016/s0025-6196(12)61900-4.
- 112. Boivin, M.; Flourie, B.; Rizza, R. A.; Go, V. L. W.; DiMagno, E. P. Gastrointestinal and metabolic effects of

amylase inhibition in diabetics. Gastroenterology 1988, 94, 387-394, doi:10.1016/0016-5085(88)90426-X.

- 113. Layer, P.; Rizza, R. A.; Zinsmeister, A. R.; Carlson, G. L.; DiMagno, E. P. Effect of a purified amylase inhibitor on carbohydrate tolerance in normal subjects and patients with diabetes mellitus. *Mayo Clin. Proc.* 1986, *61*, 442–447, doi:10.1016/s0025-6196(12)61978-8.
- 114. Thom, E. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of a new weight-reducing agent of natural origin. *J. Int. Med. Res.* **2000**, *28*, 229–233, doi:10.1177/147323000002800505.
- 115. Preuss, H. G. Bean amylase inhibitor and other carbohydrate absorption blockers: effects on diabesity and general health. *J. Am. Coll. Nutr.* **2009**, *28*, 266–276, doi:10.1080/07315724.2009.10719781.
- Grube, B.; Chong, W. F.; Chong, P. W.; Riede, L. Weight reduction and maintenance with IQP-PV-101: A 12-week randomized controlled study with a 24-week open label period. *Obesity* 2014, 22, 645–651, doi:10.1002/oby.20577.
- 117. Nicolosi, R.; Hughes, D.; Bechtel, D. Evaluation of the Generally Recognized as Safe (GRAS) status of Phase 2[®] white bean (Phaseolus vulgaris) extract. *Bridg. NJ, Cantox Heal. Sci. Int.* **2007**.
- 118. Chokshi, D. Subchronic oral toxicity of a standardized white kidney bean (Phaseolus vulgaris) extract in rats. *Food Chem. Toxicol.* **2007**, *45*, 32–40, doi:10.1016/j.fct.2006.06.021.
- Onakpoya, I.; Aldaas, S.; Terry, R.; Ernst, E. The efficacy of Phaseolus vulgaris as a weight-loss supplement: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised clinical trials. *Br. J. Nutr.* 2011, *106*, 196–202, doi:10.1017/S0007114511001516.
- Udani, J.; Hardy, M.; Madsen, D. C. Blocking carbohydrate absorption and weight loss: a clinical trial using Phase 2 brand proprietary fractionated white bean extract. *Altern. Med. Rev.* 2004, *9*, 63–69.
- 121. Udani, J.; Singh, B. B. Blocking carbohydrate absorption and weight loss: A clinical trial using a proprietary fractionated white bean extract. *Altern. Ther. Health Med.* **2007**, *13*, 32–37.
- 122. Celleno, L.; Tolaini, M. V.; D'Amore, A.; Perricone, N. V; Preuss, H. G. A dietary supplement containing standardized Phaseolus vulgaris extract influences body composition of overweight men and women. *Int. J. Med. Sci.* 2007, *4*, 45–52, doi:10.7150/ijms.4.45.
- 123. Wu, X.; Xu, X.; Shen, J.; Perricone, N. V; Preuss, H. G. Enhanced weight loss from a dietary supplement containing standardized Phaseolus vulgaris extract in overweight men and women. *J. Appl. Res.* 2010, *10*, 73–79.
- 124. Wang, S.; Chen, L.; Yang, H.; Gu, J.; Wang, J.; Ren, F. Regular intake of white kidney beans extract (Phaseolus vulgaris L.) induces weight loss compared to placebo in obese human subjects. *Food Sci. Nutr.* 2020, 8, 1315–1324, doi:10.1002/fsn3.1299.
- Agarwal, P.; Gupta, R. Alpha-amylase inhibition can treat diabetes mellitus. *Res. Rev. J. Med. Heal. Sci* 2016, 5, 1–8.
- 126. Puls, W.; Keup, U. Influence of an α -amylase inhibitor (BAY d 7791) on blood glucose, serum insulin and nefa in starch loading tests in rats, dogs and man. *Diabetologia* **1973**, *9*, 97–101, doi:10.1007/BF01230687.
- 127. Yamada, J.; Yamamoto, T.; Yamaguchi, H. Effects of combination of functional food materials on body weight, body fat percentage, serum triglyceride and blood glucose. **2007**.
- 128. Udani, J. K.; Singh, B. B.; Barrett, M. L.; Preuss, H. G. Lowering the glycemic index of white bread using a white bean extract. *Nutr. J.* **2009**, *8*, 1–5, doi:10.1186/1475-2891-8-52.
- Vinson, J. A.; Al Kharrat, H.; Shuta, D. Investigation of an Amylase Inhibitor on Human Glucose Absorption after Starch Consumption. *Open Nutraceuticals J.* 2009, *2*, 88–91, doi:10.2174/1876396000902010088.
- 130. Zulkarnain, R.; Setiawati, A.; Setiabudy, R. Effect of a combination of Phaseolus vulgaris L. extract and

acarbose on postprandial glucose level after cooked rice intake in healthy volunteers. *Med. J. Indones.* **2009**, *18*, 25–30, doi:10.13181/mji.v18i1.335.

- 131. Spadafranca, A.; Rinelli, S.; Riva, A.; Morazzoni, P.; Magni, P.; Bertoli, S.; Battezzati, A. Phaseolus vulgaris extract affects glycometabolic and appetite control in healthy human subjects. *Br. J. Nutr.* 2013, 109, 1789–1795, doi:10.1017/S0007114512003741.
- 132. Mahmood, N. A review of α-amylase inhibitors on weight loss and glycemic control in pathological state such as obesity and diabetes. *Comp. Clin. Path.* 2016, 25, 1253–1264, doi:10.1007/s00580-014-1967-x.
- 133. Longo-Mbenza, B.; Muaka, M. The protective effect of phaseolus vulgaris on cataract in type 2 diabetes: a profitable hypothesis. *Med. hypothesis, Discov. Innov. Ophthalmol. J.* **2013**, *2*, 105–108.
- 134. Los, F. G. B.; Zielinski, A. A. F.; Wojeicchowski, J. P.; Nogueira, A.; Demiate, I. M. Beans (Phaseolus vulgaris L.): whole seeds with complex chemical composition. *Curr. Opin. Food Sci.* 2018, *19*, 63–71, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cofs.2018.01.010.
- 135. Worku, A.; Sahu, O. Significance of fermentation process on biochemical properties of Phaseolus vulgaris (red beans). *Biotechnol. Reports* **2017**, *16*, 5–11, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.btre.2017.09.001.
- 136. Carmalt, J.; Rosel, K.; Burns, T.; Janzen, E. Suspected white kidney bean (Phaseolus vulgaris) toxicity in horses and cattle. *Aust. Vet. J.* 2003, *81*, 674–676, doi:10.1111/j.1751-0813.2003.tb12534.x.
- 137. de Moya, C. C.; Grant, G.; Frühbeck, G.; Urdaneta, E.; García, M.; Marzo, F.; Santidrián, S. Local (gut) and systemic metabolism of rats is altered by consumption of raw bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L. var. athropurpurea). *Br. J. Nutr.* 2003, *89*, 311–318, doi:10.1079/bjn2002777.
- 138. Marzo, F.; Alonso, R.; Urdaneta, E.; Arricibita, F. J.; Ibáñez, F. Nutritional quality of extruded kidney bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L. var. Pinto) and its effects on growth and skeletal muscle nitrogen fractions in rats. J. Anim. Sci. 2002, 80, 875–879, doi:10.2527/2002.804875x.
- 139. Bardocz, S.; Brown, D. S.; Grant, G.; Pusztai, A.; Stewart, J. C.; Palmer, R. M. Effect of the betaadrenoceptor agonist clenbuterol and phytohaemagglutinin on growth, protein synthesis and polyamine metabolism of tissues of the rat. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* **1992**, *106*, 476–482, doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.1992.tb14359.x.
- 140. Pusztai, A.; Grant, G.; Spencer, R. J.; Duguid, T. J.; Brown, D. S.; Ewen, S. W. B.; Peumans, W. J.; Van Damme, E. J. M.; Bardocz, S. Kidney bean lectin-induced Escherichia coli overgrowth in the small intestine is blocked by GNA, a mannose-specific lectin. *J. Appl. Bacteriol.* **1993**, *75*, 360–368, doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.1993.tb02788.x.
- Kumar, S.; Verma, A. K.; Das, M.; Jain, S. K.; Dwivedi, P. D. Clinical complications of kidney bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.) consumption. *Nutrition* 2013, 29, 821–827, doi:10.1016/j.nut.2012.11.010.
- Nciri, N.; Cho, N.; El Mhamdi, F.; Ben Ismail, H.; Ben Mansour, A.; Sassi, F. H.; Ben Aissa-Fennira, F.
 Toxicity Assessment of Common Beans (Phaseolus vulgaris L.) Widely Consumed by Tunisian Population.
 J. Med. Food 2015, 18, 1049–1064, doi:10.1089/jmf.2014.0120.
- 143. Rodhouse, J. C.; Haugh, C. A.; Roberts, D.; Gilbert, R. J. Red kidney bean poisoning in the UK: An analysis of 50 suspected incidents between 1976 and 1989. *Epidemiol. Infect.* 1990, 105, 485–491, doi:10.1017/S095026880004810X.
- 144. Thompson, L. U.; Rea, R. L.; Jenkins, D. J. A. Effect of Heat Processing on Hemagglutinin Activity in Red Kidney Beans. J. Food Sci. 1983, 48, 235–236, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2621.1983.tb14831.x.
- 145. Burbano, C.; Muzquiz, M.; Ayet, G.; Cuadrado, C.; Pedrosa, M. M. Evaluation of antinutritional factors of selected varieties of Phaseolus vulgaris. J. Sci. Food Agric. 1999, 79, 1468–1472, doi:10.1002/(sici)1097-0010(199908)79:11.

- 146. Grant, G.; More, L. J.; McKenzie, N. H.; Stewart, J. C.; Pusztai, A. A survey of the nutritional and haemagglutination properties of legume seeds generally available in the UK. *Br. J. Nutr.* **1983**, *50*, 207–214, doi:10.1079/bjn19830090.
- 147. Ghorbani, F.; Sadeghi, M.; Aghaei, A.; Ghahghaei, A.; Jalili, C.; Khodarahmi, R. Study of α-Amylase Inhibitors among Different Bean Cultivars and Evaluation of their Effectiveness Compared with a Commercial Product using In Vitro/In Vivo Experimental Systems. *J. Res. Med. Dent. Sci.* 2018, 6, doi:10.5455/jrmds.20186162.
- 148. Yao, Y.; Hu, Y.; Zhu, Y.; Gao, Y.; Ren, G. Comparisons of phaseolin type and α-amylase inhibitor in common bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.) in China. *Crop J.* **2016**, *4*, 68–72, doi:10.1016/j.cj.2015.09.002.
- 149. Pusztai, A.; Grant, G.; Buchan, W. C.; Bardocz, S.; de Carvalho, A. F. F. U.; Ewen, S. W. B. Lipid accumulation in obese Zucker rats is reduced by inclusion of raw kidney bean (Phaseolus vulgaris) in the diet . *Br. J. Nutr.* **1998**, *79*, 213–221, doi:10.1079/bjn19980033.
- 150. Bardocz, S.; Grant, G.; Pusztai, A.; Franklin, M. F.; Carvalho, A. D. F. U. The effect of phytohaemagglutinin at different dietary concentrations on the growth, body composition and plasma insulin of the rat. *Br. J. Nutr.* **1996**, *76*, 613–626, doi:10.1079/bjn19960067.
- 151. Chokshi, D. Toxicity studies of Blockal, a dietary supplement containing Phase 2 Starch Neutralizer (Phase 2), a standardized extract of the common white kidney bean (Phaseolus vulgaris). *Int. J. Toxicol.* 2006, 25, 361–371, doi:10.1080/10915810600846229.
- Harikumar, K. B.; Jesil, A. M.; Sabu, M. C.; Kuttan, R.; Aranjani, J.; Mc, S.; Kuttan, R. A Preliminary
 Assessment of the Acute and Subchronic Toxicity Profile of Phase2: An α-Amylase Inhibitor. *Int. J. Toxicol.* 2005, 24, 95–102, doi:10.1080/10915810590936364.
- 153. Zhang, S.; Cavender, G. A.; Allen, J. C. Max Bloc ® Carb Blocker from Phaseolus Vulgaris with Ultra-high
 α -Amylase Inhibitory Activity for Glycemic Control and Weight Management. *J Nutr Food Sci* 2020, 2, 1–
 8.
- Conlon, M. A.; Bird, A. R. The impact of diet and lifestyle on gut microbiota and human health. *Nutrients* 2015, 7, 17–44, doi:10.3390/nu7010017.
- 155. David, L. A.; Maurice, C. F.; Carmody, R. N.; Gootenberg, D. B.; Button, J. E.; Wolfe, B. E.; Ling, A. V; Devlin, A. S.; Varma, Y.; Fischbach, M. A.; Biddinger, S. B.; Dutton, R. J.; Turnbaugh, P. J. Diet rapidly and reproducibly alters the human gut microbiome. *Nature* 2014, *505*, 559–563, doi:10.1038/nature12820.
- 156. Turnbaugh, P. J.; Ley, R. E.; Mahowald, M. A.; Magrini, V.; Mardis, E. R.; Gordon, J. I. An obesityassociated gut microbiome with increased capacity for energy harvest. *Nature* 2006, 444, 1027–1031, doi:10.1038/nature05414.
- 157. Song, H.; Han, W.; Yan, F.; Xu, D.; Chu, Q.; Zheng, X. Dietary Phaseolus vulgaris extract alleviated dietinduced obesity, insulin resistance and hepatic steatosis and alters gut microbiota composition in mice. *J. Funct. Foods* 2016, 20, 236–244, doi:10.1016/j.jff.2015.10.022.
- 158. Harris, H. C.; Edwards, C. A.; Morrison, D. J. Impact of Glycosidic Bond Configuration on Short Chain Fatty Acid Production from Model Fermentable Carbohydrates by the Human Gut Microbiota. *Nutrients* 2017, 9, 26, doi:10.3390/nu9010026.
- 159. Poeikhampha, T.; Bunchasak, C. Effect of sodium gluconate on pH value, ammonia and short chain fatty acids concentration in batch culture of porcine cecal digesta. *J. Appl. Sci.* 2010, *10*, 1471–1475.
- Laparra, J. M.; Sanz, Y. Interactions of gut microbiota with functional food components and nutraceuticals. *Pharmacol. Res.* 2010, *61*, 219–225, doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2009.11.001.
- 161. Wang; Guo, C.; Xing, Z.; Li, M.; Yang, H.; Zhang, Y.; Ren, F.; Chen, L.; Mi, S. Dietary Intervention With

α-Amylase Inhibitor in White Kidney Beans Added Yogurt Modulated Gut Microbiota to Adjust Blood Glucose in Mice. *Front. Nutr.* **2021**, *8*, 664976, doi:10.3389/fnut.2021.664976.

- 162. Dias, D. M.; Kolba, N.; Hart, J. J.; Ma, M.; Sha, S. T.; Lakshmanan, N.; Nutti, M. R.; Martino, H. S. D.; Glahn, R. P.; Tako, E. Soluble extracts from carioca beans (Phaseolus vulgaris L.) affect the gut microbiota and iron related brush border membrane protein expression in vivo (Gallus gallus). *Food Res. Int.* 2019, *123*, 172–180, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2019.04.060.
- 163. Gomes Mariana, J. C.; da Silva, J. S.; Assis, A.; de Mejia, E. G.; Mantovani, H. C.; Martino, H. S. D. Common Bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.) Flour Can Improve the Gut Microbiota Composition and Function in Mice Fed a High-Fat Diet. *Curr. Dev. Nutr.* **2021**, *5*, 1159, doi:10.1093/cdn/nzab054_014.
- 164. Kilua, A.; Chihiro, H.; Han, K. H.; Homma, K.; Fukuma, N.; Kamitani, T.; Suzuki, T.; Fukushima, M. Whole kidney bean (Phaseolus vulgaris) and bean hull reduce the total serum cholesterol, modulate the gut microbiota and affect the caecal fermentation in rats. *Bioact. Carbohydrates Diet. Fibre* 2020, 24, 100232, doi:10.1016/j.bcdf.2020.100232.
- 165. Feng, Y.; Zhu, J.; Wang, Q.; Cao, H.; He, F.; Guan, Y.; Li, D.; Yan, J.; Yang, J.; Xia, Y.; Dong, M.; Hu, F.; Cao, M.; Wang, J.; Ding, X.; Feng, Y.; Zou, H.; Han, Y.; Sun, S.; Zhang, J.; Tang, A.; Jiang, M.; Deng, Y.; Gao, J.; Jia, Y.; Zhao, W.; Zhang, F. White common bean extract remodels the gut microbiota and ameliorates type 2 diabetes and its complications: A randomized double-blinded placebo-controlled trial. *Front. Endocrinol. (Lausanne).* 2022, *13*, 1–13, doi:10.3389/fendo.2022.999715.
- 166. Peddio, S.; Padiglia, A.; Cannea, F. B.; Crnjar, R.; Sharifi-rad, W. Z. J.; Rescigno, A.; Zucca, P. Common bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.) α -amylase inhibitors as safe nutraceutical strategy against diabetes and obesity : An update review. **2022**, 1–21, doi:10.1002/ptr.7480.
- 167. Celmeli, T.; Sari, H.; Canci, H.; Sari, D.; Adak, A.; Eker, T.; Toker, C. The nutritional content of common bean (phaseolus vulgaris l.) landraces in comparison to modern varieties. *Agronomy* **2018**, 8, doi:10.3390/agronomy8090166.
- 168. Freytag, G. F.; Debouck, D. G. Taxonomy, distribution, and ecology of the genus Phaseolus (Leguminosae-Papilionoideae) in North America, Mexico and central America; BRIT, 2002; ISBN 1889878111.
- 169. OECD Safety Assessment of Foods and Feeds Derived from Transgenic Crops, Volume 3: Common Bean, Rice, Cowpea and Apple Compositional Considerations; Novel Food and Feed Safety; OECD, 2019; ISBN 9789264424371.
- 170. OECD Chapter 2 Sugarcane. Saf. Assess. Transgenic Org. Environ. Vol. 6 OECD Consens. Doc. Harmon. Regul. Overs. Biotechnol. 2016.
- 171. Tekdal, D. Comparison of reproductive organs structure in various genotypes of Phaseolus vulgaris grown under the same conditions in Mersin, Turkey. **2021**, *9*, 3–9.
- 172. Chobot, A.; Górowska-Kowolik, K.; Sokołowska, M.; Jarosz-Chobot, P. Obesity and diabetes-Not only a simple link between two epidemics. *Diabetes. Metab. Res. Rev.* **2018**, *34*, e3042, doi:10.1002/dmrr.3042.
- 173. Swinburn, B.; Egger, G.; Raza, F. Dissecting obesogenic environments: the development and application of a framework for identifying and prioritizing environmental interventions for obesity. *Prev. Med. (Baltim)*.
 1999, 29, 563–570, doi:10.1006/pmed.1999.0585.
- 174. Khan, L. K.; Sobush, K.; Keener, D.; Goodman, K.; Lowry, A.; Kakietek, J.; Zaro, S. Recommended community strategies and measurements to prevent obesity in the United States. *MMWR. Recomm. reports Morb. Mortal. Wkly. report. Recomm. reports* 2009, 58, 1–26.
- 175. Bradford, M. M. A Rapid and Sensitive Method for the Quantitation of Microgram Quantities of Protein Utilizing the Principle of Protein-Dye Binding. *Anal. Biochem.* **1976**, *72*, 248–254.
- 176. Bernfeld, P. Amylase and proteases. *Methods Enzymol.* 1955, 1, 149–154.
- 177. Suganuma, T.; Maeda, Y.; Kitahara, K.; Nagahama, T. Study of the action of human salivary alpha-amylase on 2-chloro-4-nitrophenyl α-maltotrioside in the presence of potassium thiocyanate. *Carbohydr. Res.* 1997, 303, 219–227, doi:10.1016/S0008-6215(97)00150-X.
- 178. Padiglia, A.; Zucca, P.; Cannea, F. B.; Diana, A.; Maxia, C.; Murtas, D.; Rescigno, A. Absence of polyphenol oxidase in cynomorium coccineum, a widespread holoparasitic plant. *Plants* 2020, *9*, 1–13, doi:10.3390/plants9080964.
- 179. Rose, T. M.; Schultz, E. R.; Henikoff, J. G.; Pietrokovski, S.; McCallum, C. M.; Henikoff, S. Consensusdegenerate hybrid oligonucleotide primers for amplification of distantly related sequences. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **1998**, *26*, 1628–1635, doi:10.1093/nar/26.7.1628.
- 180. Madeira, F.; Park, Y. M.; Lee, J.; Buso, N.; Gur, T.; Madhusoodanan, N.; Basutkar, P.; Tivey, A. R. N.; Potter, S. C.; Finn, R. D.; Lopez, R. The EMBL-EBI search and sequence analysis tools APIs in 2019. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2019, *47*, W636–W641, doi:10.1093/nar/gkz268.
- 181. Price, J. L.; Powers, D. L.; Powers, E. T.; Kelly, J. W. Glycosylation of the enhanced aromatic sequon is similarly stabilizing in three distinct reverse turn contexts. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 2011, *108*, 14127– 14132, doi:10.1073/pnas.1105880108.
- 182. Blom, N.; Sicheritz-Pontén, T.; Gupta, R.; Gammeltoft, S.; Brunak, S. Prediction of post-translational glycosylation and phosphorylation of proteins from the amino acid sequence. *Proteomics* 2004, *4*, 1633–1649, doi:10.1002/pmic.200300771.
- Tamura, K.; Stecher, G.; Kumar, S. MEGA11: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis Version 11. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 2021, *38*, 3022–3027, doi:10.1093/molbev/msab120.
- Saitou, N.; Nei, M. The neighbor-joining method: a new method for reconstructing phylogenetic trees. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 1987, *4*, 406–425, doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.molbev.a040454.
- Felsenstein, J. Confidence Limits on Phylogenies: An Approach Using the Bootstrap. *Evolution (N. Y)*.
 1985, *39*, 783–791, doi:10.2307/2408678.
- 186. Chou, P. Y.; Fasman, G. D. Prediction of the Secondary Structure of Proteins from their Amino Acid Sequence. In Advances in Enzymology and Related Areas of Molecular Biology; Advances in Enzymology and Related Areas of Molecular Biology; 1979; pp. 45–148 ISBN 9780470122921.
- 187. Dawson, W.; Mohr, S.; Ratcliff, L. E.; Nakajima, T.; Genovese, L. Complexity Reduction in Density Functional Theory Calculations of Large Systems: System Partitioning and Fragment Embedding. J. Chem. Theory Comput. 2020, 16, 2952–2964, doi:10.1021/acs.jctc.9b01152.
- 188. Mohr, S.; Masella, M.; Ratcliff, L. E.; Genovese, L. Complexity Reduction in Large Quantum Systems: Fragment Identification and Population Analysis via a Local Optimized Minimal Basis. *J. Chem. Theory Comput.* 2017, 13, 4079–4088, doi:10.1021/acs.jctc.7b00291.
- 189. Ratcliff, L. E.; Mohr, S.; Huhs, G.; Deutsch, T.; Masella, M.; Genovese, L. Challenges in large scale quantum mechanical calculations. WIREs Comput. Mol. Sci. 2017, 7, e1290, doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/wcms.1290.
- 190. Ratcliff, L. E.; Dawson, W.; Fisicaro, G.; Caliste, D.; Mohr, S.; Degomme, A.; Videau, B.; Cristiglio, V.; Stella, M.; D'Alessandro, M.; Goedecker, S.; Nakajima, T.; Deutsch, T.; Genovese, L. Flexibilities of wavelets as a computational basis set for large-scale electronic structure calculations. *J. Chem. Phys.* 2020, *152*, 194110, doi:10.1063/5.0004792.
- 191. Grimme, S.; Antony, J.; Ehrlich, S.; Krieg, H. A consistent and accurate ab initio parametrization of density functional dispersion correction (DFT-D) for the 94 elements H-Pu. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2010**, *132*, 154104,

doi:10.1063/1.3382344.

- 192. Willand, A.; Kvashnin, Y. O.; Genovese, L.; Vázquez-Mayagoitia, Á.; Deb, A. K.; Sadeghi, A.; Deutsch, T.; Goedecker, S. Norm-conserving pseudopotentials with chemical accuracy compared to all-electron calculations. J. Chem. Phys. 2013, 138, 104109, doi:10.1063/1.4793260.
- 193. Mohr, S.; Dawson, W.; Wagner, M.; Caliste, D.; Nakajima, T.; Genovese, L. Efficient Computation of Sparse Matrix Functions for Large-Scale Electronic Structure Calculations: The CheSS Library. J. Chem. Theory Comput. 2017, 13, 4684–4698, doi:10.1021/acs.jctc.7b00348.
- 194. Dawson, W.; Degomme, A.; Stella, M.; Nakajima, T.; Ratcliff, L. E.; Genovese, L. Density functional theory calculations of large systems: Interplay between fragments, observables, and computational complexity. *WIREs Comput. Mol. Sci.* 2022, *12*, e1574, doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/wcms.1574.
- 195. Visvanathan, R.; Qader, M.; Jayathilake, C.; Jayawardana, B. C.; Liyanage, R.; Sivakanesan, R. Critical review on conventional spectroscopic α-amylase activity detection methods: merits, demerits, and future prospects. J. Sci. Food Agric. 2020, 100, 2836–2847, doi:10.1002/jsfa.10315.
- Gupta, M.; Sharma, P.; Nath, A. K. Purification of a novel α-amylase inhibitor from local Himalayan bean (Phaseolus vulgaris) seeds with activity towards bruchid pests and human salivary amylase. *J. Food Sci. Technol.* 2014, *51*, 1286–1293, doi:10.1007/s13197-012-0631-1.
- 197. Gella, F. J.; Gubern, G.; Vidal, R.; Canalias, F. Determination of total and pancreatic alpha-amylase in human serum with 2-chloro-4-nitrophenyl-alpha-D-maltotrioside as substrate. *Clin. Chim. Acta.* 1997, 259, 147–160, doi:10.1016/s0009-8981(96)06481-9.
- Winn-Deen, E. S.; David, H.; Sigler, G.; Chavez, R. Development of a direct assay for α-amylase. *Clin. Chem.* 1988, 34, 2005–2008.
- 199. Ngoh, Y.-Y.; Gan, C.-Y. Enzyme-assisted extraction and identification of antioxidative and α-amylase inhibitory peptides from Pinto beans (Phaseolus vulgaris cv. Pinto). *Food Chem.* **2016**, *190*, 331–337, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2015.05.120.
- Shi, Z.; Zhang, X.; Zhu, Y.; Yao, Y.; Ren, G. Natural extracts from white common bean (Phaseolus vulgaris
 1.) inhibit 3T3-11 adipocytes differentiation. *Appl. Sci.* 2021, *11*, 1–11, doi:10.3390/app11010167.
- 201. Alizadeh, H.; Leung, D. W. M.; Cole, A. L. J. Concurrent occurrence of α-amylase inhibitor and stimulator in red kidney bean seed: Physiological implications. *Biol. Plant.* **2010**, *54*, 195–197, doi:10.1007/s10535-010-0034-y.
- 202. Ombra, M. N.; d'Acierno, A.; Nazzaro, F.; Spigno, P.; Riccardi, R.; Zaccardelli, M.; Pane, C.; Coppola, R.; Fratianni, F. Alpha-amylase, α-glucosidase and lipase inhibiting activities of polyphenol-rich extracts from six common bean cultivars of Southern Italy, before and after cooking. *Int. J. Food Sci. Nutr.* **2018**, 1–11, doi:10.1080/09637486.2017.1418845.
- 203. Chiang, Y. C.; Chen, C. L.; Jeng, T. L.; Sung, J. M. Original article In vitro inhibitory effects of cranberry bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.) extracts on aldose reductase, a -glucosidase and a -amylase. 2014, 1470– 1479, doi:10.1111/ijfs.12426.
- 204. Tan, Y.; Chang, S. K. C.; Zhang, Y. Comparison of a -amylase, a -glucosidase and lipase inhibitory activity of the phenolic substances in two black legumes of different genera. *Food Chem.* 2017, 214, 259–268, doi:10.1016/j.foodchem.2016.06.100.
- Alarcón-Espósito, J.; Nina, N.; Theoduloz, C.; Burgos-Edwards, A.; Paillan, H.; Schmeda-Hirschmann, G. Phenolic Composition and α-Glucosidase Inhibition of Leaves from Chilean Bean Landraces. *Plant Foods Hum. Nutr.* 2022, 77, 135–140, doi:10.1007/s11130-022-00955-6.
- 206. Singh, R.; Dobriyal, A. K.; Singh, R. D.; De los Ríos-Escalante, P. Evaluation of inhibitory activity,

purification and X-ray crystallography of Alpha-Amylase inhibitor from Phaseolus vulgaris cultivars of Uttarakhand, India. *Brazilian J. Biol.* **2024**, *84*, 1–6, doi:10.1590/1519-6984.253180.

- Reynoso-Camacho, R.; Ramos-Gomez, M.; Loarca-Pina, G. 10 Bioactive components in common beans (Phaseolus vulgaris L.). 2006.
- 208. Boniglia, C.; Carratù, B.; Di Stefano, S.; Giammarioli, S.; Mosca, M.; Sanzini, E. Lectins, trypsin and αamylase inhibitors in dietary supplements containing Phaseolus vulgaris. *Eur. Food Res. Technol.* 2008, 227, 689–693, doi:10.1007/s00217-007-0773-y.
- Jaffé, W. G.; Vega Lette, C. L. Heat-Labile Growth-Inhibiting Factors in Beans (Phaseolus vulgaris). J. Nutr. 1968, 94, 203–210, doi:10.1093/jn/94.2.203.
- Zubčević, N.; Fočak, M.; Suljević, D. Highly specific hemagglutination activity of plant lectins in specific species: Case of fabaceae and solanaceae. *Bulg. J. Agric. Sci.* 2018, 24, 391–397.
- Deglaire, A.; Moughan, P. J.; Bos, C.; Tome, D. Commercial Phaseolus vulgaris extract (starch stopper) increases ileal endogenous amino acid and crude protein losses in the growing rat. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 2006, 54, 5197–5202, doi:10.1021/jf060692w.
- Sparvoli, F.; Giofré, S.; Cominelli, E.; Avite, E.; Giuberti, G.; Luongo, D.; Gatti, E.; Cianciabella, M.;
 Daniele, G. M.; Rossi, M.; Predieri, S. Sensory Characteristics and Nutritional Quality of Food Products
 Made with a Biofortified and Lectin Free Common Bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.) Flour. *Nutrients* 2021, *13*, doi:10.3390/nu13124517.
- Peddio, S.; Padiglia, A.; Cannea, F. B.; Crnjar, R.; Zam, W.; Sharifi-Rad, J.; Rescigno, A.; Zucca, P.
 Common bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.) α-amylase inhibitors as safe nutraceutical strategy against diabetes and obesity: An update review. *Phyther. Res.* 2022, 1–21, doi:10.1002/ptr.7480.
- Brodersen, P.; Sakvarelidze-Achard, L.; Bruun-Rasmussen, M.; Dunoyer, P.; Yamamoto, Y. Y.; Sieburth,
 L.; Voinnet, O. Widespread translational inhibition by plant miRNAs and siRNAs. *Science* 2008, *320*, 1185–1190, doi:10.1126/science.1159151.
- 215. Li, S.; Liu, L.; Zhuang, X.; Yu, Y.; Liu, X.; Cui, X.; Ji, L.; Pan, Z.; Cao, X.; Mo, B.; Zhang, F.; Raikhel, N.; Jiang, L.; Chen, X. MicroRNAs inhibit the translation of target mRNAs on the endoplasmic reticulum in Arabidopsis. *Cell* **2013**, *153*, 562–574, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.04.005.
- Liu, Y.-X.; Wang, M.; Wang, X.-J. Endogenous small RNA clusters in plants. *Genomics. Proteomics Bioinformatics* 2014, 12, 64–71, doi:10.1016/j.gpb.2014.04.003.
- 217. Peláez, P.; Trejo, M. S.; Iñiguez, L. P.; Estrada-Navarrete, G.; Covarrubias, A. A.; Reyes, J. L.; Sanchez, F. Identification and characterization of microRNAs in Phaseolus vulgaris by high-throughput sequencing. *BMC Genomics* 2012, *13*, 83, doi:10.1186/1471-2164-13-83.
- 218. Castaingts, M.; Kirolinko, C.; Rivero, C.; Artunian, J.; Mancini Villagra, U.; Blanco, F. A.; Zanetti, M. E. Identification of conserved and new miRNAs that affect nodulation and strain selectivity in the Phaseolus vulgaris-Rhizobium etli symbiosis through differential analysis of host small RNAs. *New Phytol.* 2022, 234, 1430–1447, doi:10.1111/nph.18055.
- Laemmli, U. K. Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. *Nature* 1970, 227, 680–685, doi:10.1038/227680a0.
- 220. Hivrale, V. K.; Chougule, N. P.; Giri, A. P.; Chhabda, P. J.; Kachole, M. S. Biochemical characterisation of α-amylase inhibitors from Achyranthes aspera and their interactions with digestive amylases of coleopteran and lepidopteran insects. *J. Sci. Food Agric.* **2011**, *91*, 1773–1780, doi:10.1002/jsfa.4380.
- Burgess, R. R. Chapter 20 Protein Precipitation Techniques. In *Guide to Protein Purification, 2nd Edition*;
 Burgess, R. R., Deutscher, M. P. B. T.-M. in E., Eds.; Academic Press, 2009; Vol. 463, pp. 331–342 ISBN

0076-6879.

- 222. Le Berre-Anton, V.; Bompard-Gilles, C.; Payan, F.; Rougé, P. Characterization and functional properties of the α-amylase inhibitor (α-AI) from kidney bean (Phaseolus vulgaris) seeds. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* -*Protein Struct. Mol. Enzymol.* **1997**, *1343*, 31–40, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-4838(97)00100-3.
- Yang, M. Y.; Zhang, X. Q.; Ma, Y.; Shen, J.; Song, J. R.; Zhu, H. L. Purification and partial characterization of a glycoprotein alpha-amylase inhibitor from white kidney bean (Phaseolus vulgaris. L). *J. Food Biochem.* 2008, *32*, 72–84, doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-4514.2007.00147.x.
- 224. Iulek, J.; Franco, O. L.; Silva, M.; Slivinski, C. T.; Bloch, C. J.; Rigden, D. J.; Grossi de Sá, M. F. Purification, biochemical characterisation and partial primary structure of a new alpha-amylase inhibitor from Secale cereale (rye). *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* **2000**, *32*, 1195–1204, doi:10.1016/s1357-2725(00)00053-4.
- 225. Yamaguchi, H. Isolation and Characterization of the Subunits of a Heat-labile α-Amylase Inhibitor from Phaseolus vulgaris White Kidney Bean. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* **1993**, *57*, 297–302, doi:10.1271/bbb.57.297.
- 226. Suzuki, K.; Ishimoto, M. Characterization of the Third α-Amylase Inhibitor, αAI-3, in the Common Bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.). *Breed. Sci.* **1999**, *49*, 275–280, doi:10.1270/jsbbs.49.275.
- 227. Xu, P.; Chen, L.; Wang, Y. Effect of storage time on antioxidant activity and inhibition on α -Amylase and α -Glucosidase of white tea. *Food Sci. Nutr.* **2019**, *7*, 636–644, doi:10.1002/fsn3.899.
- 228. Karray, A.; Alonazi, M.; Jallouli, R.; Alanazi, H.; Bacha, A. Ben Insecticide Effects against C. maculates Insect Larvae. **2022**.
- 229. Pueyo, J. J.; Morgan, T. D.; Ameenuddin, N.; Liang, C.; Reeck, G. R.; Chrispeels, M. J.; Kramer, K. J. Effects of bean and wheat α-amylase inhibitors on α-amylase activity and growth of stored product insect pests. *Entomol. Exp. Appl.* **1995**, *75*, 237–244, doi:10.1111/j.1570-7458.1995.tb01932.x.
- Sabeghi Khosroshahi, Z.; Abbasipour, H.; Reza Zadeh, A. Inhibitory effect of aqueous bean extract,
 Phaseolus vulgaris (Fabaceae), on α-amylase of the cabbage aphid, Brevicoryne brassicae. *Arch. Agron. Soil Sci.* 2020, 1–9, doi:10.1080/03650340.2020.1796982.
- 231. Viega de Andrade, E. K.; Rodrigues, R.; da Costa Vieira Bard, G.; da Silva Pereira, L.; Ventury Baptista, K. E.; Menezes Cavalcanti, T. F.; Amâncio Oliveira, A. E.; Melo Souza, T. A.; Gomes, V. M. Identification, biochemical characterization and biological role of defense proteins from common bean genotypes seeds in response to Callosobruchus maculatus infestation. *J. Stored Prod. Res.* **2020**, *87*, doi:10.1016/j.jspr.2020.101580.
- 232. El-Latif, A. O. A.; Mohieldeen, N.; Salman, A. M. A.; Elpidina, E. N. Isolation and purification of αamylase inhibitors and their in vitro and in vivo effects on Tribolium castaneum (Herbst) and Callosobruchus maculatus (F.). *J. Plant Prot. Res.* **2020**, *60*, 377–388, doi:10.24425/jppr.2020.134911.
- 233. Grossi de Sa, M. F.; Mirkov, T. E.; Ishimoto, M.; Colucci, G.; Bateman, K. S.; Chrispeels, M. J. Molecular characterization of a bean alpha-amylase inhibitor that inhibits the alpha-amylase of the mexican bean weevil Zabrotes subfasciatus. *Planta* **1997**, *203*, 295–303, doi:10.1007/s004250050195.
- Ishikawa, K.; Matsui, I.; Honda, K.; Nakatani, H. Substrate-dependent shift of optimum pH in porcine pancreatic alpha-amylase-catalyzed reactions. *Biochemistry* **1990**, *29*, 7119–7123, doi:10.1021/bi00482a025.
- Dulloo, M. E.; Hanson, J.; Jorge, M. A. B.; Thormann, I. Regeneration guidelines: general guiding principles. 2008.

Ringraziamenti

- E come tutte le cose belle che prima o poi finiscono, volge al termine anche questo splendido percorso. Ebbene sì, perché per me questi tre anni sono passati così velocemente...quasi da non accorgermene.
- Se questo è avvenuto è stato solo grazie alle persone che mi hanno circondato durante questo periodo.
- Il primo grazie va alla Prof.ssa Olianas per essere stata la prima a credere in me e per avermi fatto conoscere il meraviglioso mondo della Biochimica.
- Grazie alla Prof.ssa Padiglia e alla Dott.ssa Cannea per avermi accolto nei vostri laboratori, per tutte le frasi di affetto e di sostegno che mi avete sempre riservato e per tutto il tempo che mi avete dedicato.
- Grazie alla Prof.ssa Dettori per i suoi sorrisi e per la disponibilità. Grazie a Prof. Solari che so aver sempre vegliato su di me anche a distanza.
- Grazie a Sonia per tutte le giornate trascorse insieme in laboratorio. Mia compagna di esperimenti e di risate. Senza di te il percorso sarebbe stato sicuramente più noioso.
- Grazie alla Prof.ssa Viviana Cristiglio per avermi accolta come una di famiglia a Grenoble e grazie Luca e Giuseppe per avermi fatta sentire a casa.
- Grazie alla mia famiglia.
- Grazie agli amici di una vita e a quelli con cui ho condiviso questo percorso. Mariano, Cinzi e Giacomo non vi ringrazierò mai abbastanza.

Grazie a te che hai deciso di esserci e di restare.

Grazie anche a chi ora non c'è più ma che mi ha insegnato la forza e cosa significhi essere una guerriera.

Un grazie speciale a Puppinis perché non c'è nulla di meglio di tornare a casa dopo una lunga giornata di lavoro e trovare un naso umido e uno scovolino scodinzolante...

Ed infine devo ringraziare voi, che avete permesso tutto questo. Grazie Prof. Zucca e Prof. Rescigno.

- Siete stati la mia famiglia, i miei amici, un faro per la mia crescita personale e professionale. Avete avuto una pazienza infinita e mi avete donato veramente tanto; spero un giorno di poter ricambiare anche solo in minima parte quello che mi avete dato.
- Paolo, sei stato molto più che un Professore, un amico, un compagno di viaggi, un tutor esemplare. Mi hai insegnato che è sempre bene provare a fare le cose, a non

arrendermi mai, ad andare avanti. Mi mancherà molto non stressarti più a tutte le ore del giorno e sentire le tue parole magiche "Non ti preoccupare...!"

Anto, sei stato come un papà... Grazie per tutte le cose che mi hai insegnato, per il sarcasmo e l'umorismo di tutti i giorni. Mi mancheranno le colazioni al bar (soprattutto quelle offerte da Paolo), i tuoi preziosissimi consigli, la tua gentilezza ed eleganza.

Hemingway diceva che "Il modo migliore per scoprire se ci si può fidare di qualcuno è di dargli fiducia" e voi lo avete fatto con me. Spero di non averla tradita mai. Questo lavoro è tutto per voi....